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From the CEO's Desk...

Dear Shareholders,

2004-05 was a year of milestones for Tata Consultancy Services. It made a historic debut on the stock markets in August last year.

At various points in time during the past few years, the Company’s management had assessed the option of taking TCS public. In

hindsight, given the strong post-listing performance of the stock, the timing of the public issue has been proved to be right. TCS

also ended the year with another milestone as it became the first Indian IT company to cross the $ 2 billion annual revenue mark

to reinforce its position as a pioneer and leader in this sector.

The country’s strengths in Information Technology as well as the industry’s adeptness in providing the right solutions at the right

time and cost highlights the increasingly important role of Indian companies in providing high-quality services to global

corporations at the best possible value through a combination of onsite and off-shore services.

Outsourcing has become a part of the business lexicon globally, and an important driver for the Indian economy. And given the

value generated for business, this trend will continue to represent a significant growth opportunity for the country, in fields as

diverse as banking and financial services to telecom, life sciences and engineering. A combination of value and costs will continue

to be key drivers for big corporations to outsource operations to India. Given its wide expertise and long-track record, the industry

is well poised to leverage this opportunity.

This sustained growth also brings new challenges for the Indian IT industry. Global IT firms have realized the depth of India’s base

of knowledge workers and are keen to leverage the country’s cost competitiveness as an integral part of their business strategy

while large multi-nationals are using the same talent pool to set up captive units for back-office transactions. To combat this, it will

be important for the industry, and TCS, to continuously move up the customer’s value chain by leveraging its proficiencies in

emerging technologies like Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) and embedded systems, and through new offering like engineering

and industrial Services. The integrated play of hardware and software will be very crucial for success in future as technologies

evolve, as will the need for companies to have a solutions mind-set with customer centricity as the prime focus.

Sustained value can only be created through continuous R & D. This is a requirement for long term success in an increasingly

competitive environment. As TCS matures as a global corporation, our R & D efforts will increasingly be with a global perspective

through alliances with the top academic and research institutes in the world in diverse areas like software engineering, life science

and microelectronics.

With demand for IT services growing, the industry has to devise ways in which to address supply-side challenges. The primary

challenge will be to utilize collaborative models to ramp up the ability of Indian educational institutions to deliver the necessary

numbers of highly-trained people to ensure that the industry can continue to grow at the current pace. For the industry, managing

salary levels remains a critical issue as the economy grows at a faster rate. Competition from other developing countries with

reasonable pools of knowledge workers is also another cause for concern in the medium term.

To combat these challenges, the Indian software industry has to be an integral part of the global economy by using different

global locations to deliver services. TCS, which helped pioneer this model of serving customers, has set up such centres in South

America, Europe and China. These global delivery centres have not only given the Company a diversified, multi-lingual,
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multi-national workforce but also meet a critical requirement of large multi-national customers, who require IT services in

non-English speaking markets.

Our global customers, which include 7 of the Fortune Top 10 companies, appreciate the delivery model being used to provide them

maximum value at the best cost and TCS’ list of customers in all categories from $ 1 million bracket to the $ 25-plus million bracket

continued to grow in this financial year.

While the rest of the IT industry has started realising the potential of the home market, TCS has long been a committed player in

India. This has helped the Company acquire competencies to manage complex projects like depository systems and stock

exchanges that can be applied in other markets. This year, TCS also commenced a landmark project for the Central Government to

put the entire database of company records online as well as helped many states implement VAT. These successful initiatives

helped TCS and it group company, CMC, cross the Rs. 1,000-crore mark in revenues from the Indian market in the last financial year.

Our acquisitions and subsidiaries have been fully integrated into TCS operations. TCS is institutionalizing its best practices across

subsidiaries making customer centricity a guiding principle. Intra-organisational synergies are being explored to enable joint go

to market strategies and a common face to the customer to the advantage of all concerned.

The way forward for TCS is to become a complete solutions company and provide higher value solutions to its customers. To

ensure growth, your Company is strengthening its domain-specific offerings and end-to-end solutions that will lead to higher

value contracts. It must simultaneously step-up efforts to increase its visibility across the globe through intense marketing and

branding campaigns. There are unexplored opportunities in Eastern Europe, Russia and China that the Company must tap, be it in

the form of potential markets or global delivery centres. Growth avenues through inorganic means via mergers and acquisitions

also have to be explored to complement our capabilities and plug gaps in our portfolio of offerings. The domestic market is also

ripe for growth with e-governance initiatives taking root across multiple states and consolidation across sectors like banking

offering considerable opportunities for growth.

In conclusion, therefore, TCS is well positioned to face the challenges of the future. The immense support, innovativeness and

dedication of over 40,000 TCSers continue to be your Company’s greatest asset for the future and will enable it to carry on its

tradition of being a pioneer in the development of the country and the industry.

S. Ramadorai

Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director

April 19, 2005
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Notice

Notice is hereby given that the tenth Annual General Meeting of Tata Consultancy Services Limited will be held on Tuesday, July
19, 2005 at 3.30 p.m. at Birla Matushri Sabhagar, 19, Sir Vithaldas Thackersey Marg, Mumbai 400 020 to transact the following
business :

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2005 and the Balance Sheet
as at that date together with the Report of the Board of Directors and the Auditors thereon.

2. To confirm the payment of Interim Dividends and to declare a Final Dividend on Equity Shares.

3. To appoint Auditors and fix their remuneration.

4. Appointment of Mr. S. Ramadorai as a Director of the Company.

To consider and if thought fit to pass with or without modification the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution :

“RESOLVED that Mr. S. Ramadorai who was appointed by the Board of Directors as an Additional Director of the Company with
effect from May 5, 2004 and who holds office upto the date of the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company in
terms of Section 260 of the Companies Act, 1956 (“the Act”) and in respect of whom the Company has received a notice in
writing from a Member under Section 257 of the Act proposing his candidature for the office of Director of the Company, be
and is hereby appointed a Director of the Company and who shall not be subject to retirement until such time that he is the
Managing Director of the Company.”

5. Appointment of Mr. R.N. Tata as a Director of the Company.

To consider and if thought fit to pass with or without modification the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution :

“RESOLVED that Mr. R.N. Tata who was appointed by the Board of Directors as an Additional Director of the Company with
effect from May 5, 2004 and who holds office upto the date of the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company in
terms of Section 260 of the Companies Act, 1956 (“the Act”) and in respect of whom the Company has received a notice in
writing from a Member under Section 257 of the Act proposing his candidature for the office of Director of the Company, be
and is hereby appointed a Director of the Company.”

6. Appointment of Mr. Aman Mehta as a Director of the Company.

To consider and if thought fit to pass with or without modification the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution :

“RESOLVED that Mr. Aman Mehta who was appointed by the Board of Directors as an Additional Director of the Company with
effect from May 5, 2004 and who holds office upto the date of the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company in
terms of Section 260 of the Companies Act, 1956 (“the Act”) and in respect of whom the Company has received a notice in
writing from a Member under Section 257 of the Act proposing his candidature for the office of Director of the Company, be
and is hereby appointed a Director of the Company.”

7. Appointment of Mr. Naresh Chandra as a Director of the Company.

To consider and if thought fit to pass with or without modification the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution :

“RESOLVED that Mr. Naresh Chandra who was appointed by the Board of Directors as an Additional Director of the Company
with effect from August 19, 2004 and who holds office upto the date of the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the
Company in terms of Section 260 of the Companies Act, 1956 (“the Act”) and in respect of whom the Company has received
a notice in writing from a Member under Section 257 of the Act proposing his candidature for the office of Director of the
Company, be and is hereby appointed a Director of the Company.”

8. Appointment and Remuneration of Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director.

To consider and if thought fit to pass with or without modification the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution :

“RESOLVED that pursuant to the provisions of Sections 269, 309 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act,
1956, the Company hereby approves the appointment and terms of remuneration of Mr. S. Ramadorai as the Chief Executive
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Officer and Managing Director of the Company for a period of five years with effect from August 9, 2004 upon the terms and
conditions set out in the Agreement entered into with him, which Agreement is hereby specifically approved with liberty to
the Board of Directors to alter and vary the terms and conditions of the said appointment and / or Agreement in such manner
as may be agreed to between the Board of Directors and Mr. S. Ramadorai.”

9. Amendment to Articles of Association of the Company.

To consider and if thought fit to pass with or without modification the following resolution as a Special Resolution :

“RESOLVED that pursuant to Section 31 and all other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 1956, the Articles of
Association of the Company be amended by inserting the following sentence at the end of Article 38 :

‘The registration of transfer shall not be refused on the ground of the transferor being either alone or jointly with any other
person or persons indebted to the Company on any account whatsoever.’“

10. Place of keeping and inspection of the Registers and Annual Returns of the Company.

To consider and if thought fit to pass with or without modification the following resolution as a Special Resolution :

“RESOLVED that pursuant to Section 163 of the Companies Act, 1956 (the Act), the Company hereby approves that the Registers
and Indexes of Members, the Registers and Indexes of Debenture holders, if any, and copies of all Annual Returns prepared
under Section 159 of the Act together with the copies of certificates and documents required to be annexed thereto under
Section 161 of the Act or any one or more of them be kept at the office of the Company’s Registrar and Transfer Agents viz. Tata
Share Registry Limited, Army & Navy Building, 148, Mahatma Gandhi Road, Fort, Mumbai 400 001.”

11. Payment of Commission to the non-whole-time Directors of the Company.

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification, the following resolution as a Special Resolution:-

“RESOLVED that pursuant to the provisions of Section 309 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 1956
(the Act) a sum not exceeding one per cent per annum of the net profits of the Company calculated in accordance with the
provisions of Sections 198, 349 and 350 of the Act, be paid to and distributed amongst the Directors of the Company or some
or any of them (other than the Managing Director and the Whole-time Directors, if any) in such amounts or proportions and
in such manner and in all respects as may be directed by the Board of Directors and such payments shall be made in respect
of the profits of the Company for each year of the period of five years commencing 1st April, 2004.”

12. Appointment of Branch Auditors.

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification, the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:-

“RESOLVED that pursuant to the provisions of Section 228 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 1956,
the Board of Directors of the Company be and is hereby authorized to appoint as Branch Auditors of any branch office of the
Company, whether existing or which may be opened / acquired hereafter, in India or abroad, in consultation with the
Company’s Auditors, any person(s) qualified to act as Branch Auditor within the provisions of the said Section 228 and to fix
their remuneration.”

Notes :

1. The relative Explanatory Statements, pursuant to Section 173 of the Companies Act, 1956, in respect of the business under
Item Nos. 4 to 12 above, are annexed hereto. The relevant details of persons seeking appointment as Directors under Item Nos.
4 to 7 above, as required by clause 49 of the Listing Agreements entered into with the Stock Exchanges are also annexed.

2. A Member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of himself and the proxy need
not be a member of the Company. Proxies, in order to be effective must be received at the Company’s Registered Office not less
than 48 hours before the meeting. Proxies submitted on behalf of limited companies, societies, partnership firms, etc. must be
supported by appropriate resolution / authority as applicable, issued on behalf of the nominating organization.
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3. The Register of Members and Transfer Books of the Company will be closed from July 8, 2005 to July 19, 2005, both days
inclusive. If the final dividend as recommended by the Board of Directors is approved at the meeting, payment of such
dividend will be made on or after July 25, 2005 to those members whose names are on the Company’s Register of Members
on July 19, 2005. In respect of shares held in electronic form, the dividend will be payable to the beneficial owners of shares
as at the end of business hours on July 7, 2005 as per details furnished by the Depositories for this purpose.

4. Shareholders holding shares in electronic form are hereby informed that bank particulars registered against their respective
depository accounts will be used by the Company for payment of the dividend. The Company or its Registrars cannot act on
any request received directly from the shareholders holding shares in electronic form for any change of bank particulars or
bank mandates. Such changes are to be advised only to the Depository Participant of the shareholders.

5. Shareholders holding shares in physical form are requested to advise any change of address immediately to the Company’s
Registrar and Share Transfer Agents, Tata Share Registry Limited. Shareholders holding shares in electronic form must send
the advice about change in address to their respective Depository Participants and not to the Company.

6. During the year, the Company had obtained the approval of the shareholders under a Postal Ballot for three special
resolutions with regard to the Company’s Employee Share Purchase Scheme - 2004 (ESPS). The resolutions were passed with
the requisite majority. Details of the resolutions and the result of the Postal Ballot are provided in the Corporate Governance
Report.

7. As an austerity measure, copies of the Annual Report will not be distributed at the Annual General Meeting. Members are
requested to bring their copies to the meeting.

By Order of the Board of Directors

S.H. RAJADHYAKSHA
Company Secretary

Mumbai, April 19, 2005
Registered Office :
Bombay House,
24, Homi Mody Street,
Mumbai 400 001.
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Pursuant to Section 173(2) of the Companies Act, 1956

As required by Section 173 of the Companies Act, 1956, the following explanatory statements set out all material facts relating to
the business mentioned under Item Nos. 4 to 12 of the accompanying Notice dated April 19, 2005.

2. Item Nos. 4 to 7 :

Mr. S. Ramadorai, Mr. R.N. Tata and Mr. Aman Mehta were appointed as Additional Directors of the Company on May 5, 2004. Mr.
Naresh Chandra was appointed as Additional Director on August 19, 2004. As per the provisions of Section 260 of the
Companies Act, 1956, all the above Directors hold office only up to the date of the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of
the Company, and are eligible for appointment. The Company has received notices under Section 257 of the Companies Act,
1956, in respect of each of the candidates, proposing their appointment as a Director of the Company, along with the requisite
deposit.

Details regarding the persons proposed to be appointed as Directors and their brief resume have been given in the Annexure
attached to the Notice. Keeping in view the experience and expertise of these persons, their appointment as Directors of the
Company is recommended.

Each of the Directors may be deemed to be interested in the resolution relating to his own appointment.

3. Item No. 8 :

The Board had by a resolution passed on August 6, 2004 appointed Mr. S. Ramadorai as Managing Director of the Company
for a period of five years effective August 9, 2004.

Mr. S. Ramadorai, 60, who presently is the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) & Managing Director of the Company, joined the TCS
Division of Tata Sons Limited on February 23, 1972 and took over as its CEO in 1996. He has played an integral role in building
TCS into India’s first US$ 2 billion IT Services organisation. Mr. Ramadorai has been designated as IT Advisor to Qingdao city
and Hangzhou city, in the People’s Republic of China and he is on the Boards of Hindustan Lever Limited and Nicholas Piramal,
apart from several companies in the Tata Group. Mr. Ramadorai is a member of the Corporate Advisory Board, Marshall School
of Business (USA) and a fellow of the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers as also of the Indian National Academy
of Engineers, and is presently Chairman of the National Association of Software Companies (NASSCOM).

Keeping in view the qualification and experience of Mr. Ramadorai, the Board is of the view that his appointment as Chief
Executive Officer & Managing Director will be beneficial to the Company.

The principal terms and conditions of service of Mr. Ramadorai as contained in his agreement with the Company are as
follows:

(a) Period of Appointment: 5 years with effect from August 9, 2004.

(b) Remuneration

(i) Salary: Upto a maximum of Rs. 5,00,000/- per month, (presently Rs. 2,25,000 p.m.) with authority to the Board or a
Committee thereof, to fix the salary within the said maximum amount from time to time. The annual increments
which will be effective 1st April each year, will be decided by the Board or a Committee thereof and will be merit
based and take into account the Company’s performance.

(ii) Incentive Remuneration: Upto 200% of salary to be paid at the discretion of the Board annually, based on
certain performance criteria.

(iii) Commission: Such remuneration by way of commission, in addition to the salary, incentive remuneration, if any and
perquisites and allowances payable, calculated with reference to the net profits of the Company in a particular
financial year, as may be determined by the Board of Directors of the Company or a committee thereof, at the end
of each financial year, subject to the overall ceilings stipulated in Sections 198 and 309 of the Companies Act, 1956.
The specific amounts payable to the Managing Director will be based on certain performance criteria to be laid
down by the Board or a committee thereof and will be payable annually after the Annual Accounts have been
approved by the Board of Directors and adopted by the members.

(iv) Perquisites & Allowances :

In addition to the salary, incentive remuneration, if any, and commission payable, the Managing Director shall be
entitled to perquisites and allowances like accommodation (furnished or otherwise) or house rent allowance in

Explanatory Statement
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lieu thereof, house maintenance allowance, together with reimbursement of expenses or allowances for utilities
such as gas, electricity, water, furnishings, repairs, servants’ salaries, society charges and property tax, medical
reimbursement, club fees and leave travel concession for himself and his family ; medical /accident insurance and
such other perquisites and allowances in accordance with the rules of the Company or as may be agreed to by the
Board of Directors or a Committee thereof and the Managing Director, and such perquisites and allowances will be
subject to a maximum of 140% of the annual salary.

For the purposes of calculating the above ceiling, perquisites and allowances shall be evaluated as per Income-tax
Rules, wherever applicable. In the absence of any such Rules, perquisites and allowances shall be evaluated at actual
cost. Provision for use of the Company’s car for official duties and telephone at residence (including payment for
local calls and long distance official calls) shall not be included in the computation of perquisites for the purpose
of calculating the said ceiling.

Company’s contribution to Provident Fund and Superannuation or Annuity Fund, to the extent these either singly
or together are not taxable under the Income-tax Act, gratuity payable as per the rules of the Company and
encashment of leave at the end of the tenure, shall not be included in the computation of limits for the remuneration
or perquisites aforesaid.

(v) Minimum Remuneration :

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained where in any financial year during the currency of the
tenure of the Managing Director, the Company has no profits or its profits are inadequate, the Company will pay
remuneration by way of salary, incentive remuneration, perquisites and allowances as specified above.

( c) The terms and conditions of the said appointment may be revised, enhanced, altered and varied from time to time by
the Board of Directors of the Company in such manner as may be agreed to by the Board within the maximum amounts
payable to managing directors in terms of the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, or any amendments made
hereafter in this regard.

(d) The Agreement may be terminated by either party by giving to the other party six months’ notice of such termination
or the Company paying six months’ remuneration in lieu thereof.

(e) The appointment of Mr. S. Ramadorai is by virtue of his employment in the Company and is subject to the provisions of
Section 283(1) of the Companies Act, 1956.

(f) If at any time Mr. Ramadorai ceases to be a Director of the Company for any reason whatsoever, he shall also cease to be
the Managing Director of the Company.

(g) If at any time Mr. Ramadorai ceases to be Managing Director of the Company, he shall cease to be a Director of the
Company.

(h) If at any time Mr. Ramadorai ceases to be an employee of the Company, he shall cease to be a Director of the Company.

(i) In accordance with the Articles of Association, the Managing Director will not be subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956.

In compliance with the provisions of Section 309 of the Companies Act, 1956, the terms of appointment specified above are
now being placed before the Members in General Meeting for approval.

A copy of the Agreement entered into by the Company with Mr. S. Ramadorai is available for inspection by the members of
the Company at its Registered Office between 11.00 a.m. to 1.00 p.m. on any working day of the Company, upto the date of the
Annual General Meeting.

Your Directors commend the Resolution for the approval of the Members.

Mr. S. Ramadorai may be deemed to be interested in the resolution.

4. Item No. 9 :

One of the primary conditions for listing of shares of the Company with the Stock Exchanges is that the Articles of Association
of the Company should be in accordance with the model regulations prescribed by the Stock Exchanges. In this regard, the
Company has given an undertaking to The National Stock Exchange of India Limited and The Stock Exchange, Mumbai to
amend the Articles of Association of the Company, at the first general meeting of the Company held after the listing of its
shares, by adding one clause to it, as proposed in the resolution. The amendment relates to the registration of transfer of
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shares of the Company. As per the provisions of Section 31 of the Companies Act, 1956, approval of the shareholders by way
of a special resolution is required to amend the Articles of Association of a company. Accordingly, the amendment to the
Articles of Association of the Company is proposed for approval of the Members.

A copy of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company together with the proposed alterations is available
for inspection by the members of the Company at its Registered Office between 11.00 a.m. to 1.00 p.m. on any working day of
the Company.

Your Directors commend the Resolution for the approval of the Members.

None of the Directors are interested in the Resolution.

5. Item No. 10 :

As per the provisions of Section 163 of the Companies Act, 1956, approval of the shareholders by way of a special resolution
is required for the Company to have its Register of Members, Index of Members, the Register and Index of Debenture holders,
copies of all annual returns prepared under section 159, together with the copies of certificates and documents required to
be annexed thereto, to be kept at a place other than the Company’s Registered Office, but within the same city, town or village
where the Registered Office of the Company is situated.

The Company proposes to have its Register of Members, Index of Members, the Register and Index of Debenture holders, if
any and copies of all annual returns prepared under section 159, together with the copies of certificates and documents
required to be annexed thereto to be kept at the office of the Company’s Registrar and Transfer Agents viz. Tata Share Registry
Limited, Army & Navy Building, 148, Mahatma Gandhi Road, Fort, Mumbai 400 001. Accordingly, resolution under Item No. 10 is
proposed for approval of the shareholders.

Your Directors commend the Resolution for the approval of the Members.

None of the Directors are interested in the Resolution.

6. Item No. 11 :

Taking into account the responsibilities of the Directors, it is proposed that in terms of Section 309(4) of the Companies Act,
1956, the Directors (apart from the Managing Director and the Whole-time Directors, if any) be paid, for each of the five
financial years of the Company commencing 1st April, 2004, remuneration not exceeding one per cent per annum of the net
profits of the Company computed in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956. This remuneration will be
distributed amongst all or some of the Directors in accordance with the directions given by the Board.

All the Directors of the Company except the Managing Director, are concerned or interested in the Resolution at Item No. 11
of the Notice to the extent of the remuneration that may be received by them.

7. Item No. 12 :

The Company has branches in India and abroad and may also open new branches in India and abroad in future. It may be
necessary to appoint branch auditors for carrying out the audit of the accounts of such branches. The shareholders are
requested to authorize the Board of Directors of the Company to appoint branch auditors in consultation with the Company’s
Auditors and to fix their remuneration.

No Director is in any way concerned or interested in the Resolution.

By Order of the Board of Directors

S.H. RAJADHYAKSHA
Company Secretary

Mumbai, April 19, 2005
Registered Office :
Bombay House,
24, Homi Mody Street,
Mumbai 400 001.
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Details of  Directors Seeking Appointment at the Annual General Meeting

Mr. Naresh Chandra

August 1, 1934

August 19, 2004

Master of Science in
Mathematics from
Allahabad University and a
retired IAS Officer

Retired senior bureaucrat in
the Government of India

� Hindustan Motors
Limited

� Haldia Petro Chemicals
Limited

� Bajaj Auto Limited
� Balrampur Chini Mills

Limited
� Electrosteel Castings

Limited
� A. C. C. Limited

Audit Committee
� Hindustan Motors

Limited
� Balrampur Chini Mills

Limited
� Bajaj Auto Limited

Remuneration Committee
� Hindustan Motors Limited
� Bajaj Auto Limited

Investors’ Grievance
Committee
� Hindustan Motors Limited
� Balrampur Chini Mills

Limited
� Bajaj Auto Limited

Particulars

Date of Birth

Date of Appointment

Qualifications

Expertise in specific
functional area

Directorships held in other
Public companies
(excluding foreign and
private companies)

Memberships /
Chairmanships of
committees in public
companies

Mr. R.N. Tata

December 28, 1937

May 5, 2004

Bachelor of Science
degree in Architecture
from Cornell University.
Completed the Advanced
Management Program
conducted by Harvard
University.

Eminent industrialist with
wide business experience
across a variety of industries

� Tata Sons Limited
� Tata Industries Limited
� Tata Iron and Steel

Company Limited
� Tata Motors Limited
� Tata Chemicals Limited
� The Indian Hotels

Company Limited
� The Tata Power

Company Limited
� Tata Tea Limited
� Tata Autocomp Systems

Limited
� The Bombay Dyeing &

Manufacturing Company
Limited

� Haldia Petrochemicals
Limited

Remuneration Committee
� Tata Sons Limited
� Tata Iron and Steel

Company Limited
� Tata Motors Limited
� Tata Chemicals Limited
� Tata Autocomp Systems

Limited
� The Indian Hotels

Company Limited

Mr. S. Ramadorai

October 6, 1944

May 5, 2004

Bachelor’s degree in
Physics from Delhi
University, a Bachelor’s
degree in Electronics and
Telecommunications from
IISC Bangalore and a
Master’s degree in
Computer Science from
University of California,
USA.

Wide experience in
Information Technology
Services

� Tata Industries Limited
� Tata Elxsi Limited
� Tata Internet Services

Limited
� Aviation Software

Development
Consultancy India
Limited

� Tata Technologies
Limited

� CMC Limited
� WTI Advanced

Technology Limited
� Hindustan Lever Limited
� Nicholas Piramal India

Limited
� Airline Financial

Support Services (I)
Limited

� Tata Teleservices
Limited

Audit Committee
� Tata Technologies

Limited
� Tata Elxsi Limited
� Hindustan Lever Limited
� Tata Internet Services

Limited
� Airline Financial

Support Services (India)
Limited

Remuneration Committee
� Tata Technologies

Limited
� Tata Elxsi Limited
� Hindustan Lever Limited

Compensation Committee
� Nicholas Piramal India

Limited

Mr. Aman Mehta

September 01, 1946

May 5, 2004

Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from Delhi
University.

Wide experience in Banking
& Finance

� Wockhardt
Pharmaceuticals
Limited

� Jet Airways Limited
� Max Healthcare

Institute Limited

Audit Committee
� Wockhardt

Pharmaceuticals
Limited

� Jet Airways Limited
� Max Healthcare

Institute Limited

Investors’ Grievance
Committee
� Wockhardt

Pharmaceuticals
Limited
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Directors' Report

TO THE MEMBERS

The Directors present their tenth Annual Report together with the audited statement of accounts for the year ended March 31,

2005. This Report is the first since the Company's Initial Public Offer of shares.

The year 2004 was of special significance for the Tata Group since it marked the death centenary of the founder Jamsetji Tata and the

100th birth anniversary of J R D Tata.

1. Financial Results

Financial Year

2004-2005 2003-2004

(Rs. in crores) (Rs. in crores)

(i) Income from Sales and Services 8027.58 —

(ii) Other Income 75.00 4.29

(iii) Total Income 8102.58 4.29

(iv) Operating Expenditure 5548.31 0.03

(v) Profit before Additional Performance Incentive, Depreciation, Interest,

Taxes and Exceptional Items 2554.27 4.26

(vi) Additional Performance Incentive 102.00 —

(vii) Interest 10.40 0.20

(viii) Depreciation 133.22 0.84

(ix) Profit before Taxes and Exceptional Items 2308.65 3.22

(x) Provision for Taxes 280.76 1.49

(xi) Profit before Exceptional Items 2027.89 1.73

(xii) Profit on Sale of Long Term Investment — 13.45

(xiii) Tax on transfer of Overseas Branches 9.82 —

(xiv) Charge on account of Employee Stock Purchase Scheme 186.65 —

(xv) Net Profit for the Year 1831.42 15.18

(xvi) Balance Brought Forward from Previous Year 0.64 0.40

(xvii) Amount available for Appropriations 1832.06 15.58

Appropriations

(a) Interim Dividends 312.07 —

(b) Proposed Final Dividend 240.06 4.38

(c) Tax on Dividend 74.46 0.56

(d) General Reserve 200.00 10.00

(e) Balance carried to Balance Sheet 1005.47 0.64

(1 crore = 10 million)

2. Dividend

In view of the Company’s profitable performance, the Directors recommend a Final Dividend of Rs. 5.00 per share on 48,01,14,809

equity shares of the Company in respect of the financial year 2004-05 (previous year Rs. 1.20 per share on 3,64,40,002 equity

shares of Rs. 10/- each). The Final Dividend  as recommended would involve an outflow of Rs. 240.06 crores towards dividend

and Rs. 33.67 crores towards dividend tax, resulting in a total outflow of Rs. 273.73 crores.
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In addition, the Board has declared a First Interim Dividend of Rs. 3.00 per share on October 21, 2004 and a Second Interim

Dividend of Rs. 3.50 per share on January 20, 2005. No interim dividend was declared in the previous year. The outflow on

account of the two interim dividends was Rs. 312.07 crores. Further, the Company paid dividend tax of Rs. 40.79 crores resulting

in a total outflow of Rs. 352.86 crores.

3. Operating Results and Business

For the year ended March 31, 2005 the  Company earned total revenues of Rs. 8,102 crores (Rs. 9,824.36 crores as per the

Consolidated Accounts). The Americas continued to be the largest contributor to our consolidated revenues for the year

ended March 31, 2005 with a contribution of nearly 59.2% of our total consolidated revenues. UK, India, Continental Europe

and Asia Pacific contributed 16.3%, 12.2%, 6.8% and 4.0% of the consolidated total revenues respectively.  The Company has

an extensive global footprint, operating both in English speaking and non-English speaking areas and its services are availed

in many countries by local corporations as well as by the units of multinational corporations.

During the year, the Company earned Profit before Additional Performance Incentive, Interest, Depreciation, One-time costs

and Taxes of Rs. 2,554.27 crores representing 31.5% of total revenue. As per the Consolidated Accounts, this amount was Rs.

2,909.96 crores representing 29.6% of total revenue.

The net profit of the Company amounted to Rs.1,831.42 crores or 22.6% of total revenues (Rs. 1,976.90 crores or 20.1% of total

revenue as per the Consolidated Accounts). Excluding the one time charges of Rs.186.65 crores pertaining to the grant of

shares under the Company's Employee Share Purchase Scheme – 2004 and the tax on transfer of overseas branches of Rs. 9.82

crores, net profit for the year was Rs. 2,027.89 crores representing 25.0% of the total revenue for the year ended March 31, 2005.

At the end of the year, the Company had more than 40,000 employees on its rolls.  The Company makes incentive payment to

its employees based on the EVA generated.  Under the EVA based incentive scheme followed by the erstwhile TCS Division,

employees were eligible for incentive on the basis of the TCS Division's performance in the immediately preceding year.

During the year ended March 31, 2005, the Company has revised the scheme and the employees are now eligible for incentive

on the basis of the Company's performance in the current year. Consequently, additional performance incentive of Rs. 102

crores has been recognized in the year ended March 31, 2005.

The Company’s areas of operation include Consulting,  Application Software development, maintenance & enhancement,

Enterprise Solutions Implementation, Software Products and Frameworks, Software R & D, IT Enabled Services and IT Infrastructure

Establishment and Maintenance. The Company provides services in System Software, Commercial Applications and Engineering

and Industrial Services and serves a number of industry verticals. Amongst these, Banking, Financial Services and Insurance

continue to be the largest closely followed by the Manufacturing Vertical and the Telecom Vertical. We also have a significant

presence in Retail, Life Sciences and Healthcare and Government verticals.

The Company continued to add customers in all the countries in which it is doing business, with 246 new clients added

during the year.  It also kept up its emphasis on quality initiatives and became the first company to achieve enterprise-wide

CMMi and PCMM Level 5 benchmarks in an integrated appraisal. Aiming to be a truly global player, the Company has 1,448

non-Indian employees representing 3.5% of its workforce across its international development centers and offices. This

number is slated to increase  as the Company expands geographically.

The Company continues to develop its intellectual property across both Industry and Service Practices. Details of various

patents granted to and applied for by the Company, as also specific areas in which Research and Development (R & D) was

carried out by the Company, and the future plan of action in this regard are given in an Annexure to this Report.
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4. Transfer of TCS Division

On August 9, 2004, the TCS Division of Tata Sons Limited (TSL) was transferred to the Company, pursuant to the Orders of the

Bombay High Court approving a Scheme of Amalgamation (the Scheme) under Sections 391-394 of the Companies Act, 1956.

Under the Scheme, the TCS Division has been transferred to and vested in the Company with effect from April 1, 2004 which

is the Appointed Date under the Scheme. In terms of the Scheme, a sum of Rs. 2,300 crores has been paid by the Company to

TSL as purchase consideration for the transfer. Upon the vesting of the TCS Division in the Company, all the assets and

liabilities of the TCS Division have become the assets and liabilities of the Company and certain subsidiaries of TSL which

were included in the TCS Division have become the subsidiaries of the Company.

5. Initial Public Offer of Shares

Pursuant to a Prospectus dated August 11, 2004, the Company made an Initial Public Offer (IPO) of 5,54,52,600 equity shares of

Re. 1/- each for cash at a price of Rs. 850/- per equity share aggregating Rs. 4,713.47 crores. This consisted of a Fresh Issue of

2,27,75,000 equity shares by the Company and an Offer for Sale of 3,26,77,600 equity shares by certain shareholders of the

Company. In addition, there was a Green Shoe Option of 83,17,880 equity shares offered by a shareholder of the Company at

the price of Rs. 850/- per equity share aggregating Rs. 707.02 crores. The IPO was over subscribed 8.03 times on an overall basis.

The amount of Rs. 1,935.88 crores realized by the Company from the Fresh Issue of shares was fully utilized in paying, in part,

the purchase consideration of Rs. 2,300 crores to TSL as per the objects of the IPO, and the balance amount was paid out of the

Company’s internal resources.

Subsequent to the IPO, the Company’s paid-up share capital increased to Rs. 47.83 crores and its securities premium account

increased to Rs. 1,880.03 crores (after deduction of issue expenses).

On August 25, 2004 the equity shares of the Company were listed on The National Stock Exchange of India Limited and The

Stock Exchange, Mumbai.

6. Issue of shares under the Employee Share Purchase Scheme – 2004 (ESPS)

Pursuant to the approval of the shareholders accorded under a Postal Ballot, and in line with the disclosures made in the

Prospectus for the Company's IPO, the Company has allotted, at par, 18,27,400 equity shares of Re. 1/- each on September 29,

2004 and 12,380 equity shares of Re. 1/- each on October 21, 2004, to select employees/directors of the Company and its

subsidiaries in recognition of their contribution to the Company. The ESPS is in accordance with the provisions of the

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines,

1999 and as required under the said Guidelines an amount of Rs. 186.65 crores has been charged to the Profit and Loss

Account of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2005 being the difference in the price at which the shares were allotted

under the ESPS and their market price on the date preceding the date of allotment. In compliance with the said Guidelines

details relating to the ESPS are provided in an Annexure to this report.

Upon allotment of shares under the ESPS, the Company’s paid-up share capital increased to Rs.  48.01crores and its securities

premium account increased to Rs. 2,066.68 crores (after deduction of issue expenses).

7. Cash Grant by Tata Sons Limited

During the year, and as stated in the Prospectus for the Company’s IPO, a Cash Grant of Rs.  84.51 crores was made by Tata Sons

Limited to select employees of the Company in recognition of their contribution to the TCS Division. These employees were

not granted shares under the ESPS.
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8. Changes in Share Capital

During the year the following changes have occurred in the Authorised and the Paid-up equity share capital of the Company.

(i) 4,00,00,000 equity shares of Rs. 10/- each of the Company were sub-divided into 40,00,00,000 equity shares of Re. 1/- each.

(ii) The Authorised Capital of the Company was increased from Rs. 40,00,00,000 to Rs. 60,00,00,000 consisting of 60,00,00,000

equity shares of Re. 1/- each.

(iii) 9,11,00,009 equity shares of Re. 1/- each were issued as fully paid bonus shares (in the ratio of one new equity share for

every four existing equity shares held) to the holders of the then existing 36,44,00,020 equity shares of Re. 1/- each. With

this, the paid-up equity capital of the Company increased to Rs. 45.55 crores.

(iv) Pursuant to the Company’s IPO, allotment of  a fresh issue of 2,27,75,000 equity shares was made an August 19, 2004

increasing the paid-up equity capital of the Company to Rs. 47.83 crores.

(v) On September 29, 2004 and October 21, 2004 equity shares aggregating 18,39,780 were allotted pursuant to the Company’s

ESPS, further enhancing the paid-up equity capital of the Company to Rs. 48.01 crores.

9. Human Resource Development

The Company has always endeavored to align its business objectives with those of individual employees. In an industry

marked with high employee attrition, the Company’s attrition rate is amongst the lowest and for the year 2004-05 it was 8%.

This has been achieved through a continuous investment in learning and development, competitive compensation, conducive

work environment and reward and recognition mechanisms. The Company has a robust career management process providing

global opportunities to employees and promotes information sharing and team building. Employees also provide regular

feedback through various communication channels.

During the year, the Company recruited over 10,000 persons across various locations and as on March 31,  2005, the Company's

total employment stood at more than 40,000 persons from about 35 countries. During the year 2004-05 the Company had 770

interns from Indian Institutions and overseas Universities. The Company has been an equal opportunity employer and its

employee profile reflects a balance of geographic, age and gender mix. The Company’s compensation has a fixed component

that is benchmarked to the best industry standard and a variable component that is linked to the corporate and individual

performance through an EVA based model, which the Company was the first to adopt and introduce in 2001. During the year,

select employees of the Company and its subsidiaries were rewarded for their contribution through the issue of shares under

the Company’s Employee Share Purchase Scheme  – 2004 or through a Cash Grant that was made  by the holding company,

Tata Sons Limited.

The Company has institutionalized its interface with academia through its Academic Interface Program worldwide. The

Company has funded a Manpower Training in VLSI Design and Microelectronics programme which was started in August

2000 at IIT Mumbai. This programme has attracted top students of the country every year and many state-of-the-art projects

have been undertaken by students supported by the programme. The Company has set up  an academic centre of excellence

in Computational Engineering at IIT Chennai. As part of this, a Computational Laboratory called Centre for Finite Element

Analysis and Design (CFEAD) has been set up with advanced computing facilities and the latest engineering analysis tools.

The competancy developed during the programme in the areas of biomedical, aerospace, automotive applications and

FE/CFD methodology helps in improving the products delivered to the Company's customers.
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The Initial Training Program and Continuous Learning Programs of the Company are benchmarks in the industry. Learning

plans and training programs are focused directly on the achievement of business objectives. Individual training needs are

assessed and catered to for personal development of the employees and 14 days of learning each year is planned for most

of the employees.

The Company ranked first in the Dataquest Best IT Employer Survey October 2004, and was adjudged the Best Employer by

the Hewitt Best Employer Survey, 2004 across all industry sectors.

10. Quality Initiatives

TCS has a long-standing and enduring focus on processes for ensuring high quality delivery which was formalized when

internal quality standards were set up in the early 1980s. TCS has done pioneering work in the quality movement. In 1993, the

first ISO 9001 certification was received for a few units. Subsequently, this was extended to the total enterprise and pursuant

to certification audits each year, the Company continues to hold the same.

In 1994, it was decided to go for assessment under the Capability Maturity Model (CMM) administered by assessors qualified

by the Software Engineering Institute (SEI), USA. One of the units was assessed at Level 5 in 1998. In addition to CMM, which

dealt with the organization’s competency from the technology view point, the Company also moved to getting assessed on

People Capability Maturity Model (PCMM).

In August 2004, the Company achieved yet another milestone in its journey of excellence by becoming the world’s first

organization to achieve an integrated enterprise wide Maturity Level 5 on both the Capability Maturity Model Integration

(CMMI) and the People CMMI®. This has been made possible by the deployment of the Integrated Quality Management

System (iQMS©), which has been developed in-house by the Company. This framework integrates the benefits of various

Quality Models and Standards like IEEE, CMMI®, SW-CMM®, ISO 9001:2000 and P-CMM. The assessment was done for the

Company as a whole, and covered its overseas operations including in particular the centres at Hangzhou in China and

Montevideo in Uruguay. In fact, as a result of assessment at Level 5 for global operations, the Uruguay centre was subjected

to detailed assessment and it became the first Level 5 centre in the continent of South America. Similarly, TCS China became

the first company in China to be assessed at Level 5.

The Company has further set a benchmark in quality standards by becoming the first Company in the world to use the

SCAMPISM methodology for P-CMM® appraisals.

An early adopter of the Tata Business Excellence Model (TBEM),  the Company has used TBEM as the overarching framework

to build excellence into its operations around the world. Its success in doing so and its ability to consistently create value for

all its stakeholders was reaffirmed when it was bestowed the JRDQV Award (based on the Malcolm Baldrige National Quality

Award, USA) in July 2004 - the highest honour for Business Excellence within the Tata Group.  The Company is the second

company in the history of the JRDQV Award to achieve this milestone.

11. Corporate Social Responsibility

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) in the Company operates on two distinct tiers: involvement with communities directly

related to the Company’s line of business and use of the Company’s core competence to address societal problems. CSR is also

seen in the Company’s concern for preservation of the environment.

The Company aligns itself with the Tata Council of Community Initiatives (TCCI), which is the apex body co-ordinating social

initiatives across all Tata companies.  “Maitree” an association of employees and their families across the globe, is an important

vehicle of CSR.
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The Company’s environment management policy underlines its commitment to environment-friendly development and

delivery of products and services and is monitored periodically through audits and checks.  In particular, this year Maitree has

partnered with “Sanctuary Asia”, an NGO that promotes wildlife preservation and support of nature.

Instances of philanthropy as first-generation CSR include hands-on involvement with Tsunami relief along with the Tata

Relief Committee,  Maitree initiatives for the socially underprivileged, support of Sevalaya (an orphanage, old age home and

school), support of individual initiatives like work with the blind, street children, etc. The Company is actively supporting

Children's Hospital in Mumbai  which aims at providing  world-class medical  facilities to children. Overseas, our employees

have been involved in community work in libraries, fund raising for charity, assisting the elderly and “at-risk” communities,

blood donation camps, etc.

Instances of the Company’s second generation CSR include outreach to the academic community and professional societies

in the form of faculty upgradation programmes, part-time teaching by TCS employees in university programmes and

sponsorship of research.

The third generation CSR may best be exemplified in the unique brand of Computer Based Functional Literacy (CBFL) which

has been proven as a delivery model for achieving functional literacy in as few as 40 hours using low-end machines. CBFL has

been internationally acclaimed and the Company is also listed in the India segment of the UNESCO Meta-survey on the use

of technologies in education. CBFL is being enthusiastically adopted in South Africa. Similar initiatives include development

of websites for NGOs, creation of database for ChildLine which supports children in distress in 54 centres in India  and the rice

husk ash based rural water filter developed at the Company’s R & D centre in Pune.

12. Awards / Recognition

During the year the Company/its Chief Executive Officer received various awards/recognitions, significant amongst which are the

following :

� The Company was ranked Number 1 across all industries in the Hewitt–CNBC TV Best Employer India Survey for 2004.

� The Company received the Dataquest IDC Award as the Best Employer in IT Services (India - August 2004).

� The Company’s Initial Public Offer of shares was named “Best India Deal” by Finance Asia, Hong Kong.

� The Company received the JRD QV Award from the Tata Group.

� Mr. S. Ramadorai, Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of the Company, was adjudged Businessman of the Year

- 2004 by Business India, and as Dataquest IT Man of the Year by Dataquest.

� Anna University conferred upon Mr. Ramadorai a honorary doctoral degree (Honoris Causa).

� Mr. S. Ramadorai, Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of the Company, was appointed in March 2005 as the

Chairman of the National Association of Software and Service Companies (NASSCOM) for the year 2005-06.

13. Subsidiary Companies and Consolidated Financial Statements

During the year the Company acquired shares in WTI Advanced Technology Limited and TCS Business Transformation

Solutions Limited (formerly known as Phoenix Global Solutions (India) Limited) pursuant to which these companies have

become subsidiaries of the Company.

As required under the Listing Agreements with the Stock Exchanges a Consolidated Financial Statement of the Company and

all its subsidiary companies is attached.
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In terms of a communication dated April 8, 2005 from the Ministry of Company Affairs, Government of India, the Company has

been granted exemption by the Ministry of Company Affairs, for the year ended March 31, 2005, from attaching to its Annual

Report the individual Annual Reports of each of its subsidiary companies. The Company has 27 subsidiaries in India and

abroad. A statement containing brief financial details of these companies for the year ended March 31, 2005 is included in the

Annual Report. The annual accounts of the subsidiary companies and the related detailed information will be made available

to the investors of the Company and its subsidiaries seeking such information at any point of time. The annual accounts of

the subsidiary companies will be available for inspection by any investor  at the Corporate Office of the Company and of the

respective subsidiary companies.

14. Directors

Mr. Sanjay Dube, Mr. Atul Bansal and Mr. Koushik Chatterjee resigned as Directors of the Company on May 5, 2004. The Board

has placed on record its appreciation of the services rendered by them as Directors.

Mr. R.N. Tata, Mr. S. Ramadorai and Mr. Aman Mehta were appointed as Additional Directors on May 5, 2004. Mr. Naresh Chandra

was appointed as Additional Director on August 19, 2004. As per the provisions of Section 260 of the Companies Act, 1956,

these Directors hold office only up to the date of the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company. The Company

has received notices proposing all the above persons as candidates for the office of Director. Resolutions seeking approval of

the shareholders for their appointment have been incorporated in the Notice of the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

alongwith brief details of the candidates.

15. Managing Director/ Manager/Company Secretary

Mr. S. Ramadorai was appointed Managing Director of the Company for a period of five years effective August 9, 2004, subject

to the approval of the shareholders. The necessary resolutions for obtaining the approval of the shareholders for the

appointment of Mr. S. Ramadorai as the Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director of the Company have been included in

the notice of the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Mr. S. Mukhopadhyay resigned as Company Secretary on May 5, 2004 and as Manager under the Companies Act, 1956 on

August 9, 2004. The Board has placed on record its appreciation of the services rendered by him.

Mr. S.H. Rajadhyaksha was appointed Company Secretary on May 5, 2004 and has also been appointed as the Compliance

Officer of the Company.

16. Auditors

M/s. S. B. Billimoria & Co., Chartered Accountants, who are the statutory auditors of the Company hold office, in accordance

with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, upto the conclusion of the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and are

eligible for reappointment.

17. Fixed Deposits

The Company has not accepted any public deposits and, as such, no amount on account of principal or interest on public

deposits was outstanding on the date of the Balance Sheet.

18. Corporate Governance Report and Management Discussion and Analysis Statement

A report on Corporate Governance is attached to this Report as also a Management Discussion and Analysis statement. The

Corporate Governance Report contains amongst other things details of the Audit Committee of the Company.
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19. Particulars of employees

Information as required under Section 217(2A) of the Companies Act, 1956, read with the Companies (Particulars of Employees)

Rules, 1975, as amended, are given in the Annexure forming a part of this report. The Ministry of Company Affairs has recently

amended the Companies (Particulars of Employees) Rules, 1975 to the effect that particulars of employees of companies in the

Information Technology sector, posted and working outside India and not being directors or their relatives, need not be

included in the statement but such particulars shall be furnished to the Registrar of Companies. Accordingly, the statement

included in this report does not contain the particulars of employees posted and working outside India.

20. Conservation of energy, technology absorption, foreign exchange earnings and outgo

The particulars as prescribed under Section 217(1)(e) of the Companies Act, 1956, read with the Companies (Disclosure of

Particulars in the Report of Board of Directors) Rules, 1988, are set out in an annexure to this report.

21. Directors’ Responsibility Statement

Pursuant to the requirement of Section 217(2AA) of the Companies Act, 1956 (‘the Act’) and based on the representations

received from the operating management, the Directors hereby confirm that :

(i) in the preparation of the Annual Accounts for the year 2004-05, the applicable Accounting Standards have been

followed and there are no material departures;

(ii) they have selected such accounting policies in consultation with the statutory auditors and applied them consistently

and made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of

affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year and of the profit of the Company for the financial year;

(iii) they have taken proper and sufficient care to the best of their knowledge and ability for the maintenance of adequate

accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956. They confirm that there are adequate

systems and controls for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other

irregularities;

(iv) they have prepared the Annual Accounts on a going concern basis.

22. Acknowledgments

The Directors thank the customers, vendors, investors, business associates and bankers for their support to the Company.

The Directors also thank the Government of India and the Governments of various countries, the concerned State Governments

and other Government Departments and Governmental Agencies for their cooperation.

The Directors place on record their appreciation of the contributions made by every member of the TCS family.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Mumbai, R.N. Tata
April 19, 2005 Chairman
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Annexure to the Directors’ Report

Particulars pursuant to Companies (Disclosure of particulars in the Report of Board of Directors) Rules, 1988.

Patents :

During the year 5 patents were granted to the Company and 16 patent applications were made by the Company's R & D groups.
Details of the same are provided below :

Patents Granted :

SR. TITLE/DESCRIPTION COUNTRY
NO.

1. Apparatus and methods adapted to improve reading skills India

2. An apparatus for grinding circuit control of cement plant India

3. Eco friendly Starch Quenchant USA

4. Method and apparatus for manufacturing cement Australia

5. A rice husk based domestic water filter and method of making the same India

Patents Applied for :

SR. TITLE/DESCRIPTION COUNTRY
NO.

1. Methods for Aligning Measured Data taken from Specific Rail Track Sections
of a Railroad with the Correct Geographic Locations of the Sections India

2. Enhancing spectral efficiency of OFDM systems by Data Transmission over Pilot Zones India

3. A method of automation of business processes and apparatus therefor USA

4. A novel multirate orthogonal frequency division multiplexing system proposal to

reduce intercarrier interference India

5-12. Method and apparatus for a security system for wireless networks India, European
Union, South Africa,
USA, Canada, Australia,
Japan and China

13. Selective separation of phosphate minerals from other minerals using
alkylimino-bis-methylenephosphonic acid based depressants India

14. Selective separation of phosphate minerals from other minerals, using
aminotris (methylenephosphonic acid), and diethylenetriaminepentakis
(methylenephosphonic acid) as depressants India

15. A method for enhancing the Security of Encrypted Transmission of
Information in a Network Communication System India

16. Apparatus and method for automatically migrating client server applications
to other architectures and platforms USA
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Conservation of energy

The operations of the Company involve low energy consumption. Adequate measures have, however, been taken to conserve
energy.

Technology absorption, adaptation and innovation

The Company continues to use the latest technologies for improving the productivity and quality of its services and
products.

Specific Areas in which R & D was carried out by the Company

R & D in the Company is carried out at Tata Research Development & Design Centre (TRDDC) in Pune, the Advanced Technology
Centre and the Business Systems and Cybernetics Centre in Hyderabad, the Embedded Systems R & D Group in Bangalore and
the Technology Innovation Lab in Delhi.

Areas in which R & D was carried out by the Company during 2004-05 are given below :

i) TRDDC, Pune :

There is close collaborative work on the emerging Object Management Group standards in areas such as query-view-
transformations. New work on software tools was done in automated software test generation and in producing tools
for re-engineering, rule-based reasoning and case-based reasoning.

There was an initiative on using new techniques for forecasting and optimization with applications in wide areas of
business, from sales forecasting to analysis of insurance pricing.

Molecular modelling of mineral – reagent interactions was focused on identifying new reagent families. Computational
fluid dynamics studies were made on boiler design, metallurgical processes and design process conditions during
crystal growth. Model-based optimization of continuous annealing was directed to determining productivity
improvements and energy saving.

There was further development and field testing of the TRDDC rice husk based Sujal water filter.

A new academic research collaboration was initiated at the Georgia Institute of Technology in the area of software
testing. Collaboration with the International Institute for Information Technology in Hyderabad was started in the use
of information extraction tools.

ii) Advanced Technology Centre, Hyderabad :

Development of computational methods for the life-sciences continued and a new software package, Bio-Suite, was
released by the President of India at a special function.

Work on developing new cryptographic methods was focused on the special requirements for mobile telephones and
wireless technology.

There was collaboration with the Embedded Systems R & D Group in Bangalore on implementation of the digital
signature algorithm and the design of smart crypto-card.

A new Indian language initiative was started to help bring the benefits of the IT revolution to a wider community in
India.

iii) Business Systems and Cybernetics Centre, Hyderabad  :

The initiative of taking a holistic view of large and complex problems using Systems Engineering & Cybernetics
principles continues to be developed at the Research Centre in Hyderabad. Currently, the centre is focusing on the
avenues in which an organisation creates value to its business through IT applications. The problem is being examined
with reference to each vertical industry (such as banking, manufacturing, etc.) in order that a framework be developed
integrating all the services provided by the Company (such as development, maintenance, BPO, etc.).

iv) At the Embedded Systems R & D Group, Bangalore  :

A collaborative research program was started in Aalborg University in Denmark on next generation wireless
communications and security aspects.
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The Company participated in the IST-FP6 MAGNET consortium sponsored by European Union contributing towards
advanced air interfaces, security and flexible platforms.

A collaborative project on telemedicine was continued with IIT Bombay which led to a prototype wearable patient
monitoring system, the ‘Silicon Locket’, currently undergoing field trials in hospitals.

v) TCS Technology Innovation Lab, Delhi :

This lab was set up to undertake focused technology exploration in emerging technologies, with initial focus on the
following areas in which some radically new concepts/technologies are emerging : software flexibility, grid computing,
semantic computing, human computer interaction and open source architectures.

To facilitate technology transfer from R & D to business, the Technology Programs initiative was launched in April 2004.
As the first activity, an internal open source community within TCS was spawned to encourage technical re-use and
sharing of best practices across TCS projects. This is beginning to serve as an additional channel for introducing tools
and technologies developed in TCS R & D to revenue generating TCS projects in core IT services.

Benefits Derived

Customers are beginning to see the strengths that come from the Company’s long-term commitment to R & D and are
examining the role that the Company can play in evolving their own long-term technology options. One R & D collaboration
with an industry major has already started and another is close to finalization.

Apart from revenues realized through sale of software licenses, the tools and products developed as part of TCS Corporate
R & D have been used extensively within the Company for developing software and solutions. The table below shows the
number of new licenses provided for internal use in the Company and the estimated savings in cost by avoiding purchase
of products from other sources.

Financial Year No. of licenses No. of licenses in TCS No. of external licenses Estd. cost  savings

2002-03 305 268 37 USD 8,90,000

2003-04 1,609 1,560 49 USD 16,40,200

2004-05 2,631 2,588 43 USD 19,50,680

The TCS Technology Innovation Lab delivered an open source based architecture framework called JOA which has been
re-used by five TCS projects and is being evaluated by others.

The work done at the Business Systems and Cybernetics Centre has yielded six tools for use in business processes and in
business consulting work and in deployment of some tools in the TCS-wide digitized management system Ultimatix.

Future Plan of Action

i) The major focus for the Company’s tools and technologies group for 2005-06 are as follows :

a) Rollout of a new model-based programming environment across the Company, to cover a large fraction of all Java
development.

b) Active participation of the Company in international standards bodies such as OMG.

c) New information extraction and decision support systems for use by clients.

d) New tools for automated software testing.

e) A production ready flexible architecture using dynamic model interpretation.

f ) A framework for building semantic applications and web-services.

g) A framework for developing digital paper based user interfaces.

h) A framework for developing conversational natural language interfaces.

i) Proliferation of the JOA framework across the Company projects, integrated with the new model-based programming
environment described in (a) above.
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ii) The future plans for the Embedded Systems R & D group in Bangalore are as follows :

a) Continuation of the wireless research program with emphasis on end-to-end reconfigurability and convergence
aspects in wireless networks in collaboration with a research consortium in Europe.

b) Taking the Silicon Locket into an end-to-end solution for telemedicine and to develop other sensors, such as one
for cardiac sound.

c) Creating a solution around the smartcard and improving its performance and features.

d) Research in aspects of digital asset management and digital rights management.

e) Development of new methodologies for the formal and mathematical modelling requirements of the design of
embedded systems.

The Company plans to create an integrated global organization in Embedded Systems to capitalize on the synergies
between the Company and its subsidiary, CMC Limited.

Expenditure on R & D Rs. in crores

Year ended Year ended
31.3.2005 31.3.2004

(a) Capital 1.00 —

(b) Recurring 20.29 —

( c) Total 21.29 —

(d) Total R & D expenditure as percentage of total revenue 0.26% —

Foreign exchange earnings and outgo
Activities relating to exports, initiatives taken to increase exports : development of new
export markets for products and services; and export plans

Rs. in crores

Year ended Year ended
31.3.2005 31.3.2004

Foreign exchange earnings 7,485.25 —

Foreign exchange outgo 3,079.08 —
(including capital goods and imported software packages)

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Mumbai, R. N. Tata
April 19, 2005 Chairman

Mentioned in the
Directors' Report.}
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Information as per Section 217 (2A) of the Companies Act, 1956 and the Companies

(Particulars of Employees) Rules, 1975 and forming part of the Directors' Report for the year ended March 31, 2005

Annexure to Directors' Report

Sl. Name Age Designation Gross Net Qualification Experience Date of Previous
No. (years) Renumeration Renumeration (years) Joining Employment

(Rs.) (Rs.)

1. Amur S. Lakshminarayanan* 44 Vice President 18,14,055 11,56,870 BE 22 25-07-83 First Employment

2. Bajaj, Mr. Sanjeev * 44 Vice President 5,17,560 2,52,012 BE, MBA 17 22-05-03 Bank of America

3. Bhandari, Mr. Jagdish Raj 53 Vice President 30,87,256 17,22,241 BSc, M. Tech 29 15-12-75 First Employment

4. Chakrabarty, Mr. Tanmoy 44 Vice President 61,42,695 25,76,042 BCom, Dip. in Bus.  Mgm. 22 12-01-04 EDS Electronics Data Systems

5. Chandrasekaran, Mr. N. 42 Executive Vice President 37,63,223 19,86,651 BSc, MCA 18 27-01-87 First Employment

6. Gupta, Mr. Sanjay Kumar 45 Principal Consultant 45,85,047 28,86,411 ME 22 15-07-83 First Employment

7. Jagannathan, Mr. Rajagopal 51 Executive Vice President 51,95,800 32,64,816 BCom, ACA, CS, MBA 23 09-09-02 Ways India Limited

8. Jayaramakrishnan, Mr. Kannan 51 Vice President 23,58,690 13,90,594 BSc, Dip. in Prod. Engg. 30 01-12-89 S B Billimoria & Co.

9. Joseph, Prof. Mathai 62 Executive Vice President 37,66,608 22,78,369 MSc, Phd 26 20-10-97 Carnegie Mellon University

10. Kaji, Mr. Hasit 42 Vice President 39,26,037 25,37,334 BE 19 23-06-86 First Employment

11. Kant, Mr. Surya 50 Vice President 27,87,563 16,83,158 BSc, M. Tech 27 01-08-78 First Employment

12. Keeni, Dr. Gargi 52 Vice President 24,62,282 14,74,271 BSc, MSc, Phd 23 08-08-88 Facom Hitachi Ltd.

13. Krishnan, Mr. K. Ananth 42 Vice President 27,83,476 17,17,913 BSc, MSc, M. Tech 17 08-02-88 First Employment

14. Krishnan, Mr.  P.  R. 49 Vice President 29,48,196 17,89,379 BE, ME 24 03-02-82 E R D C Keltron

15. Kulkarni, Mr. Ganesh Neelkanth 53 Principal Consultant 43,95,507 27,74,069 M. Tech 29 26-04-77 IIT - Kanpur

16. M., Mr. Rajagopalan 50 Principal Consultant 24,37,614 14,91,811 B. Tech, ME, ICWA 28 03-08-92 BHEL

17. Mahalingam, Mr. Seturaman 57 Chief Financial Officer 49,09,383 25,67,124 BCom, ACA 38 09-11-70 M/s. G P Kapadia & Co.

18. Medhekar, Mr. Nilesh Madhukar 41 Senior Consultant 27,51,438 17,27,691 M. Tech 18 03-02-87 First Employment

19. Menon, Mr. Suresh Gopinathan 43 Principal Consultant 36,45,739 23,05,186 M. Tech 19 03-02-86 First Employment

20. Modi, Ms. Nina R. 47 Principal Consultant 36,92,111 23,47,497 BA, Geography 25 01-02-85 ICIM

21. Mukherjee, Mr. Ajoyendra 46 Vice President 28,02,186 17,00,184 BE 25 07-07-80 First Employment

22. Nadkarni, Ms. Anuradha Shripad * 43 Principal Consultant 15,79,866 5,98,376 PGDM 20 27-03-03 Standard Chartered Bank

23. Narayana, Mr. Mandaleeka 47 Principal Consultant 43,92,725 27,94,396 ME 23 19-07-82 First Employment

Guru Prasada Lakshmi

24. Narayanan, Mr. Ramanathan 60 Vice President 24,99,412 15,44,031 MSc 10 06-11-95 First Employment

25. Narendra, Mr. V. 49 Principal Consultant 24,48,954 15,33,826 CAIIB 28 31-07-95 CMC Ltd., Bangalore

26. Nori, Prof. Kesav  Vithal 59 Executive Vice President 36,47,800 21,88,426 B. Tech, M. Tech 37 08-10-83 CMU Pittisburgh, USA

27. Padmanabhan, Mr. Kishore 54 Vice President 28,44,218 17,01,775 B. Tech, M. Tech 30 01-09-75 First Employment

28. Padmanabhan, Mr. S 47 Executive Vice President 37,70,344 23,60,804 BE,  PGDM 23 17-05-82 First Employment

29. Pendharkar, Mr. Jayant V. 62 Vice President 26,46,261 15,84,822 B.Tech, MBA 35 16-07-96 United S/W Services Inc., USS

30. Ramadorai, Mr. Subramanian 61 CEO & Managing  Director 1,24,65,464 73,60,576 BE, BSc, MSc 35 23-02-72 Physical Research Lab,

Ahmedabad

31. Ramanan, Mr. Ramanathan 47 Vice President 31,77,326 18,78,102 B. Tech 24 22-07-81 First Employment

32. Ramaswami, Mr. Vasudevan* 44 Principal Consultant 25,40,434 13,88,589 BE, MMS 19 28-11-03 Principal Asset Management

33. Reguraman, Mr. A. 44 Principal Consultant 27,21,143 17,05,882 M. Tech 20 15-07-94 Bharat Heavy Electricals

34. Rosenstein, Mr. Ingo 43 Consultant 84,94,776 46,50,568 BE 19 19-04-04 O. TeLO

35. Ruschen, Ms. Andrea 39 Assistant Consultant 44,01,702 29,12,811 BA 11 19-04-04 Viag Interkom Gmbh &

Co’ Munchen

36. Sanyal, Mr. Barindra 59 Vice President 28,14,150 17,09,759 BSc, ACA 29 11-03-03 Tata SS Ltd.

37. Saroop, Mr. Jitender Krishen * 47 Senior General Manager 10,50,126 5,36,274 B. Com, ACA, ICWA 22 15-10-93 Bharat Leather Corporation

38. Sethna, Mr. Behram Rustom 53 Vice President 25,33,915 15,56,214 BSc, MSc, MBA 29 01-06-76 First Employment

39. Shah, Mr. Ravindra Jivandhar 54 Vice President 30,85,617 18,36,350 BE, M. Tech 30 15-12-75 Telerad

40. Sherlekar, Dr. Sunil Dattatraya 49 Principal Consultant 24,22,600 14,95,865 B. Tech, M. Tech, Phd 23 29-05-02 Sasken Communication Tech Ltd.
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Sl. Name Age Designation Gross Net Qualification Experience Date of Previous
No. (years) Renumeration Renumeration (years) Joining Employment

(Rs.) (Rs.)

41. Srivastava, Mr. Jyoti 42 Principal Consultant 37,05,965 21,82,071 PGDM 19 23-06-86 First Employment

42. Subramaniam, Mr. N. Ganapathy 46 Vice President 34,78,158 21,43,000 BSc, MSc 23 04-01-82 First Employment

43. Subramanian, Mr. K. 40 Principal Consultant 25,79,960 16,36,116 BS-F 19 24-06-87 N Krishnaswamy & Co.

44. Vaidyan, Mr. G. George 62 Vice President 25,95,617 15,74,767 BA 38 15-04-77 Indian Army

45. Vandrevala, Mr. Phiroz Adi 51 Executive Vice President 43,52,917 22,27,259 BCom, ACA 23 08-09-92 Tandem Computers

46. Venkataraman, Mr. S. V. * 41 Principal Consultant 14,18,671 7,07,411 B.  Tech, PGDM 16 09-07-01 Standard Chartered Grindlays Bank

47. Vidyasagar, Dr. M. 58 Executive Vice President 36,06,611 22,64,068 BSc, MSc, Phd 36 19-04-00 Centre for AI & Robotics

48. Viswanathan, Mr. Ravi P.  V. 43 Vice President 27,40,328 16,16,047 BE 20 20-08-90 DCS Ltd.

49. Poddar, Mr. Debashis 38 Senior Consultant 25,95,727 14,49,398 BE, PGDM 13 03-09-01 Arthur Andersen, Bangalore

Notes :

1. The Gross remuneration shown above is subject to tax and comprises salary, allowances, cash incentive paid by TCS, monetary value of perquisites as per Income Tax Rules and company’s

contribution to Provident Fund and Superannuation Fund.

2. In addition to the above remuneration, employees are entitled to gratuity, medical benefits etc. in accordance with the Company’s rules.

3. The net remuneration is arrived at by deducting from the Gross remuneration, income tax, Company’s contribution to Provident Fund, Superannuation Fund and the monetary value of

non-cash perquisites,wherever applicable.

4. The remuneration as indicated above, includes performance linked payments for employees for the previous year, which were approved by the Management during the year.

5. The above details are only for associates located in India.

6. Asterisk against a name indicates that the employee was in service or located in India only for a part of the year.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Mumbai, R.N. Tata

April 19, 2005 Chairman
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Details of shares allotted under the Company’s
Employee Share Purchase Scheme – 2004 (ESPS)

(Please refer para 6 of the Directors' Report)

Under the ESPS - 2004 the Company has allotted at par a total of 18,39,780 equity shares of Re. 1/- each of the Company in
accordance with the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee
Stock Purchase Scheme), Guidelines, 1999 (the “Guidelines”).

18,27,400 equity shares of Re. 1/- each were allotted to 1002 employees/directors of the Company and 8 employees/directors of the
Company’s subsidiaries on September 29, 2004 and 12,380 equity shares of Re. 1/- each were allotted to 5 employees/directors of
the Company’s subsidiaries on October 21, 2004.

The consideration of Re. 1/- per share aggregating Rs. 18,39,780/- has been received in cash by the Company from the persons to
whom shares have been allotted under the ESPS.

No employee/director of the Company/its subsidiaries has been issued shares amounting to 5% or more of the shares issued
during the year or equal to or exceeding 1% of the issued capital of the Company at the time of issuance.

Details of shares allotted to senior managerial personnel are as under :

Name & Designation No. of shares allotted

Mr. S. Ramadorai, Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director 46,840

Mr. S. Mahalingam, Chief Financial Officer 37,480

Mr. P.A. Vandrevala, Executive Vice President 21,080

Mr. N. Chandrasekaran, Executive Vice President 16,860

Mr. S. Padmanabhan, Executive Vice President 22,480

The diluted Earning Per Share (EPS) for the year 2004-05 pursuant to the issue of shares under the ESPS is Rs. 38.93 while the EPS
excluding the shares allotted under the ESPS and the amount charged to the Profit and Loss Account in accordance with the
provisions of the Guidelines is Rs. 42.98.

The Company has complied with the accounting policies specified in the Guidelines.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Mumbai, R.N. Tata
April 19, 2005 Chairman

Annexure to Directors' Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

A) INDUSTRY STRUCTURE, DEVELOPMENTS AND OUTLOOK

According to a March 2005 IDC report, the global services market is poised to grow at a compounded annual growth rate of

7% over the next 5 years to $ 803.9 billion in 2009 from $ 573.1 billion in 2004. In the calendar year 2005, the industry is

expected to grow by 6.3% to $ 609.1 billion. Gartner expects worldwide IT spending to increase by 5.6% with the IT Services

market growing by 4.69% in 2005 (Source : Gartner Dataquest Market Databook, March 2005 Update).

The following chart outlines the total estimated services spending worldwide by service segments from 2004 to 2009, along

with the corresponding compounded annual growth rates.

Source : IDC March 2005 - Worldwide Services 2005-2009 Forecast : Business in the Driver Seat

The following table summarizes estimated world services spending by various geographies :

Source : IDC March 2005 - Worldwide Services 2005-2009 Forecast : Business in the Driver Seat

The United States is the region spending the largest amount for services globally and is expected to grow at a CAGR of 7.1%

to $ 355 billion at the end of 2009. Latin America, Eastern Europe, Middle East, Africa and Asia/Pacific are regarded as major
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growth points. The US and Western Europe will continue to constitute 76% of the spending in 2009 (down 1% from 77% as

in 2004).

As per NASSCOM published “Strategic Review 2005 – The Industry in India”, offshoring will continue to increase over time with

offshore penetration expected to increase from 6.3% in 2004 to 8.8% by 2007 of the global IT services and BPO market. In

CY 2004, $ 39.6 billion was estimated to be offshored to countries like India, Canada, China, Mexico, etc. with offshoring to India

estimated at $17.2 billion. In CY 2008 overall offshore sourcing is expected to be $ 94 billion in CY 2008. Offshoring to India is

expected to grow to $ 48 billion by CY 2008. According to the NASSCOM Market Intelligence Service report, May 2005, on

Engineering Services, the worldwide market for outsourced engineering services was $ 12 billion in 2003 and is forecast to

grow at a CAGR of 12.2%. Close to 65% of revenues in ITES-BPO space being offshored to India is done to captive units set up

by companies in India. Over time, readiness to outsource to third party vendors, even in ITES-BPO is expected to increase.

Revenues to Indian IT services and ITES-BPO companies have increased at a faster rate than the global growth seen in these

segments and is expected to continue doing so. The ‘India’ advantage is expected to continue in the global markets. Domestic

IT services and software and ITES-BPO market has increased from $ 1.9 billion in FY 2000 to $ 4.3 billion in FY 2005 (E), a CAGR

of 17.7% over the period and is expected to show strong growth going forward. The Company is uniquely positioned to

leverage both the expected global and domestic growth.

These reports from reputed external agencies corroborate the thinking within the Company. We have grown in multiple

geographies, with special emphasis on the North American and European markets. We have been among the pioneers to

establish operations in Eastern Europe, Latin America and China. We also have a broad range of services covering a number

of key Industry verticals. We expect that the network of marketing offices and alliances that we have established in many

global locations will enable us to exploit the opportunities presented in the marketplace.

B) OPPORTUNITIES, THREATS, RISKS AND CONCERNS

The Company is well-positioned to take advantage of the global and domestic opportunities. TCS is the largest Indian IT

Services Company in terms of revenues and profits. The Company pioneered the concept of offshore IT Services in 1974 and

continues to provide a comprehensive range of IT Services across geographies and from different locations across the globe.

The Company has 18 delivery centers outside India including the USA, Hungary, Brazil, Uruguay and China, each of them

certified at SEI-CMMi and PCMM Level 5. The Company has been successful in replicating its Indian offshoring model at these

locations, and in maintaining the same high quality standards and processes across the centers. These destinations also help

in risk mitigation by diversifying both the employee profiles and risks associated to delivery concentration in a single

country/geography.

India remains the preferred offshore destination for IT Services, both from the point of view of capacity and cost effective

servicing capability. Foreign IT Services players and big foreign corporations are establishing or expanding their offshore

base in India. These trends both establish India as a chosen offshore delivery destination and create competitive pressure on

the Indian vendors. The Company has continuously been expanding on its service and capabilities base to be the one-stop

service provider from Consulting to IT Services to Business Process Outsourcing. The Company’s process capabilities and

range of services provide a compelling value proposition for both older customers to stay and grow with the Company while

attracting newer customers. In the last year, the Company added over 200 new clients.

Periodically, the Company initiates Growth Engines, a term used for new Business Units which have the potential for a

substantial business volume over the course of the next few years. These could be opening up of new Geographical areas of

operations such as Iberoamerica and China or newer services such as in the areas of IT Enabled Services. Over time we have

added and integrated newer verticals and services in our delivery structure to increase our competitiveness. Value Engines

initiative won 84 engagements during the year and is poised for further growth. The Company also set up Engineering and
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Industrial Services (EIS) as a Strategic Business Unit in 2004-05 to address the fast growing global engineering services market.

TCS is uniquely positioned in this market as the only service provider with an integrated service offering across the entire

engineering value cycle. EIS serviced over 200 international customers and added 37 new clients to the TCS roster in 2004-05.

We will continue to add newer services to our portfolio where we know we can create greater value for the customers and in

the process, for ourselves.

As a value proposition, the Company also offers innovatively structured contracts, linking payments to actual attainment of

milestones and delivery. Slippage in quality or delivery in such contracts may negatively impact the Company. However, these

also provide the Company, an opportunity to take on more complex projects and have a more flexible team structure and the

opportunity to manage costs.

While India has a large pool of trainable/trained resources, recruiting the required number of persons with the desired skills

at the right time may be difficult. The demand for specific skilled IT professionals may outpace supply leading to an increase

in salary levels. The Company has an in-house training programme which aims to continuously upgrade the skill and

capability levels from within. The training facilities have been recognized as among the best in the industry. TCS was rated as

the best employer by Hewitt CNBC TV18 in 2004. The Company strives to retain that position and to continue to improve on

the employee satisfaction benchmarks set out in the year – both at the workplace and away.

The Company’s revenues are largely denominated in foreign currency, predominantly US$, GBP and Euro. Given the nature of

the business, a large proportion of costs are denominated in Indian rupees. This exposes the Company to profit/loss on

currency fluctuations. The Company pursues a proactive hedging policy. Net exposure is calculated for each currency by

deducting revenues in that currency from expected costs in the same currency. The Company hedges this net currency

exposure using foreign exchange forward and options contracts. The tenure of these contracts is up to one year.

Indian rupee depreciated against the US$ by close to 0.33%, against Euro by 5.61% and 2.74% against the GBP on a year-on-

year basis. However, during the year the markets were extremely volatile. INR to US$ reached a high of Rs. 46.47 per dollar and

touched a low of Rs. 43.42 per dollar. Average currency rate during the year was Rs. 44.95 per dollar, down from Rs. 45.94 per

dollar, a rupee appreciation of 2.15%.

As of March 31, 2005, the Company had a hedge position in various currencies equivalent to US$ 509 million which comprised

both forwards and option strategies.

C) FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

In accordance with the terms of the Scheme of Arrangement as sanctioned by the High Court of Judicature at Bombay, the TCS

Division has been transferred (“the Transfer”) to and vested in the Company as a going concern with effect from April 1, 2004,

which is the Appointed Date under the Scheme. The Scheme was effective on August 9, 2004 upon the execution

of the underwriting agreement for the Initial Public Offer. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the TCS Division as at

August 9, 2004 have been transferred to the Company for a cash consideration of Rs. 2300 crores. Transfer consideration paid

for fixed assets and investments in subsidiaries and associates has been allocated on the basis of their respective fair values

as determined by independent valuers.

From the Appointed Date up to the date on which the Scheme is effective, Tata Sons Limited held the TCS Division in trust for

and on account of the Company. Accordingly, the results for the year ended March 31, 2005 include the results of the erstwhile

TCS Division for the period April 1, 2004 to August 9, 2004.

Since the Company’s business has significantly changed as a result of the acquisition of the TCS Division as on April 1, 2004,

the results for the year ended March 31, 2005 are not comparable with those of the previous year ended March 31, 2004.
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1. Share Capital

The Company has one class of shares – equity shares of par value Re. 1 each. The authorized share capital of the

Company is Rs. 60 crores divided into 60 crores equity shares of Re. 1 each. For the year ended March 31, 2005, issued,

subscribed and paid-up share capital stood at Rs. 48.01 crores of Re. 1 each.

During the year, the Company issued 9.11 crores equity shares as fully paid up bonus shares by capitalization of an

amount of Rs. 9.11 crores transferred from General Reserve.

Also during the year, the Company made an Initial Public Offering comprising of 2.28 crores of fresh equity issue at a

premium of Rs. 849 per share resulting in a securities premium of Rs. 1,933.6 crores.

The Company issued and allotted, at par, 17,49,810 shares to its employees and directors and 89,970 shares to employees

and directors of its subsidiaries under the Employee Share Purchase Scheme - 2004. As a result, the issued share capital

increased by Rs. 0.18 crore. In connection with this, an amount of Rs.186.65 crores has been charged to the Profit and Loss

Account as an exceptional item.

38,71,75,029 equity shares, representing 80.6% of the Company’s paid up capital, are held by Tata Sons Limited, the

holding company.

2. Reserves and Surplus

Securities Premium (net of share issue expenses) is at Rs. 2,066.68 crores. Out of the profits for the current year, Rs. 200

crores has been transferred to the General Reserve. Net of Dividend (both interim and final) and Dividend tax, Rs. 1,005.47

crores has been retained in the Profit and Loss Account.

3. Loan Funds

Loan liabilities for the year ended March 31, 2005 are at Rs. 120.74 crores. Of this, Rs. 66.01 crores are Shipment Loans and

Rs. 45.00 crores are overdrafts from banks secured against foreign receivables and domestic receivables respectively.

Out of the unsecured loans of Rs. 9.73 crores, Rs. 0.78 crore is to be paid within the next year.

4. Deferred Tax Liability

The Company has a deferred tax liability (net of deferred tax asset) of Rs. 64.32 crores as at March 31, 2005. Out of this,

liability for foreign branch profit tax is Rs. 62.76 crores (including Rs. 23.58 crores assumed on transfer of TCS Division)

while Rs. 6.31 crores is due to differences in depreciation for accounting and tax purposes. The Company has deferred

tax assets of Rs. 4.83 crores as at March 31, 2005.

5. Fixed Assets

The Company made additional investments in fixed assets (excluding work in progress) of Rs. 216.93 crores during the

current year which included Rs. 46.59 crores towards land and buildings. Investment in hardware was Rs. 111.74 crores. The

capital work-in-progress of Rs. 120.28 crores represents advances paid towards acquisition of fixed assets and the cost of

assets not put to use. During the year, the Company retired/transferred various assets with a gross value of Rs. 5.5 crores.
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As of March 31, 2005
Rs. in crores

Fixed Assets

Gross Book Value

Land

Freehold 209.60

Leasehold 33.62

Buildings

Freehold 401.59

Leasehold 10.75

Leasehold Improvements 17.72

Computer Equipment 170.35

Vehicles 39.11

Office Equipment 72.15

Electrical Installations 69.39

Furniture and Fixtures 16.81

TOTAL Gross Block 1,041.09

Less : Accumulated Depreciation 0.95

Less : Depreciation for the year 133.22

Add : Depreciation for Deletions 1.24

Net Block 908.16

Add : Capital Work in Progress 120.28

Net Fixed Assets 1,028.44

Depreciation as a % of Gross Block 12.8%

Depreciation as a % of Revenues 1.7%

Accumulated Depreciation as a % of Gross Block 12.8%

6. Investments

As of March 31, 2005

Rs. in crores

Trade Investments (at cost) 1,032.69

Investments in Mutual Funds 378.00

TOTAL Investments 1,410.69

Less : Provision for Diminution in value of Investments 6.27

NET Investments 1,404.42

Provision as a % of Investments 0.4%

The Company has made investments aggregating Rs. 1,032.69 crores in various companies (including CMC Limited)/subsidiaries.

These investments are strategic in nature and are aimed at procuring substantial business benefits to the Company. The table

below lists significant TCS investments in its subsidiaries or affiliates with the book value of investment :
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As of March 31, 2005
Rs. in crores

CMC Limited  379.89

TCS Iberoamerica S.A.  5.15

APOnline Limited —

Tata Consultancy Services Belgium S.A.  1.06

Tata Consultancy Services Netherlands B.V.  15.73

Tata Consultancy Services Sverige AB  18.89

Tata Consultancy Services Deutschland GmbH  1.29

Tata Consultancy Services France S.A.  0.66

Tata America International Corporation  452.92

Tata Consultancy Services Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd.  14.77

Airline Financial Support Services (India) Limited  30.39

Aviation Software Development Consultancy India Ltd.  27.50

TCS Business Transformation Solutions Limited  27.02

(1,23,24,035 shares acquired during the year)

WTI Advanced Technology Limited  38.52

( 6,88,500 shares acquired during the year)

Others

Fully Paid Equity Shares (Unquoted)

Conscripti (Pty) Limited  8.71

Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corporation  3.92

(5,00,000 shares acquired during the year)

Fully Paid Preference Shares ( Unquoted)

eAF Pte. Limited  6.27

(39,78,000 shares acquired during the year)

1,032.69

Provision for Diminution in value (eAF Pte. Limited)  6.27

During the current year, the Company made the following strategic investments :

● TCS Business Transformation Solutions Limited (previously known as Phoenix Global Solutions (India) Limited)

TCS purchased 1.23 crores shares for a purchase consideration of Rs. 27.02 crores and owns 100% of the Company’s

outstanding shares.

● WTI Advanced Technology Limited (WTI)

TCS acquired an additional 6,88,500 shares for a consideration of Rs. 38.52 crores during the year. TCS now owns

96.3% of WTI's outstanding shares.

The Company has made a provision of Rs. 6.27 crores in the current year for diminution in the value of its investments

in eAF Pte. Limited in view of a perceived long-term diminution in the value of this investment.
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CMC Performance

CMC Limited has total revenue of Rs. 782.47 crores compared to Rs. 763.67 crores for the year 2003-04 (increase of 2.5%). The

profit after tax for the financial year 2004-05 is Rs. 23.06 crores as compared to Rs. 47.99 crores for the financial year 2003-04

(decline by 51.9%). The shortfall in profit is primarily due to two international contracts where CMC had to make a provision

for bad and doubtful debts. The consolidated revenue for the year 2004-05 of CMC Limited along with its wholly owned

subsidiary, CMC Americas, is Rs. 814.22 crores as compared to Rs. 801.75 crores for the year 2003-04 (increase of 1.6 %). The

consolidated profit after tax for the year 2004-05 is Rs. 24.80 crores as compared to Rs. 44.77 crores for the year 2003-04

(decrease by 44.6%). The Board of CMC has recommended a dividend of 45 %, amounting to Rs. 7.77 crores (inclusive of

dividend distribution tax). There have been increasing number of cases where TCS and CMC are working together in new

contracts. We expect the benefits of the greater synergy to be reflected in performance over the next few quarters.

Other Investments

Other than the strategic investments, the Company has made investments of Rs. 378.00 crores in various mutual funds. These

are typically short-term investments to gainfully use the excess cash balance with the Company. While investing its short-term

surpluses, the Company looks for optimum tax efficient returns at low levels of risk without hampering liquidity.

7. Current Assets, Loans and Advances

a) Unbilled Revenue

For the year ended March 31, 2005, the Company had unbilled revenue of Rs. 130.09 crores representing 1.6% of the

annual revenue for the period.

Unbilled revenue comprises revenue recognized in relation to efforts incurred on fixed-price and time-and-

material contracts not billed as of the year-end.

b) Sundry Debtors

Sundry debtors amount to Rs. 1,463.45 crores (net of provisions of Rs. 4.01 crores) as of March 31, 2005. These debtors

are considered to be good and realizable. The need for provisions is assessed based on various factors including

collectability of specific dues, risk perception of the industry in which the customer operates and other general

factors. Provisions are made for debtors depending on the management’s perception of risk. Debtors are 18.2% of

revenue for the year ended March 31, 2005 representing an outstanding of 67 days of revenue for the year.

For year ended March 31, 2005

Sundry Debtors Rs. in crores % of Total

Over Six Months Old

Considered Good 51.74 3.50%

Considered Doubtful 2.24 0.20%

Less than Six Months Old

Considered Good 1,411.71 96.20%

Considered Doubtful 1.77 0.10%

TOTAL Debtors 1,467.46 100.00%

Less : Provision for Doubtful Debts 4.01 0.30%

NET Debtors 1,463.45 99.70%

Provision for Doubtful Debts as a % of Revenues 0.05%
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c) Cash and Bank Balances

As at March 31, 2005, the Company had a cash/bank balance of Rs. 120.74 crores. This represents 2.5% of total assets

and 1.5% of the revenue of the current year.

d) Loans and Advances

Net Loans and Advances amount to Rs. 600.83 crores as of March 31, 2005. Out of the Rs. 600.83 crores, Rs. 144.56

crores are loans extended to the employees and Rs. 17.64 crores to subsidiary companies. Loans to employees are

to enable purchase of assets and to meet any emergency requirements. Advance tax represents payments made

towards tax liability and refunds due.

As of March 31, 2005

 Rs. in crores % of Total

Loans and Advances

Employee Loans 144.56 24.0%

Loans to Directors 0.12 —

Loans to Subsidiary Companies 17.64 2.9%

Advances recoverable in cash or in kind 425.46 70.5%

Advance Tax (including refunds due) 15.74 2.6%

TOTAL Loans and Advances 603.52 100.0%

Provision for Doubtful Advances 2.69 0.4%

Net Loans and Advances 600.83 99.6%

8. Current Liabilities

As of March 31, 2005

 Rs. in crores % of Total

Sundry Creditors 544.48 76.2%

Advances from customers 44.22 6.2%

Advance billing and deferred revenues 75.97 10.6%

Unclaimed Dividend 0.67 0.1%

Equity Share Application Monies Refundable 4.30 0.6%

Other Liabilities 44.16 6.2%

Interest accrued but not due 0.48 0.1%

TOTAL Current Liabilities 714.28 100.0%
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The Company owes an amount of Rs. 544.5 crores (representing 9.8% of total expenditure for the year ended March 31, 2005) to

its sundry creditors inclusive of Rs. 98.8 crores to its subsidiaries as of March 31, 2005. These creditors include the following :

As of March 31, 2005

Rs. in crores

Sundry Creditors

Wages, Salaries and Outstandings towards Employees 46.68

Goods Supplied 251.28

Retention Money 2.40

Other Liabilities 244.12

544.48

Wages, Salaries and Outstanding towards Employees include domestic and overseas employee related expenses including

outstanding health insurance, taxes, etc. Retention money is owed to contractors while other liabilities comprise provisions

for rent, property deposits outstanding, security deposits received, etc.

Advances from customers represent amount received from customers for the delivery of future services. Advance billing

and deferred revenue represent advance client billing on contracts for which related costs have not yet been incurred.

The Company had net unbilled revenue (unbilled revenue less (advance received + advance billing)) of Rs. 9.9 crores as

on March 31, 2005.

Unclaimed dividends represent dividend paid but not encashed by the shareholders. Refundable equity share money

represents money received on IPO applications repaid to applicants but not encashed.

Interest on loans accrued but not due represents loan interest charged to the Company but not yet due for payment.

9. Provisions

As of March 31, 2005

Rs. in crores

Current income taxes 99.68

Contingencies 49.45

Employee retirement benefits 104.72

Proposed Dividend 240.06

Tax on Dividend 33.67

527.58

Provisions made towards contingencies include an amount of Rs. 35.44 crores in respect of a dispute relating to

coverage of the Company under the Provident Fund and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, which is currently pending

before the High Court of Bombay.

D) RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

1. Income

Income from software services and products :

The Company recognizes revenue from contracts priced on a time and materials basis when services are rendered and

related costs are incurred.

Revenue from turnkey contracts, which are generally time bound fixed price contracts, are recognized over the life of the

contract using the proportionate completion method, with contract costs determining the degree of completion.

Foreseeable losses on such contracts are recognized when probable.
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The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of computer equipment upon delivery, which is when title passes to the

customer. Revenue from maintenance contracts are recognized pro-rata over the period of the contract.

For the year ended March 31, 2005, the Company earned revenue of Rs. 7,854.48 crores from Consultancy Services and of

Rs. 173.10 crores from Software Licenses. As per the Consolidated Accounts, the corresponding revenues are of

Rs. 9,550.60 crores and Rs. 197.87 crores respectively.

The classification of revenue by Geography and Industry Practices is more relevant when viewed against the consolidated

results of the Company, and therefore are presented in that form under 1.1 and 1.2 of this section. Rest of the analysis of

financial performance is of the results of the Company alone.

1.1 Consolidated Revenue by Geography for FY 2004-05

Revenue is segmented into different geographies depending on the end-client location. For FY 2004-05, the

revenue split between different geographies is as under :

Revenue by Geography : TCS Consolidated

Americas 59.2%

Europe 23.1%

India 12.2%

Others 5.5%

1.2 Consolidated Revenue for Significant Industry Practices for FY 2004-05

Revenue Split by Verticals : TCS Consolidated

Banking, Financial Services and Insurance (BFSI) 34.8%

Manufacturing & Processing 17.0%

Telecom 14.6%

Retail and Distribution 5.8%

1.3 Other Income

Other Income for the year ending March 31, 2005 is Rs. 75.0 crores at 0.9% of revenue. Other income comprises

Interest received on deposits with banks, dividends received on investments and gain/loss due to exchange rate

fluctuations. The Company made a net gain of Rs. 35.4 crores from forward and option contracts.

For year ended
March 31, 2005

Other Income Rs. in crores

Interest (Incl. Interest from Subsidiary) 8.58

Dividend from subsidiary company 4.26

Dividends from other long-term investments 6.51

Dividends from mutual funds/other investments 3.76

Profit on redemption of mutual fund units 0.13

Rent 3.46

Exchange Gain (net) 35.40

Miscellaneous income 12.90

75.00
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2. Revenue, Expenditure and Profit

For year ended March 31, 2005

Rs. in crores % of Revenue

Income from Operations :

Consultancy Services  7,854.48 96.9%

Software Licenses  173.10 2.2%

8,027.58 99.1%

Other Income (Net)  75.00 0.9%

TOTAL Income  8,102.58 100.0%

Expenditure :

Employee Costs  1,763.83 21.8%

Overseas Business Expenditure  2,327.59 28.7%

Services rendered by Business Associates and Others  410.22 5.1%

Others  1,046.67 12.9%

TOTAL Expenditure  5,548.31 68.5%

Profit before Additional Incentive, Interest, Depreciation,

Taxes and Exceptional Items  2,554.27 31.5%

Additional Performance Incentive  102.00 1.3%

Interest  10.40 0.1%

Depreciation  133.22 1.6%

Profit Before Taxes and Exceptional Items  2,308.65 28.5%

Provision for Taxes :

Current tax expense  241.00 3.0%

Deferred tax expense  39.76 0.5%

Profit from Operations after Taxes  2,027.89 25.0%

Exceptional Items :

One-time charge on compensation expense under ESPS  (186.65) 2.3%

One-time charge on transfer of overseas branches  (9.82) 0.1%

Net Profit for the Year  1,831.42 22.6%
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a) Employee Costs

During the current year, the Company incurred Rs. 1,763.83 crores as employee costs representing 21.8% of the

revenue. Employee costs include salaries paid to employees in India and overseas.

For year ending
March 31, 2005

Rs. in crores

Employee Costs

Salaries, Wages and Bonus 1,460.26

Contributions to -

(i) Provident Fund 82.55

(ii) Superannuation Scheme 60.55

(iii) Employees State Insurance Scheme 0.07

(iv) Gratuity 45.36

Staff welfare expenses 115.04

TOTAL Employee Costs 1,763.83

b) Overseas Business Expenditure

Overseas business expenditure for year ended March 31, 2005 is Rs. 2327.59 crores or 28.7% of the revenue. The

break-up of overseas business expenditure is as follows :

For year ended March 31, 2005

Rs. in crores % of Revenue

Overseas Costs

Airfare Expenses 151.91 1.9%

Employee related Expenditure 2,143.08 26.4%

Office Expenses 7.64 0.1%

Visa, Passport Expenses 22.11 0.3%

Marketing Expenses - Others 2.85 —

TOTAL Overseas Costs 2,327.59 28.7%

Payments in foreign currencies to employees deputed overseas are included under employee related expenditure.

c) Services rendered by Business Associates and Others

Payments for services rendered by business associates or sub-contractors engaged for software development are

included under this head. The Company normally engages these consultants to meet gaps in certain skill-sets that

are required in various projects and will continue to use external consultants for its project work on a need basis.

Such expenses are Rs. 410.2 crores for the year ended March 31, 2005 and constitute 5.1% of revenue.
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d) Other Expenses

Other Expenses are 12.9% of revenue for the year ended March 31, 2005 amounting to Rs. 1,046.7 crores. The

break-up of the expenses is as follows :

For year ended March 31, 2005

Rs. in crores % of Revenue

Other Expenses

Software expenses 229.69 2.8%

Product expenses 151.00 1.9%

Communication 115.63 1.4%

Travel Expense 78.89 1.0%

Rent 80.85 1.0%

Legal and professional 68.01 0.8%

Repairs and maintenance 50.80 0.6%

Electricity 44.59 0.6%

Bad debts 7.42 0.1%

Recruitment and training expenses 32.50 0.4%

Diminution in value of long-term investments 6.27 0.1%

Commission and brokerage 8.29 0.1%

Motor car expenses 27.27 0.3%

Provision for doubtful debts 4.01 —

Printing and stationery 12.21 0.2%

Insurance 15.11 0.2%

Rates and taxes 11.12 0.1%

Provision for doubtful advances 2.69 —

Entertainment 5.18 0.1%

Loss on sale of fixed assets (net) 1.39 —

Other expenses 93.75 1.2%

TOTAL Other Expenses 1,046.67 12.9%

3. Profit before Additional Performance Incentive, Interest, Depreciation, One-time costs and Taxes

During the year, the Company earned Profit before Additional Performance Incentive, Interest, Depreciation, Exceptional

costs and Taxes of Rs. 2,554.3 crores representing 31.5% of revenue. The corresponding figure as per the Consolidated

Accounts was Rs. 2,910 crores representing 29.6% of the consolidated revenue.

4. Additional Performance Incentive

Under the EVA based incentive scheme followed by the erstwhile TCS Division, employees were eligible for incentive

based on TCS Division’s performance in the immediately preceding year. During the quarter ended March 31, 2005, the

Company has revised the EVA based incentive scheme, under which the employees are now eligible for incentive on the
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basis of the Company’s performance in the current year. Consequently, additional performance incentive of Rs. 102 crores

has been recognized in the year ended March 31, 2005.

5. Interest Costs

The Company has an outstanding loan of Rs. 120.7 crores as at March 31, 2005. Interest on loans for the current year was

Rs. 10.4 crores representing 0.1% of revenue.

6. Depreciation

The Company has provided depreciation of Rs. 133.22 crores for the current year representing 1.7% of revenue and

12.8% of average gross block.

7. Research and Development

Research and Development expenditure is recognized in the profit and loss account when incurred. Fixed assets utilized

for research and development are capitalized and depreciated in accordance with the depreciation rates. Research and

development expenditure aggregating Rs. 21.29 crores (0.3% of revenue) was incurred during the year.

The above amount does not include spending on development and upgradation of software products.

8. Provision for Taxation

Current income tax expense comprises taxes on income from operations in India and foreign tax jurisdictions. Income

tax payable in India is determined in accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961. Tax expense relating

to overseas operations is determined in accordance with tax laws applicable in countries where such operations are

domiciled.

Deferred tax expense or benefit is recognized on timing differences being the difference between taxable incomes and

accounting income that originate in one period and are capable of reversal in one or more subsequent periods.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets in respect of unabsorbed depreciation and carry forward of losses are recognized only to the extent

that there is virtual certainty that sufficient taxable income will be available to realize these assets. All other deferred tax

assets are recognized only to the extent that there is reasonable certainty that sufficient future taxable income will be

available to realize these assets.

Under the Software Technology Park (STP) Scheme, profits from export is entitled to a tax holiday for a consecutive

period of 10 years form the financial year in which the unit started producing computer software, or March 31, 2000,

whichever is earlier. For the year ended March 31, 2005, approximately 92% of the revenue came from software development

centers under the STP Scheme.

The Company pays taxes in various countries in which it operates on the income that is sourced from these countries.

During the current year, the Company incurred a tax liability of Rs. 20.65 crores on its Indian operations and an overseas

tax of Rs. 220.35 crores, resulting in an aggregate provision for taxes for the current year of Rs. 241.00 crores.

9. One-time compensation under Employee Stock Purchase Scheme (ESPS)

The Company issued and allotted 17,49,810 shares to its employees and directors and 89,970 shares to employees and

directors of its subsidiaries under the ESPS - 2004. The employee compensation charge amounting to Rs.186.65 crores

has been disclosed as an exceptional item.
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10. One-time tax on transfer of overseas branches

During the current year, branches in South Africa, Canada and Australia were transferred to the Company with the

transfer of the TCS Division.  This resulted in a one-time tax liability of Rs. 9.82 crores which has been disclosed as an

exceptional item.

11. Net Profit

The net profit of the Company for the year amounted to Rs.1,831.4 crores or 22.6% of total revenue. Excluding the one-

time charges, net profit for the year was Rs. 2,027.9 crores (25.0% of the revenue for the year ended March 31, 2005). The

net profit of the Company as per the Consolidated Accounts was Rs. 1,976.9 crores representing 20.1% of the consolidated

revenue.

12. Liquidity

During the current year the Company generated net cash of Rs. 1,966.57 crores (24.5% of total revenue) from its

operating activities.

The Company paid Rs. 2,300.00 crores to Tata Sons Limited for transfer of the TCS Division. After adjusting the cash

obtained from transfer of the Division, the net outflow was Rs. 2,236.74 crores.

During the year, the Company sold its stake in Intelenet for Rs. 161.00 crores.

The Company raised Rs. 1,882.49 crores from its IPO (net of issue expenses) during the current year. The Company has also

paid interim dividends worth Rs. 357.13 crores inclusive of dividend tax for the year.

In the year ended March 31, 2005, the Company made net investments in fixed assets of Rs. 337.21 crores. The Company

has a cash balance of Rs. 120.74 as at March 31, 2005 and Rs. 378.00 crores in quoted and unquoted mutual funds.

13. Related Party Transactions

Related party transactions have been explained in detail in Schedule Q, Item Number 12 of the Schedule to the accounts.

E) INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS AND THEIR ADEQUACY

The Company has in place adequate systems of internal control commensurate with its size and the nature of its operations.

These have been designed to provide reasonable assurance with regard to recording and providing reliable financial and

operational information, complying with applicable statutes, safeguarding assets from unauthorized use or losses, executing

transactions with proper authorization and ensuring compliance of corporate policies.

The Company has a well defined delegation of power with authority limits for approving revenue as well as capital expenditure.

Processes for formulating and reviewing annual and long-term business plans have been laid down. The Company uses a

state-of-the-art ERP to connect to different locations for efficient exchange of information and has continued its efforts to

align all its processes and controls with global best practices.

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young Private Limited to carry out internal audit of the Company’s activities. The audit

is based on an Internal Audit Plan, which is reviewed each year in consultation with the Statutory Auditors and the Audit

Committee. In line with international practice, the planning and conduct of the internal audit is oriented towards the review

of controls in the management of risks and opportunities in the Company’s activities. The Internal Audit reviews the adequacy

of internal controls and checks in the system and covers all significant areas of the Company's operations such as software

delivery, accounting and finance, procurement, employee engagement and management, travel, insurance, IT processes and

select domestic and foreign branches. Safeguarding of assets and their protection against unauthorized use are also a part

of these exercises.
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The Company has an Audit Committee, details of which have been provided in the Corporate Governance Report. The Audit

Committee reviews the Audit Reports submitted by the Internal Auditors. Suggestions for improvement are considered and

the Audit Committee follows up on the implementation of corrective actions. The Committee also meets the Company’s

Statutory Auditors to ascertain, inter alia, their views on the adequacy of internal control systems in the Company and keeps

the Board of Directors informed of its major observations from time to time.

F) MATERIAL DEVELOPMENTS IN HUMAN RESOURCES

The year 2004-05 has been a significant year for the Company from a human resources perspective. During the year, the

Company had a gross addition of 14,176 employees and an attrition of 3,305 employees, resulting in a net addition of 10,871

employees. The total number of employees in the Company as on March 31, 2005 is 40,992. The attrition rate of 8% during the

year is one of the lowest in the industry.

The Company’s utilization during the year was 76.6% including trainees and 80.5% excluding trainees.

The gender mix has shown a steady increase during the year and as on March 31,  2005, women constituted 21.6% of the

workforce. The proportion of non-Indian nationals in the workforce is 3.5% as on March 31, 2005. The Company employs

persons from about 35 different nationalities in its workforce. 57% of the Company’s employees have more than 3 years of

work experience, as on March 31, 2005.

Globally, the Company continued to invest in its Academic Interaction Programs, expanded the capacity of its Learning and

Development infrastructure in India and in China, Uruguay, Buffalo (New York State), USA, and in Hungary. The Company also

institutionalized its employee engagement programs across the globe, created several communities of practice, expanded its

employee-connectivity initiatives through investments in infrastructure which enables communication across multiple locations

through plasma screens and created the ‘shared-services’ function to enable better employee service.

During the year, the Company was adjudged the ‘Best Employer’ across all industry groups in India by the Hewitt-CNBC TV18

survey, and the ‘Best Employer in the IT sector’ by the Dataquest-IDC survey.

Cautionary Statement

Certain statements made in the Management Discussion and Analysis Report relating to the Company’s objectives, projections,

outlook, expectations, estimates, etc. may constitute ‘forward looking statements’ within the meaning of applicable laws and

regulations. Actual results may differ from such expectations, projections, etc., whether express or implied. Several factors

could make a significant difference to the Company’s operations. These include climatic conditions, economic conditions

affecting demand and supply, Government regulations and taxation, natural calamities etc. over which the Company does

not have any direct control.
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I. Listing of the Company’s shares in Stock Exchanges

The Company’s shares were listed on The National Stock Exchange of India Limited and The Stock Exchange, Mumbai on
August 25, 2004. Accordingly, the Corporate Governance Report for the year 2004-05, which has been prepared pursuant to the
provisions of Clause 49 of the Listing Agreements is for the period commencing from August 25, 2004.

II. Company’s Philosophy on Corporate Governance

The Company believes that good corporate governance practices enable the management to direct and control the affairs of
the Company in an efficient manner and to achieve the Company’s goal of maximising value for all its stakeholders. The
Company will continue to focus its resources, strengths and strategies to achieve its vision of becoming a truly global
software company, while upholding the core values of transparency, integrity, honesty and accountability, which are fundamental
to the Tata Group.

As a part of the Tata Group, the Company has a strong legacy of fair, transparent and ethical governance practices. The
Company’s corporate governance philosophy has been further strengthened with the adoption by the Company of the Tata
Business Excellence Model, the Tata Code of Conduct, the Tata Code of Conduct for Prevention of Insider Trading, as also the
Code of Corporate Disclosure Practices.

The Tata Code of Conduct serves as a guide to the employees on the values, ethics and business principles expected of them.
The Company has in place an Information Security Policy which ensures proper utilization of IT resources. With the listing of
its equity shares, the Company has also abided by the requirements of corporate governance covered under clause 49 of the
Listing Agreements with the Stock Exchanges. The Company has, in March 2005, adopted a Whistle Blower Policy (WBP) for
employees to report to the management instances of unethical behavior, actual or suspected, fraud or violation of the
Company’s code of conduct or ethics policy. The WBP will be implemented during the year 2005-06.

III. Board of Directors

i) The Company has a Non-Executive Chairman and the number of Independent Directors is more than one-third of the
total number of Directors. The number of Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) is more than 50% of the total number of
Directors.

ii) None of the Directors on the Board is a member on more than 10 Committees or Chairman of more than 5 Committees
as specified in Clause 49. Necessary disclosures regarding Committee positions have been made by the Directors.

iii) The names and categories of the Directors on the Board, their attendance at Board Meetings held during the year after
August 25, 2004 and the number of Directorships and Committee Memberships held by them in other companies after
the said date is given below. Other directorships do not include alternate directorships, directorships of private limited
companies and of companies incorporated outside India. Chairmanship/membership of Board Committees include
membership of Audit, Remuneration and Shareholders/Investors Grievance Committees.

Corporate Governance Report for the year 2004-05
(as required under Clause 49 of the Listing Agreements entered into with Stock Exchanges)
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Name Category No. of Board Whether No. of Directorships in No. of Committee
Meetings during attended other public positions held in other
the period last AGM companies public companies

held on
May 5, 2004

Held Attended Chairman Member Chairman Member

Mr. R.N. Tata Non- 6 6 11 2 — 7
(Chairman) Independent,

Non-
Executive

Mr. S. Ramadorai Non- 6 4 2 9 2 7
( Chief Executive Independent,
Officer & Managing Executive
Director)

Mr. Aman Mehta Independent, 6 5 — 3 1 3
Non-
Executive

Mr. Naresh Chandra Independent, 6 6 — 6 3 5
Non-
Executive

iv) Six Board Meetings were held during the period August 25, 2004 to March 31, 2005 and the gap between two meetings
did not exceed four months. The dates on which the Board Meetings were held are as follows :

October 12, 2004; October 21, 2004; December 7, 2004; January 13, 2005; January 20, 2005 and March 10, 2005.

v) None of the Non-Executive Directors have any material pecuniary relationship or transactions with the Company.

IV. Audit Committee

i) The Audit Committee of the Company was re-constituted on August 19, 2004 in line with the provisions of Clause 49 of
the Listing Agreements with the Stock Exchanges read with Section 292A of the Companies Act, 1956.

ii) The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are broadly as under :

� Overview of the Company’s financial reporting process and the disclosure of its financial information to ensure
that the financial statements reflect a true and fair position and that sufficient and credible information is disclosed.

� Recommending the appointment and removal of external auditors, fixation of audit fee and also approval for
payment for any other services.

� Discussion with external auditors before the audit commences, of the nature and scope of audit as well as post-
audit discussion to ascertain any area of concern.

� Reviewing with management the annual financial statements before submission to the Board, focusing primarily on :

� any changes in accounting policies and practices;

� major accounting entries based on exercise of judgment by management;

� qualifications in draft audit report;

N.A. Since last
AGM was
held prior to
the listing
of the
Company’s
shares on any
Stock
Exchange
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� significant adjustments arising out of audit;

� the going concern assumption;

� compliance with accounting standards;

� compliance with stock exchange and legal requirements concerning financial statements;

� any related party transactions as per Accounting Standard 18.

� Reviewing the Company’s financial and risk management policies.

� Disclosure of contingent liabilities.

� Reviewing with the management, external and internal auditors, the adequacy of internal control systems.

� Reviewing the adequacy of internal audit function, including the audit charter, the structure of the internal audit
department, approval of the audit plan and its execution, staffing and seniority of the official heading the department,
reporting structure, coverage and frequency of internal audit.

� Discussion with internal auditors of any significant findings and follow-up thereon.

� Reviewing the findings of any internal investigations by the internal auditors into matters where there is suspected
fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a material nature and reporting the matter to the
Board.

� Looking into the reasons for substantial defaults in payments to the depositors, debenture holders, shareholders
(in case of non-payment of declared dividends) and creditors.

iii) In its meetings, the Audit Committee considered audit reports covering operational, financial, and other business areas.
The Audit Committee meetings are usually held at the Corporate Office of the Company and are usually attended by the
Managing Director, Chief Financial Officer, Vice President – Finance, representatives of the Statutory Auditors and
representatives of the Internal Auditors. The Operations Heads are invited to the meetings, as required. The Company
Secretary acts as the Secretary of the Audit Committee.

iv) The last Annual General Meeting of the Company was held on May 5, 2004, (i.e. prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares on any Stock Exchange) and therefore this Report does not cover the attendance of the Chairman of the Audit
Committee at that AGM.

v) The composition of the Audit Committee after August 25, 2004 and particulars of meetings attended by the members of
the Audit Committee after that date are given below :

Name Category No. of Meetings during the period

Held Attended

Mr. Aman Mehta, Independent, 5 5
Chairman Non-Executive

Mr. R.N. Tata Non- Independent, 5 3
Non-Executive

Mr. Naresh Chandra Independent, 5 5
Non-Executive

vi) Five Audit Committee meetings were held during the period August 25, 2004 to March 31, 2005. The dates on which the
said meetings were held are as follows : September 29, 2004; October 12, 2004; December 6, 2004; January 13, 2005 and
March 10, 2005.



49

V. Remuneration Committee

i) The Company has constituted a Remuneration Committee of Directors on August 19, 2004.

ii) The broad terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are as under :

a) To approve the Annual Remuneration Plan of the Company.

b) To approve the remuneration and commission/incentive remuneration payable to the Managing Director for each
financial year.

c) To approve the remuneration and Annual Performance Bonus payable to the Chief Financial Officer and the
Executive Vice Presidents of the Company for each financial year.

d) Such other matters as the Board may from time to time request the Remuneration Committee to examine and
recommend/approve.

Mr. S. Padmanabhan, Executive Vice President and Head – Global HR, functions as Secretary of the Remuneration
Committee.

iii) The composition of the Remuneration Committee and details of meetings attended by the Directors are given below :

Name Category No. of Meetings
during the period

Held Attended

Mr. Aman Mehta, Independent, 1 1
Chairman Non-Executive

Mr. R.N. Tata Non-Independent, 1 1
Non-Executive

Mr. Naresh Chandra Independent, 1 1
Non-Executive

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the period August 25, 2004 to March 31, 2005. It was held
on March 10, 2005.

iv) The last Annual General Meeting of the Company was held on May 5, 2004 (i.e. prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares on any stock exchange) and therefore this report does not cover attendance of the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee at that AGM.

v) During the year the Company has allotted 18,39,780 equity shares of the Company of the face value of Re. 1/- each at
Re. 1/- each to 1,015 select employees/Directors of the Company/its subsidiaries under the Company’s Employee Share
Purchase Scheme–2004 (ESPS). This includes 46,840 equity shares allotted to Mr. S. Ramadorai, Managing Director.
No equity shares have been allotted to any other Director of the Company under the said ESPS.

vi) The Company does not have any Employee Stock Option Scheme.

vii) Remuneration Policy :
The Company’s remuneration policy is driven by the success and performance of the individual employee and the
Company. Through its compensation programme, the Company endeavors to attract, retain, develop and motivate a
high performance workforce. The Company follows a compensation mix of fixed pay, benefits and EVA based variable
pay.  Individual performance pay is determined by business performance and the performance of the individuals
measured through the annual appraisal process.
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The Company pays remuneration by way of salary, perquisites and allowances (fixed component) and commission (variable
component) to its Managing Director. Annual increments are decided by the Remuneration Committee within the salary
scale approved by the Members and are effective April 1, each year. The Remuneration Committee  decides on the
commission payable to the Managing Director out of the profits for the financial year and within the ceilings prescribed
under the Companies Act, 1956, based on the performance of the Company as well as that of the Managing Director.

The Company pays Sitting Fee @ Rs. 10,000 per meeting to its Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) for attending meetings of
the Board and of the Audit Committee and @ Rs. 5,000 per meeting for attending meetings of other committees of the
Board. Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the Company will pay
commission to the Non-Executive Directors within the ceiling of 1% of the net profits of the Company as computed
under the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 1956. The said commission will be decided each year by the Board
of Directors and distributed amongst the NEDs based on their attendance and contribution at Board and certain
Committee meetings, as well as the time spent on operational matters other than at meetings. The Company also
reimburses the out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Directors for attending meetings.

viii) Details of Remuneration for 2004-05.

a) Non-Executive Directors :

Name Commission (Rs. Lakhs) Sitting Fees (Rs. Lakhs)*

Mr. R.N. Tata 47.00 0.95

Mr. Aman Mehta 30.00 1.15

Mr. Naresh Chandra 23.00 1.20

* Details provided are of sitting fees paid for attendance at meetings of the Board/Committees thereof held after the
Company’s shares were listed.

b) Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director : (for the period from the date of appointment as Managing Director
i.e. from August 9, 2004 to March 31, 2005)

Name Salary (including contribution Perquisites & Commission ESPS Stock
 to  Provident  and Allowances (Rs. Lakhs) Options
  Superannuation Funds)
(Rs. Lakhs) (Rs. Lakhs)

Mr. S. Ramadorai 22.08 7.61 65.00 46,840 Equity Nil
shares of Re. 1/-
each allotted at par

c) Payment of managerial remuneration is subject to the approval of the shareholders.

d) Period of contract of CEO & MD :

� 5 years from August 9, 2004.

The contract may be terminated by either party giving the other party six months’ notice or the Company
paying six month’s salary in lieu thereof.

� Severance Fees : Nil

e) Allotment of shares to the Directors in the Company’s Initial Public Offer of Shares :

Mr. R.N. Tata : 2,772 equity shares of the Company of Re. 1/- each at the Issue Price of Rs. 850/- per share

Mr. S. Ramadorai : 2,940 equity shares of Re. 1/- each at the Issue Price of Rs. 850/- per share
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VI. Shareholders/Investors Grievance Committee

i) A Shareholders/Investors Grievance Committee of Directors was constituted on August 19, 2004 to specifically look into
the redressal of complaints of investors such as transfer or credit of shares to demat accounts, non-receipt of dividend/
notices/annual reports, etc.

ii) Two meetings of the Shareholders/Investors Grievance Committee were held during the period from August 25, 2004 to
March 31, 2005. These meetings were held on September 29, 2004 and March 9, 2005.

iii) The composition of the Shareholders/Investors Grievance Committee and the number of meetings attended by its
members is given below :

Name Category No. of Meetings

Held Attended

Mr. Aman Mehta, Chairman Independent, Non-Executive 2 2

Mr. S. Ramadorai Non-Independent, Executive 2 2

iv) The Company has always valued its customer relationships. This philosophy has been extended to investor relationship
and an Investor Relations Department (IRD) was set up in June 2004, prior to the Company’s Initial Public Offer of shares.
The IRD focuses on servicing the needs of retail investors, institutional investors, analysts, brokers and the general
public.

v) Name, designation and address of :

a) Compliance Officer : Mr. S.H. Rajadhyaksha
Company Secretary
Tata Consultancy Services Ltd.
10th Floor, Air India Building,
Nariman Point,
Mumbai 400 021
Tel : 5550 9285
Fax : 5630 3672

b) Head, Investor Relations : Mr. Arjun Marphatia
Tata Consultancy Services Ltd.
9th Floor, Nirmal Building
Nariman Point,
Mumbai 400 021
Tel : 5550 9576
Fax : 5550 9661

vi) Details of complaints received and redressed :

Opening Received during the Resolved during the Closing
Balance period 25.8.2004 to 31.3.2005 period 25.8.2004 to 31.3.2005 Balance

Nil 60,675 60,658 17

VII. Other Committees –

i) Ethics and Compliance Committee :

In terms of the Company’s Code of Conduct for Prevention of Insider Trading and the Code of Corporate Disclosure
Practices (the Code) to be followed by directors, officers and other employees, a committee has been constituted on
August 19, 2004 called the Ethics and Compliance Committee.
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One meeting of the Ethics and Compliance Committee was held during the period August 25, 2004 to March 31, 2005. It
was held on March 9, 2005.

The composition of the Ethics and Compliance Committee and details of the meetings attended by the Directors are
given below :

Name Category No. of Meetings during the period

Held Attended

Mr. Naresh Chandra, Independent, Non-Executive 1 1
Chairman

Mr. S. Ramadorai Non-Independent, Executive 1 1

The Board has appointed the Chief Financial Officer, Mr. S. Mahalingam, as the Compliance Officer under the Code to
ensure compliance and effective implementation of the Code across the Company.

ii) Committee of Directors for Bank Accounts :

A Committee of Directors for Bank Accounts has been constituted on October 12, 2004 to approve of the opening and
closing of bank accounts of the Company and to authorise persons to operate the said bank accounts. The Committee
comprises Mr. Aman Mehta, (Independent, Non-Executive Director) and Mr. S. Ramadorai, Managing Director
(Non-Independent, Executive Director).

VIII. General Body Meetings

i) General Meetings :

No general meeting of the shareholders of the Company was held between August 25, 2004 (being the date on which
the shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchanges) and March 31, 2005.

ii) Postal Ballot :

a) Three special resolutions relating to the issue of shares under the Company’s Employee Share Purchase Scheme –
2004 (ESPS) as contained in a Notice to the Shareholders dated August 23, 2004 were passed under a Postal Ballot.
The Postal Ballot exercise was conducted by Karvy Computershare Private Limited who at that time were the
Company’s Registrars and Share Transfer Agents. The exercise was carried out under the overall supervision of the
Company Secretary and the Scrutinizer for the Postal Ballot was Ms. Shirin Bharucha.

b) Details of the Special Resolutions passed under the Postal Ballot are as under :

Resolution No. 1

� Description :

Special Resolution to accord the consent of the Company to the ESPS under the SEBI (Employee Stock Option
Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999 and to offer and issue Equity Shares of the
Company to select employees/directors of the Company under the ESPS.

� Voting Pattern :

Voting No. of Votes % of total
Valid votes

Votes cast in Favour 40,15,99,192 99.92

Votes cast Against 3,36,497 0.08

Total 40,19,35,689 100.00
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Result : Passed with the requisite majority

Resolution No. 2

� Description :

Special Resolution to accord the consent of the Company for the offer and issuance of Equity Shares of the
Company by way of ESPS under the SEBI (Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase
Scheme) Guidelines, 1999 to select employees/directors of its subsidiaries.

� Voting Pattern :

Voting No. of Votes % of total
Valid votes

Votes cast in Favour 40,15,28,612 99.91

Votes cast Against 3,59,139 0.09

Total 40,18,87,751 100.00

Result : Passed with the requisite majority

Resolution No. 3

� Description :

Special Resolution to accord the consent of the Company to issue of Equity Shares of the Company in
accordance with the provisions of sub-section (a) of Section 81(1A) of the Companies Act, 1956 by way of ESPS
under the SEBI (Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999, to
select employees/directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

� Voting Pattern :

Voting No. of Votes % of total
Valid votes

Votes cast in Favour 40,15,49,617 99.91

Votes cast Against 3,53,222 0.09

Total 40,19,02,839 100.00

Result : Passed with the requisite majority

c) The procedure prescribed under Section 192A of the Companies Act, 1956 read with the Companies (Passing of the
Resolution by Postal Ballot) Rules, 2001 has been followed for the postal ballot conducted for the special resolutions
mentioned in Para VIII (ii)(b). The results of the Postal Ballot were announced by the Managing Director of the
Company at the Registered Office of the Company on September 28, 2004 and advertised in the newspapers.

IX. Disclosures

i) There are no materially significant related party transactions of the Company with key managerial personnel which
have potential conflict with the interest of the Company at large.

ii) Details of non-compliance by the Company, penalties, strictures imposed on the Company by Stock Exchanges or SEBI
or any statutory authority, on any matter related to capital markets, during the period from August 25, 2004 to
March 31, 2005 : NIL
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iii) Secretarial Audit

A qualified practicing Company Secretary carried out a secretarial audit to reconcile the total admitted capital with
National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) and Central Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL) and the total
issued and listed capital. The audit confirms that the total issued/paid-up capital of the Company is in agreement with
the total number of shares in physical form and the total number of dematerialized shares held with NSDL and CDSL.

X. Means of Communication

The quarterly, half-yearly and annual results of the Company are published in leading newspapers in India which include, the
Financial Express, Loksatta, Business Standard and Gujarat Samachar. The results are also displayed on the Company’s web
site www.tcs.com. Official press releases made by the Company from time to time are also displayed on the website. Presentations
made to the Institutional investors and analysts after the declaration of the quarterly, half-yearly and annual results are
displayed on the Company’s website. The Management’s Discussion and Analysis is a part of the Company’s Annual Report.

XI. General Shareholder information

i) Annual General Meeting :

Date : July 19, 2005
Time : 3.30 p.m.
Venue  : Birla Matushri Sabhagar, 19, Sir Vithaldas Thackersey Marg,

Mumbai 400 020
ii) Financial Calendar :

Year ending : March 31,
AGM in : July
Dividend Payment : The Final Dividend, if declared, shall be paid/credited on or after July 25, 2005.

iii) Date of Book Closure : July 8, 2005 to July 19, 2005

iv) Listing on Stock Exchanges : The National Stock Exchange of India Limited
The Stock Exchange, Mumbai

v) Stock Codes/Symbol : The National Stock Exchange of India Limited …. …. TCS

The Stock Exchange, Mumbai … …. 532540

The Company's shares constitute a part of the NSE index (S & P CNX Nifty) from February 25, 2005 and the BSE TECk. index from
December 15, 2004.

vi) Market Price Data :

High, Low (based on the closing prices) and number of shares traded during each month in the last financial year on The
National Stock Exchange of India Limited and The Stock Exchange, Mumbai :

 The National Stock Exchange of India Limited The Stock Exchange, Mumbai

Month High (Rs.) Low (Rs.) Total No.  of High (Rs.) Low (Rs.) Total No.  of
Shares Shares
Traded Traded

Aug-04 1198.70 958.55 31,710,005 1080.00 958.55 12,542,527

Sep-04 1100.00 976.00 32,211,875 1056.00 978.25 12,816,574

Oct-04 1174.80 1026.35 28,908,878 1198.00 1027.00 10,924,277

Nov-04 1286.00 1125.00 15,513,246 1287.00 1142.00 5,113,863

Dec-04 1338.80 1196.05 17,728,455 1338.00 1193.00 5,999,763

Jan-05 1367.95 1207.10 21,299,640 1367.80 1205.00 8,757,911

Feb-05 1418.00 1287.00 12,802,996 1420.00 1288.00 4,751,835

Mar-05 1475.00 1351.00 12,429,926 1475.00 1351.10 4,209,516
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viii) Registrar and Transfer Agents :

a) From August 25, 2004 to January 31, 2005 :

Name & Address : Karvy Computershare Private Limited
46, Avenue 4, Street 1,
Banjara Hills,
Hyderabad 500 034

Tel. : 91 40 233 12454
Fax : 91 40 233 11968/23049
E-mail : madhusudhan@karvy.com
Contact person : Mr. M. S. Madhusudhan

b) From February 1, 2005 to date :

Name & Address : Tata Share Registry Limited
Army & Navy Building,
148, M.G. Road, Fort,
Mumbai 400 001

Tel. : 91 22 5656 8484
Fax : 91 22 5656 8494
E-mail : csg-unit@tatashare.com

vii) Performance of share price of the Company in comparison to the BSE Sensex.
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ix) Places for Acceptance of documents :

For the convenience of shareholders based in the following cities, transfer documents and letters will also be accepted
at the following branches/agencies of Tata Share Registry Limited (TSRL) :

a) Branches of TSRL

Tata Share Registry Limited Tata Share Registry Limited
503, Barton Centre, 5th floor, Bungalow No.1, ‘E’ Road,
84, Mahatma Gandhi Road, Northern Town, Bistupur,
Bangalore 560 001. Jamshedpur 831 001.
Tel : 080 2532 0321 Tel : 0657 2426 616
Fax : 080 2558 0019 Fax : 0657 2426 937
E-mail : tsrlbang@tatashare.com E-mail : tsrljsr@tatashare.com

Tata Share Registry Limited Tata Share Registry Limited
Tata Centre, 1st floor, Plot No. 2/42, Sant Vihar,
43, Jawaharlal Nehru Road, Ansari Road, Darya Ganj,
Kolkata 700 071. New Delhi 110 002.
Tel : 033 2288 3087 Tel : 011 2327 1805
Fax :  033 2288 3062 Fax : 011 2327 1802
E-mail : tsrlcal@tatashare.com E-mail : tsrldel@tatashare.com

b) Agent of TSRL

Shah Consultancy Services Limited
Sumatinath Complex, 2nd Dhal,
Pritamnagar, Ellisbridge,
Ahmedabad 380 006.
Tel : 079 2657 5094
Fax :  079 2657 6038
E-mail : shahconsultancy@hotmail.com

x) Share Transfer System :

Almost all the shares of the Company are in the dematerialized form. Transfers of these shares are done through the
depositories with no involvement of the Company. As regards transfer of shares held in physical form, the transfer
documents can be lodged with TSRL at any of the above mentioned addresses.

Transfers of shares in physical form are normally processed within 10-12 days from the date of receipt if the documents
are complete in all respects. The Directors, the Chief Financial Officer and the Company Secretary are severally empowered
to approve transfers.

xi) Shareholding (as on March 31, 2005) :

a) Distribution of shareholding as on March 31, 2005 :

No. of shares Holding % to No. of % to
Capital accounts total accounts

1 - 1000 17,821,674 3.71 712,829 99.66 %

1001 -5000 3,656,735 0.76 1,890 0.26 %

5001-10000 1,436,128 0.30 196 0.03 %

10001-20000 1,404,403 0.29 100 0.01 %

20001-30000 1,525,786 0.32 62 0.01 %

30001-40000 1,312,514 0.27 38 0.01 %

40001-50000 1,039,872 0.22 23 0 %

50001-100000 4,162,412 0.87 55 0.01 %

100001-480114809 447,755,285 93.26 91 0.01 %

GRAND TOTAL 480,114,809 100 715,284 100 %
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b) Categories of shareholders as on March 31, 2005 :

Category No. of shares Percentage

Promoters Holdings 38,71,75,029 80.64

Person acting in concert & Tata Group Companies 2,01,75,971 4.20

Unit Trust of India 1,93,782 0.04

Life Insurance Corporation of India 43,39,598 0.90

Indian Public 2,80,89,355 5.85

Mutual Funds 66,10,214 1.38

Corporate Bodies 25,27,098 0.53

Banks, Financial Institutions & Others 8,20,328 0.18

Foreign Institutional Investors 2,87,71,461 5.99

NRI's/OCBs/Foreign Nationals 12,17,635 0.25

Others 1,94,338 0.04

Total 48,01,14,809 100.00

xii) Dematerialization of shares and liquidity :

The Company’s shares are compulsorily traded in dematerialized form. Equity shares of the Company representing
99.99% of the Company’s share capital are dematerialized as on March 31, 2005.

The Company’s shares are regularly traded on The National Stock Exchange of India Limited and The Stock Exchange,
Mumbai, in electronic form.

Under the Depository System, the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) allotted to the Company’s shares
is INE467B01029.

xiii) Outstanding GDRs/ADRs/Warrants or any Convertible instruments, conversion date and likely impact on equity :

As on March 31, 2005, the Company did not have any outstanding GDRs/ADRs/Warrants or any convertible instruments.

xiv) Plant Locations :

In view of the nature of the Company’s business viz. Information Technology (IT) Services and IT Enabled Services, the
Company operates from various offices in India and abroad but does not have any manufacturing plant.

xv) Address for correspondence :

Tata Consultancy Services Limited
11th floor, Air India Building,
Nariman Point,
Mumbai 400 021.
Tel : (022) 5550 9999
Fax : (022) 5550 9344/5550 9333
E-mail : investor.relations@tcs.com
Website : www.tcs.com
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TO THE MEMBERS OF

TATA CONSULTANCY SERVICES LIMITED

We have examined the compliance of the conditions of Corporate Governance by TATA CONSULTANCY SERVICES LIMITED for the

period from August 25, 2004 to March 31, 2005, as stipulated in Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement of the said Company with the

stock exchanges.

The compliance of conditions of corporate governance is the responsibility of the management. Our examination has been limited

to a review of the procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance with the

conditions of Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the

Company.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and the representations made

by the Directors and the Management, we certify that the Company has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance

as stipulated in the above mentioned Listing Agreement.

As required by the Guidance Note issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India we have to state that based on the

report given by the Registrars of the Company to the Investors’ Grievance Committee, as on March 31, 2005, there were no investor

grievance matters against the Company remaining unattended/pending for more than 30 days.

We further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or

effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

For S. B. BILLIMORIA & CO.
Chartered Accountants

N. VENKATRAM
Partner

Mumbai, April  19, 2005 Membership No. : 71387

Compliance Certificate
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Auditors' Report

TO THE MEMBERS OF

TATA CONSULTANCY SERVICES LIMITED

1. We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of TATA CONSULTANCY SERVICES LIMITED (“the Company”) as at March 31, 2005,
and also the Profit and Loss Account and the Cash Flow Statement of the Company for the year ended on that date both
annexed thereto. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s Management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in India. Those Standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the Management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

3. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003 issued by the Central Government of India in terms of
sub-section (4A) of Section 227 of the Companies Act, 1956, we enclose in the Annexure a statement on the matters specified
in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order to the extent applicable.

4. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to in paragraph 3 above, we report that :

(i) we have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary
for the purposes of our audit;

(ii) in our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as appears from our
examination of those books;

(iii) the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report are in agreement with the
books of account;

(iv) in our opinion, the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report comply
with the accounting standards referred to in sub-section (3C) of Section 211 of the Companies Act, 1956;

(v) on the basis of written representations received from the directors, as on March 31, 2005, and taken on record by the
Board of Directors, we report that none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31, 2005 from being appointed as a
director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of Section 274 of the Companies Act, 1956; and

(vi) in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the said accounts give
the information required by the Companies Act, 1956, in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in
conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India :

(a) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2005;

(b) in the case of the Profit and Loss Account, of the profit for the year ended on that date; and

(c) in the case of the Cash Flow Statement, of the cash flows for the year ended on that date.

For S. B. BILLIMORIA & CO.
Chartered Accountants

N. VENKATRAM
Partner

Mumbai, April 19, 2005 Membership No. : 71387
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(Referred to in paragraph 3 of our report of even date)

(i) (a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars including quantitative details and situation of
fixed assets.

(b) As explained to us, physical verification of a major portion of fixed assets as at March 31, 2005 was conducted by the
Management during the year. In our opinion, the frequency of verification is reasonable. Having regard to the size of the
operations of the Company and on the basis of explanations received, in our opinion, the net differences found on
physical verification were not significant.

(ii) The Company has no inventories and therefore, the provisions of clause 4(ii) of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003
are not applicable to the Company.

(iii) The Company has not taken or granted loans from/ to companies, firms or other parties covered in the register maintained
under Section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956 and therefore, the provisions of clause 4(iii) of the Companies (Auditor’s Report)
Order, 2003 are not applicable to the Company.

(iv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, having regard to the explanations that some
of the items purchased are of special nature and suitable alternative sources do not exist for obtaining comparable quotations,
there are adequate internal control procedures commensurate with the size of the Company and the nature of its business
with regard to purchases of fixed assets and with regard to the sale of goods and services. During the course of our audit, we
have not observed any major weakness in the internal controls.

(v) (a) To the best of our knowledge and belief and according to the information and explanations given to us, we are of the
opinion that the particulars of contracts or arrangements referred to in Section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956 have
been entered in the register required to be maintained under that section.

(b) Transactions made in pursuance of such contracts or arrangements have been made at prices which are reasonable
having regard to the prevailing market prices at the relevant time.

(vi) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not accepted deposits from
the public during the year.

(vii) In our opinion, the Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of its business.

(viii) According to the information and explanations given to us, the Central Government has not prescribed maintenance of cost
records under clause (d) of sub-section (1) of Section 209 of the Companies Act, 1956 for any of the products of the Company.

(ix) (a) According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is generally regular in depositing with
appropriate authorities undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income tax,
wealth tax, sales tax, customs duty, excise duty, service tax, cess and other material statutory dues applicable to it.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of income tax,
sales tax, customs duty, excise duty and cess were in arrears, as at March 31, 2005 for a period of more than six months
from the date they became payable.

(c) According to the information and explanations given to us, details of dues of sales tax, income tax, wealth tax, customs
duty, excise duty, cess and service tax which have not been deposited on account of any dispute are given below :

Name of the Statute Period to which the Forum where the dispute Total Amount
amount relates is pending (Rs. in crores)

UP Trade Tax 2001-02, 2004-05 Joint Commissioner 0.25
Appeals, UPTT, Noida  

UP Works 2001-02 Joint Commissioner 0.06
Contract Tax Appeals, UPTT,  Noida

Service Tax 1996-97 to 1998-99 Dy. Commissioner of Service Tax and 0.19
Appeal to High Court, Ahmedabad

Annexure to the Auditors’ Report
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(x) The Company does not have accumulated losses. The Company has not incurred cash losses during the financial year
covered by our audit and in the immediately preceding financial year.

(xi) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not defaulted in repayment
of dues to a financial institution or bank.

(xii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not granted loans and
advances on the basis of security by way of pledge of shares, debentures and other securities.

(xiii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not dealing in or trading in
shares, securities, debentures and other investments. Accordingly, the provisions of clause 4 (xiv) of the Companies (Auditor’s
Report) Order, 2003 are not applicable to the Company.

(xiv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the terms and conditions on which the
Company has given guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial institutions are not prima-facie prejudicial
to the interest of the Company.

(xv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the term loans have been applied for the
purpose for which they were raised.

(xvi) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, and on an overall examination of the
Balance Sheet of the Company, we report that no funds raised on short-term basis have been used for long-term investment.

(xvii) Other than the issue of 46,840 shares to the Managing Director under the Employee Share Purchase Scheme of the
Company in accordance with SEBI (Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999
and the issue of 5,712 shares to the Managing Director and a director under the Employee Reservation Portion at the time
of the Initial Public Offer, the Company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to parties covered in register
under section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956. The prices at which the shares are issued are not considered to be prejudicial
to the interest of the Company.

(xviii) We have verified that the end use of money raised by public issues is as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(xix) To the best of our knowledge and belief and according to the information and explanations given to us, no fraud on or by
the Company has been noticed or reported during the course of our audit.

Clauses 4(xiii) and 4(xix) of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003 are not applicable to the Company.

For S. B. BILLIMORIA & CO.
Chartered Accountants

N. VENKATRAM
Partner

Mumbai, April 19, 2005 Membership No. : 71387
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Schedule As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)

SOURCES OF FUNDS :

1. SHAREHOLDERS’ FUND
(a) Share Capital A 48.01 36.44
(b) Reserves and Surplus B 3273.04 10.64

2. LOAN FUNDS
(a) Secured Loans C 111.01 —
(b) Unsecured Loans D 9.73 375.00

120.74 375.00

3. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY (NET) E 64.32 0.98

4. TOTAL FUNDS EMPLOYED 3506.11 423.06

APPLICATION OF FUNDS :

5. FIXED ASSETS F
(a) Gross Block 1041.09 226.50
(b) Less :- Accumulated Depreciation 132.93 0.95

(c) Net Block 908.16 225.55
(d) Capital Work-in-Progress 120.28 —

1028.44 225.55

6. INVESTMENTS G 1404.42 417.39

7. CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS AND ADVANCES
(a) Unbilled Revenues 130.09 —
(b) Sundry Debtors H 1463.45 0.25
(c) Cash and Bank Balances I 120.74 2.25
(d) Loans and Advances J 600.83 9.77

2315.11 12.27

8. CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS
(a) Current Liabilities K 714.28 227.22
(b) Provisions L 527.58 4.93

1241.86 232.15

9. NET CURRENT ASSETS [ (7) less (8) ] 1073.25 (219.88)

10. TOTAL ASSETS (NET) 3506.11 423.06

11. NOTES TO ACCOUNTS Q

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2005

As per our report attached For and on behalf of the Board
For S. B. BILLIMORIA & CO.
Chartered Accountants Ratan N. Tata

Chairman

N. Venkatram S. Ramadorai
Partner CEO and Managing Director

S. Mahalingam Aman Mehta
Chief Financial Officer Director

S.H. Rajadhyaksha Naresh Chandra
Company Secretary Director

Mumbai, April 19, 2005 Mumbai, April 19, 2005
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Schedule
2005 2004

Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)
INCOME :

1. Consultancy services M 7854.48 —
2. Software licences 173.10 —
3. Other income N 75.00 4.29

8102.58 4.29

EXPENDITURE :
4. Employee costs O 1763.83 —
5. Operation and Other expenses P 3784.48 0.03

5548.31 0.03

PROFIT BEFORE ADDITIONAL INCENTIVE, INTEREST,
DEPRECIATION, TAXES AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS 2554.27 4.26

6. Additional Performance Incentive 102.00 —
7. Interest 10.40 0.20
8. Depreciation F 133.22 0.84

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS 2308.65 3.22
9. PROVISION FOR TAXES

(a) Current tax (241.00) (1.11)
(b) Deferred tax (39.76) (0.38)

PROFIT BEFORE EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS 2027.89 1.73
10. Profit on sale of long-term investment — 13.45
11. Tax on transfer of overseas branches (9.82) —
12. Charge on account of Employee Stock Purchase Scheme (186.65) —

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1831.42 15.18
13. Balance brought forward from previous year 0.64 0.40

AMOUNT AVAILABLE FOR APPROPRIATION 1832.06 15.58

14. APPROPRIATIONS
(a) Interim dividend 312.07 —
(b) Proposed final dividend 240.06 4.38
(c) Tax on dividend 74.46 0.56
(d) General Reserve 200.00 10.00
(e) Balance carried to Balance Sheet 1005.47 0.64

1832.06 15.58

15. Earnings per share - Basic and diluted (Rs.)
– excluding exceptional items 43.10 0.06
– including exceptional items 38.93 0.33
Weighted average number of shares 47,04,61,111 45,55,00,029

16. NOTES TO ACCOUNTS Q

Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2005

As per our report attached to the Balance Sheet For and on behalf of the Board
For S. B. BILLIMORIA & CO.
Chartered Accountants Ratan N. Tata

Chairman

N. Venkatram S. Ramadorai
Partner CEO and Managing Director

S. Mahalingam Aman Mehta
Chief Financial Officer Director

S.H. Rajadhyaksha Naresh Chandra
Company Secretary Director

Mumbai, April 19, 2005 Mumbai, April 19, 2005
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2005

Particulars 2005 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)

1. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxes and exceptional items 2308.65 3.22
Adjustments for :
Depreciation 133.22 0.84
Provision for doubtful advances 2.69 —
Provision for doubtful debts 4.01 —
Diminution in value of long-term investments 6.27 —
Interest expense 10.40 0.20
Loss on sale of fixed assets (net) 1.39 —
Unrealised exchange gain (16.19) —
Dividend income (14.53) (2.18)
Interest income (8.58) —
Profit on redemption of mutual funds (0.13) (0.06)

Operating Profit before working capital changes 2427.20 2.02
Unbilled revenues 128.05 —
Sundry debtors (509.14) (0.03)
Loans and Advances 66.01 —
Current Liabilities and Provisions 53.35 0.12

Cash generated from operations 2165.47 2.11
Income taxes paid (198.90) (1.47)

Net cash provided by operating activities 1966.57 0.64

2. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of fixed assets (337.21) (3.99)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 2.92 —
Purchase of trade and other investments (404.49) (459.50)
Proceeds from sale of investments 161.00 43.94
Deposit received from Tata Sons (net) — 2.30
Dividends received 14.53 2.18
Interest received 8.38 —
Consideration for transfer of the TCS Division (net of cash acquired of Rs. 63.26 crores) (2236.74) —
Advance towards investment in mutual funds — (9.00)

(2791.61) (424.07)
Exceptional items :
Tax on transfer of overseas branches (9.82) —
Sale of long-term investments — 51.08
Expenses incurred on sale of long-term investments — (1.51)

Net cash used in investing activities (2801.43) (374.50)

3. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issue of equity shares (net of issue expenses) 1882.49 —
Borrowings repaid (net) (561.89) —
Dividend including dividend tax paid (357.13) —
Interest paid (10.12) (0.02)
Inter-corporate deposits received from Tata Sons (net) — 375.00

Net cash provided by financing activities 953.35 374.98

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year 118.49 1.12
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2.25 1.13

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 120.74 2.25
Note :
Cash and Cash equivalents as on March 31, 2005 includes equity share  application money of Rs. 4.30 crores and restricted cash of Rs. 0.75 crore.

As per our report attached to the Balance Sheet For and on behalf of the Board
For S. B. BILLIMORIA & CO.
Chartered Accountants Ratan N. Tata

Chairman

N. Venkatram S. Ramadorai
Partner CEO and Managing Director

S. Mahalingam Aman Mehta
Chief Financial Officer Director

S.H. Rajadhyaksha Naresh Chandra
Company Secretary Director

Mumbai, April 19, 2005 Mumbai, April 19, 2005
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As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)
SCHEDULE ‘A’

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised
60,00,00,000 equity shares of Re.1 each 60.00 40.00
(March 31, 2004 : 4,00,00,000 equity shares of Rs.10 each)

Issued, Subscribed and Paid up
48,01,14,809 equity shares of Re.1 each 48.01 36.44
(March 31, 2004 : 3,64,40,002 equity shares of Rs.10 each)

Notes :

a) Equity Shares of Rs.10 each have been sub-divided into ten equity shares
of Re. 1 each pursuant to the resolution passed by the shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting on May 5, 2004.

b) The Authorised Share Capital was increased from 40,00,00,000 to
60,00,00,000 equity shares of Re.1 each pursuant to a shareholders’
resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting on May 5, 2004.

c) The Company allotted 9,11,00,009 equity shares as fully paid up bonus
shares by capitalisation of profits transferred from General Reserve,
pursuant to a shareholders’ resolution passed at the Annual General
Meeting on May 5, 2004.

d) On August 19, 2004, the Company issued 2,27,75,000 equity shares of Re. 1
each under an Initial Public Offer.

e) During the year, the Company issued 18,39,780 equity shares of Re.1 each
under an Employee Share Purchase Scheme.

f) 38,71,75,029 equity shares are held by Tata Sons Limited, the holding
company.

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)
SCHEDULE  ‘B’

RESERVES AND SURPLUS

(a) Securities Premium Account
(i) Premium on issue of equity shares 2120.25 —
(ii) Share issue expenses (53.57) —

2066.68 —
(b) General Reserve

(i) Opening balance 10.00 —
(ii) Bonus shares issued (9.11) —
(iii) Transferred from Profit and Loss account 200.00 10.00

200.89 10.00

(c) Balance in Profit and Loss Account 1005.47 0.64

3273.04 10.64
Note :

Premium on issue of equity shares represents premium of Rs. 849 and
Rs. 1,014.55 per share on issue of 2,27,75,000 equity shares under an
Initial Public Offer and 18,39,780 equity shares under Employee Share
Purchase Scheme, respectively.
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As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)

SCHEDULE  ‘C’

LOANS - SECURED

From Banks

(i) Shipment Loans 66.01 —
(ii) Overdrafts 45.00 —

111.01 —

Note : Shipment loans are secured by pari-passu hypothecation of foreign book debts.
Bank overdrafts are secured against domestic book debts.

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)
SCHEDULE  ‘D’

LOANS - UNSECURED

(a) Short-Term Loans
(i) Inter-corporate deposit from Tata Sons Limited — 375.00

(b) Other Loans
(i) From others 9.73 —

(includes Rs. 0.78 crores repayable within one year)
9.73 375.00

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)
SCHEDULE  ‘E’

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY, (Net)

(a) Deferred Tax Liabilities
(i) Foreign branch profit tax 62.76 —
(ii) Difference in depreciation for accounting and tax purposes 6.31 0.98
(iii) Others 0.08 —

69.15 0.98
(b) Less : Deferred Tax Assets

(i) Retirement Benefits 2.65 —
(ii) Others 2.18 —

4.83 —

64.32 0.98

Note :

Rs. 23.58 crores in respect of foreign branch profit tax was assumed on
transfer of the TCS Division.

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet
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As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)

SCHEDULE  ‘G’

INVESTMENTS

Face Value
In Numbers Currency Per share Description

TRADE INVESTMENTS (at cost)

(i) Subsidiary Companies

(a) Fully Paid Equity Shares (Quoted)

77,44,961 INR 10 CMC Limited 379.89 379.89

(b) Fully Paid Equity Shares (Unquoted)

5,54,23,845 Peso 1 # TCS Iberoamerica S.A. 5.15 —

15,75,300 INR 10 # APOnline Limited — —

1,300 Euro 325 # Tata Consultancy Services Belgium S.A. 1.06 —

400 NLG 1000 # Tata Consultancy Services Netherlands B.V. 15.73 —

1,000 SEK 100 # Tata Consultancy Services Sverige AB 18.89 —

— DM — # Tata Consultancy Services Deutschland GmbH 1.29 —

7,500 FER 100 # Tata Consultancy Services France S.A. 0.66 —

20,000 USD 10 # Tata America International Corporation 452.92 —

61,25,000 SGD 1 # Tata Consultancy Services Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. 14.77 —

54,00,000 INR 10 # Airline Financial Support Services (India) Limited 30.39 —

40,00,002 INR 10 # Aviation Software Development Consultancy

India Ltd. 27.50 —

1,23,24,035 INR 10 TCS Business Transformation Solutions Limited 27.02 —

(1,23,24,035 acquired during the year)

10,48,500 INR 10 WTI Advanced Technology Limited 38.52 —

* ( 6,88,500 acquired during the year)

(ii) Others

Fully Paid Equity Shares (Unquoted)

3,60,000 INR 10 WTI Advanced Technology Limited — 13.25

250 ZAR 1 # Conscripti (Pty) Limited 8.71 —

4,63,865 USD 0.001 # Yodlee, Inc. — —

5,00,000 PhP 100 Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corporation 3.92 —

(5,00,000 acquired during the year)

Fully Paid Preference Shares (Unquoted)

59,78,000 USD 0.0001 # eAF Pte. Ltd. 6.27 —

(39,78,000 shares acquired during the year)

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet
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As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

SCHEDULE  'G' (Contd.) (Refer note 1)

Number of Face Value
units Currency Per unit Description

OTHER INVESTMENTS (at cost )

(i) Investments in Mutual Funds (Unquoted)

(a) Liquid Dividend Plan (including dividend reinvested)

5,10,06,490.620 INR 10 Standard Chartered Mutual Funds - GCCD Cash Fund -

Daily Dividend Plan C 51.01 —

8,56,254.330 INR 1000 Tata Mutual Fund - TLSD Tata Liquid Super

High Investment Fund 95.43 21.18

2,02,30,908.280 INR 10 Alliance Cash Manager - IP Daily Dividend 20.23 —

2,56,70,227.950 INR 10 Prudential ICICI - Liquid Plan Daily Dividend 30.42 —

2,53,76,774.13 INR 10 Birla Bond Plus - Institutional Plan Dividend 25.43 —

3,04,81,443.00 INR 10 Prinicipal Cash Liquid Plan 30.48 —

99,84,834.682 INR 10 JM High Liquid Super Plan - Daily Dividend 10.00 —

99,92,805.180 INR 10 Kotak Floater Long-Term - Weekly Dividend 10.00 —

(b) Growth Fund - Liquid

9,32,430.734 INR 10 Standard Chartered Mutual Funds - GSSG GSSIF -
Investment Plan - Growth option — 1.27

2,49,99,999.998 INR 10 Tata Fixed Horizon Series - 1 Plan - Growth 25.00 —

2,50,00,000.000 INR 10 Prudential ICICI - 1 Year Plus - Growth 25.00 —

2,50,00,000.000 INR 10 Birla Fixed Term Plan Series C - Growth 25.00 —

1,00,00,000.000 INR 10 Principal Deposit Plan - Growth 10.00 —

1,00,01,201.330 INR 10 Kotak FMP Series I - Growth 10.00 —

(c) Growth Fund - Floater —

99,44,905.225 INR 10 JM Floater Fund 10.00 —

12,20,622.660 INR 10 Franklin Templeton Investment -
India Income builder Plan — 1.80

1410.69 417.39

Less : Provision for diminution in value of investments (6.27) —

1404.42 417.39

# Investments of the TCS Division transferred with effect from April 1, 2004 ( Refer note 2).
* Includes 145,000 shares of the TCS Division transferred with effect from April 1, 2004 ( Refer note 2).

Notes : (1) Market value of quoted investment 481.54 378.98
Book value of quoted investment 379.89 379.89
Book value of unquoted investments (net of provision) 1024.53 37.50

(2) Investments, other than in mutual funds are long-term.
(3) During the year, the Company acquired an additional equity

interest in WTI Advanced Technology Limited (“WTI”).
Consequently, WTI became a subsidiary company.

(4) 2,75,00,000 shares in Intelenet Global Services Limited acquired
on transfer of the TCS Division were sold for Rs. 161 crores; the
investment was acquired at its fair value of Rs. 161 crores.

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet
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(5) Current investments bought and sold during the year :

Name No. of Units Face Value Purchase Cost
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

GCCD - Grindlays Cash Fund - Super Inst Plan - Daily Dividend 8,56,51,28,341.688 8565.13 8565.13

TLSD - TATA Liquid Super High Investment Fund - Daily Dividend 3,61,80,337.497 36.18 40.30

Prudential ICICI Liquid Plan Institutional Plus - Daily Dividend 3,37,51,001.983 33.75 40.00

JM High Liquid Super IP - Daily Dividend 6,00,73,833.928 60.07 60.17

Birla Cash Plus - Institutional Premium Plan - Daily Dividend 6,48,72,251.603 64.87 65.00

Principal Cash Management Liquid Institutional
Premium Plan - Daily Dividend 3,99,97,600.144 40.00 40.00

GCCW - Grindlays Cash Fund - Super Inst Plan - Weekly Dividend 2,00,64,277.303 20.06 20.06

DSP Merrill Lynch Liquidity Fund - Daily Dividend 1,00,19,151.660 10.02 10.03

Franklin Templeton - India Income Builder Plan A - Quarterly Dividend 14,875.900 0.01 0.02

TLRD - TATA Liquid Super High Investment Fund - Daily Dividend 3,14,309.963 0.31 0.35

GCCW - Grindlays Cash Fund - Super Inst Plan - Daily Dividend 2,00,71,276.868 20.07 20.07

Deutsche Insta Cash Plus Fund - Institutional Plan - Daily Dividend 1,00,12,005.769 10.01 10.03

Birla Bond Plus Institutional Plan - Dividend - Reinvestment 99,94,630.558 9.99 10.01

DSP Merrill Lynch Short-Term Fund Weekly - Dividend 99,97,880.013 10.00 10.01

Deutsche Short Maturity Fund - Weekly Dividend 99,90,529.362 9.99 10.01

Prudential ICICI Institutional Short-Term Fund - Weekly Dividend 84,46,352.695 8.45 10.01

JM Short Term - Institutional Plan - Weekly Dividend 98,48,476.929 9.85 10.01

JM Floater Fund - Short-Term Plan - Weekly Dividend 99,50,893.633 9.95 10.02

Kotak Liquid (Institutional Premium) - Daily Dividend 81,78,867.797 8.18 10.00

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet
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As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)

SCHEDULE  ‘H’

SUNDRY DEBTORS

(a) Over six months (unsecured)
(i) Considered good 51.74 —
(ii) Considered doubtful 2.24 —

(b) Others (unsecured)
(i) Considered good 1411.71 0.25
(ii) Considered doubtful 1.77 —

1467.46 0.25
Less : Provision for doubtful debts (4.01) —

1463.45 0.25

Due from companies under same management
Tata Infotech Limited 0.50 —
Tata Teleservices Limited 26.62 —

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet

SCHEDULE  ‘I’

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

(a) Cash on hand 5.29 —
(b) Remittances in transit 3.38 —
(c) Bank Balances

(i) with Scheduled Banks
(1) In current accounts 43.22 2.25

(including cheques on hand of Rs. 10.33 crores and Equity share
application monies of Rs. 4.30 crores, previous year Rs. Nil)

(2) deposit accounts 0.08 —
(Under lien to Customs Authority)

(ii) with Foreign Banks - in current accounts
ABN AMRO Bank Berhad, Malaysia 0.09 —
Bank of America N.A., Australia 3.42 —
Credit Suisse, Switzerland 1.05 —
Nordea Bank, Denmark 0.67 —
HSBC Bank plc, UK 16.34 —
K & H Bank, Hungary 1.29 —
Bank of America N.A., Canada 1.11 —
ABN AMRO Bank, Taiwan 0.11 —
Standard Chartered Bank, Singapore 2.02 —
Merita Bank, Finland 1.82 —
HSBC Bank plc, Ireland 2.02 —
Nedbank, South Africa 29.53 —
ASB Bank, New Zealand 0.15 —
Bank of America N.A., USA 5.70 —
Nordea Bank, Finland 2.94 —
Bank of America, Taiwan 0.41 —
Bank Sinopac,Taiwan 0.10 —

120.74 2.25

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)
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As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)

SCHEDULE ‘I’  (Contd.)

(d) Maximum balance outstanding - Foreign Banks
ABN AMRO Bank Berhad, Malaysia 1.58 —
Bank of America N.A., Australia 14.99 —
Credit Suisse, Switzerland 2.12 —
Nordea Bank, Denmark 9.31 —
HSBC Bank plc, UK 116.14 —
K & H Bank, Hungary 16.46 —
Bank of America N.A., Canada 6.35 —
ABN AMRO Bank, Taiwan 1.37 —
Standard Chartered Bank, Singapore 6.03 —
Merita Bank, Finland 5.24 —
HSBC Bank plc, Ireland 10.93 —
Nedbank, South Africa 36.24 —
ASB Bank, New Zealand 2.82 —
Bank of America N.A., USA 129.80 —
Nordea Bank, Finland 4.10 —
Bank of America, Taiwan 4.03 —
Bank Sinopac, Taiwan 0.10 —

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet

SCHEDULE  ‘J’

LOANS AND ADVANCES (Unsecured)

(a) Considered good
(i) Employee loans 144.50 —
(ii) Loans to Director/Officer 0.12 —

(Maximum balance during the year Rs. 0.12 crore, previous year Rs. Nil)
(iii) Loans to Subsidiary Companies 17.64 —
(iv) Advances recoverable in cash or kind or for value to be received 422.83 9.37
(v) Advance tax (including refunds receivable) 15.74 0.40

600.83 9.77

(b) Considered doubtful
(i) Employee loans 0.06 —
(ii) Advances recoverable in cash or kind or for value to be received 2.63 —

2.69 —
Less : Provision for doubtful advances (2.69) —

600.83 9.77

Note : Loans and advances in the nature of loans to subsidiary companies :
TCS Iberoamerica S.A. 16.62 —
Tata Consultancy Services De Espana, S.A. 1.02 —

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)
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As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)

SCHEDULE  ‘K’

CURRENT LIABILITIES

(a) Sundry Creditors 445.68 227.04
(b) Subsidiary companies 98.80 —
(c) Advances from customers 44.22 —
(d) Advance billing and deferred revenues 75.97 —
(e) Unclaimed Dividend 0.67 —
(f) Equity share application monies refundable 4.30 —
(g) Other Liabilities 44.16 —
(h) Interest accrued but not due 0.48 0.18

714.28 227.22

Note :

There were no amounts due to small scale undertakings which are
identified based on information available with the Company as at
March 31, 2005 (March 31, 2004 : Rs. Nil).

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet

SCHEDULE  ‘L’

PROVISIONS

(a) Current income taxes 99.68 —
(b) Contingencies 49.45 —
(c) Employee retirement benefits 104.72 —
(d) Proposed Dividend 240.06 4.37
(e) Tax on Dividend 33.67 0.56

527.58 4.93

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)
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2005  2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)

Schedules forming part of the Profit and Loss Account

SCHEDULE  ‘M’

CONSULTANCY SERVICES

(a) Services Rendered 7817.92 —
(b) Sale of Equipment 60.08 —
(c) Exchange Loss (23.52) —

7854.48 —

2005  2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)

SCHEDULE  ‘N’

OTHER INCOME

(a) Interest (includes Rs. 0.35 crore from a foreign subsidiary company)
(Tax deducted at source Rs.0.56 crore) 8.58 —

(b) Dividend from a subsidiary company (trade investment) 4.26 —
(c) Dividends from other long-term investments (trade investments) 6.51 1.74
(d) Dividends from mutual funds (other investments) 3.76 0.44
(e) Profit on redemption of mutual funds 0.13 0.06
(f) Rent 3.46 2.05
(g) Exchange gain ( net ) 35.40 —
(h) Miscellaneous income 12.90 —

75.00 4.29

2005  2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)

SCHEDULE  ‘O’

EMPLOYEE COSTS

(a) Salaries, Wages and Bonus 1460.26 —
(b) Contributions to —

(i) Provident Fund 82.55 —
(ii) Superannuation Scheme 60.55 —
(iii) Employees State Insurance Scheme 0.07 —
(iv) Gratuity 45.36 —

(c) Staff welfare expenses 115.04 —

1763.83 —
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SCHEDULE  ‘P’

OPERATION AND OTHER EXPENSES

(a) Overseas business expenses 2327.59 —
(b) Services rendered by business associates and others 410.22 —
(c) Software expenses 229.69 —
(d) Product expenses 151.00 —
(e) Communication 115.63 —
(f) Travel Expense 78.89 —
(g) Rent 80.85 —
(h) Legal and professional 68.01 —
(i) Repairs and maintenance 50.80 —
(j) Electricity 44.59 —
(k) Bad debts 7.42 —
(l) Recruitment and training expenses 32.50 —
(m) Diminution in value of long-term investments 6.27 —
(n) Commission and brokerage 8.29 —
(o) Motor car expenses 27.27 —
(p) Provision for doubtful debts 4.01 —
(q) Printing and stationery 12.21 —
(r) Insurance 15.11 —
(s) Rates and taxes 11.12 —
(t) Provision for doubtful advances 2.69 —
(u) Entertainment 5.18 —
(v) Loss on sale of fixed assets (net) 1.39 —
(w) Other expenses 93.75 0.03

3784.48 0.03

Notes : (i) Overseas business expenses include :
Travel expenses 151.91 —
Employee allowances 2101.69 —

(ii) Repairs and maintenance includes :
Buildings 17.21 —
Office and computer equipment 28.67 —

2005 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer note 1)

Schedules forming part of the Profit and Loss Account
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SCHEDULE 'Q'

NOTES TO ACCOUNTS

1) Significant Accounting Policies

a) Basis of Preparation

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention and the requirements of the Companies Act,
1956.

Comparative figures exclude the TCS Division, which was acquired on April 1, 2004. Consequently, the comparative
figures are not comparable with the figures for the year ended and as at March 31, 2005.

b) Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires the management of the Company to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported balances of assets and liabilities and disclosures relating to the contingent liabilities as at the
date of the financial statements and reported amounts of income and expenses during the period. Example of such
estimates include provisions for doubtful debts, employee retirement benefit plans, provision for income taxes, accounting
for contract costs expected to be incurred to complete software development and the useful lives of fixed assets.

c) Fixed Assets

Fixed Assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Costs include all expenses incurred to bring the assets to
its present location and condition. Exchange differences on translation of foreign currency loans obtained to purchase
fixed assets from countries outside India are included in the cost of such assets.

Fixed Assets excluding computers and individually costing Rs. 50,000 or less are not capitalised except when they are
part of a larger capital investment programme.

d) Depreciation

Depreciation other than freehold land and capital work-in-progress, is charged so as to write-off the cost of assets, on
the following basis :

Leasehold land Straight line Lease period

Buildings (Freehold and Leasehold) Written down value 5%

Leasehold improvements Straight line Lease period

Computer equipment Straight line 50%

Motor cars Written down value 25.89%

Office equipment Written down value 13.91%

Electrical installations Written down value 13.91%

Furniture and fixtures Straight line 100%

e) Operating Lease

Lease arrangements where the risks and rewards incident to ownership of an asset substantially vest with the lessor, are
recognised as operating leases. Lease rents under operating leases are recognised in the profit and loss account on a
straight line basis.

f ) Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its fixed assets to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of impairment loss. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected from the continuing
use of the asset and from its disposal are discounted to their present value using a pre-discount rate that reflects the
current market assessments of time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Reversal of impairment loss is recognised immediately as income in the profit and loss account.
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SCHEDULE 'Q'

NOTES TO ACCOUNTS (Contd.)

g) Investments

Long-term investments are stated at cost less provision for other than temporary diminution in value. Current investments
comprising mutual funds are stated at the lower of cost and fair value, determined on a portfolio basis.

h) Retirement benefits

Contributions to Provident and Superannuation Funds are recognised as expense when incurred.

Liability for gratuity and encashable leave are actuarially determined at the balance sheet date.

i) Revenue recognition

Revenues from contracts priced on a time and materials basis are recognised when services are rendered and related
costs are incurred.

Revenues from turnkey contracts, which are generally time bound fixed price contracts, are recognised over the life of
the contract using the proportionate completion method, with contract costs determining the degree of completion.
Foreseeable losses on such contracts are recognised when probable.

Revenues from the sale of computer equipment are recognised upon delivery, which is when title passes to the customer.

Revenues from maintenance contracts are recognised pro-rata over the period of the contract.

Dividends are recorded when declared. Interest income is recognised on time proportion basis.

j) Research and Development

Research and Development expenditure is recognised in the profit and loss account when incurred. Fixed assets utilised
for research and development are capitalised and depreciated in accordance with the depreciation rates set out in
paragraph 1(d).

k) Taxation

Current income tax expense comprise taxes on income from operations in India and foreign tax jurisdictions. Income tax
payable in India is determined in accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961. Tax expense relating to
overseas operations is determined in accordance with tax laws applicable in countries where such operations are domiciled.

Deferred tax expense or benefit is recognised on timing differences being the difference between taxable income and
accounting income that originate in one period and are capable of reversal in one or more subsequent periods.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets in respect of unabsorbed depreciation and carry forward of losses are recognised only to the extent
that there is virtual certainty that sufficient taxable income will be available to realise these assets. All other deferred tax
assets are recognised only to the extent that there is reasonable certainty that sufficient future taxable income will be
available to realise these assets.

l) Foreign currency transactions

Income and expenses in foreign currencies are converted at exchange rates prevailing on the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet
date. Premium or discount on forward exchange contracts are amortised and recognised in the profit and loss account
over the period of the contract. Forward exchange contracts outstanding at the balance sheet date are stated at fair
values and any gains or losses are recognised in the profit and loss account.

Exchange differences, other than on foreign currency loans to acquire fixed assets from countries outside India are
recognised in the profit and loss account.

m) Employee Share Purchase Scheme

In accordance with the Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme Guidelines, 1999 issued
by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”), the excess of market price one day prior to the date of issue of
the shares over the price at which they are issued is recognised as employee compensation cost.
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SCHEDULE 'Q'

NOTES TO ACCOUNTS (Contd.)

2) Transfer of the TCS Division of Tata Sons Limited (“the TCS Division”)

a) In accordance with the terms of the Scheme of Arrangement as sanctioned by the High Court of Judicature at Bombay,
the TCS Division has been transferred (“the Transfer”) to and vested in the Company as a going concern with effect from
April 1, 2004, which is the Appointed Date under the Scheme. The Scheme was effective on August 9, 2004 upon the
execution of the underwriting agreement for the Initial Public Offer. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of TCS Division
as at August 9, 2004 have been transferred to the Company for a cash consideration of Rs. 2300 crores. Transfer
consideration paid for fixed assets and investments in subsidiaries and associates has been allocated on the basis of
their respective fair values as determined by independent valuers.

b) From the Appointed Date up to the date on which the Scheme is effective, Tata Sons Limited held the TCS Division in
trust for and on account of the Company. Accordingly, the results for the year ended March 31, 2005 include the results
of the erstwhile TCS Division for the period April 1, 2004 to August 9, 2004.

3) On August 19, 2004, consequent to an Initial Public Offer, the Company issued and allotted 2,27,75,000 equity shares of Re.1
each at a premium of Rs. 849 per share. The issued share capital increased by Rs. 2.28 crores and a premium of Rs.1933.60 crores
has been credited to the Securities Premium Account.

4) The Company issued and allotted 17,49,810 shares to its employees and directors and 89,970 shares to employees and
directors of its subsidiaries. The issued share capital increased by Rs. 0.18 crore and Rs. 186.65 crores has been credited to
Securities Premium Account. The one time employee compensation charge amounting to Rs. 186.65 crores has been disclosed
as an exceptional item in the profit and loss account.

5) Provision for contingencies (Rs. in crores)

Provident Fund Other Claims Total

Provision assumed on transfer of the TCS Division 27.57 14.01 41.58

Provision made during the year 7.87 — 7.87

Balance as at March 31, 2005 35.44 14.01 49.45

(i) Provident Fund

On November 24, 1998 the Regional Provident Fund Commissioner of Mumbai (RPFC) issued an order stating that the
erstwhile TCS Division was rendering “expert services” in accordance with a notification issued by Central Government
of India under the Provident Funds Act, 1952 (the PF Act), in which the RPFC sought to cover the erstwhile TCS Division
under the PF Act and claimed administrative charges. The erstwhile TCS Division filed a legal case against the order in the
High Court of Mumbai.

Pending resolution of the matter, a provision of Rs. 35.44 crores has been made based on the management’s estimate of
the claim for administrative charges. Interest and penalty, if any, has not been determined.

The management intends to continue legal action against the claim and to defend its position and believes, based on
counsel’s advice, that the probability of the RPFC prevailing is low.

(ii) Others

Includes claims made for reimbursement of cost of investment made in an overseas entity.

6) Obligation towards non-cancellable operating lease :

Lease Obligation 2005 2004
(Rs. in crores) (Rs. in crores)

Due not later than one year 48.02 —

Due later than one year but not later than five years 120.88 —

Later than five years 44.74 —

Total 213.64 —

Rental expense of Rs. 25.23 crores in respect of obligation under operating leases have been recognised in the profit and loss
account (previous year : Nil)
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SCHEDULE 'Q'

NOTES TO ACCOUNTS (Contd.)

7) Research and development expenditure aggregating Rs. 21.29 crores (Previous Year: Rs. Nil) was incurred during the year.

8) Under the EVA based incentive scheme (“the Scheme”) followed by the erstwhile TCS Division, employees were eligible for
incentive based on TCS Division’s performance in the immediately preceding year. During the year ended March 31, 2005, the
Company has revised the Scheme, under which employees are now eligible for incentive based on the Company’s performance
in the current year. Consequently liability for additional performance incentive of Rs. 102 crores has been recognised in the
year ended March 31, 2005.

9) Managerial Remuneration (Rs. in crores)

2005

1. Managing Director

(a) Salaries (including Company contribution to Provident and Superannuation funds) 0.22

(b) Commission 0.65

(c) Estimated value of perquisites and allowances 0.08

0.95

2. Non Whole-time Directors

(a) Commission 1.00

(b) Sitting fees 0.02

1.02

Total Remuneration 1.97

Note : The above figures do not include provisions for encashable leave and gratuity as separate actuarial valuations are
not available for the Managing Director.

3. Computation of Net Profit in accordance with Section 309 (5) of the Companies Act, 1956.

Profit before taxes and after exceptional items 2308.65

Add :

(a) Managerial Remuneration 1.97

(b) Provision for bad and doubtful debts and advances 6.70

(c) Provision for diminution in value of long-term investments 6.27

14.94

Less :

(a) Profit on redemption of mutual funds 0.13

Net Profit as per Section 309 (5) of the Companies Act, 1956 2323.46

Commission :

(a) Managing Director 0.65

(b) Non Whole-time Directors 1.00

Note:
Payment of managerial remuneration is subject to approval of the shareholders.
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SCHEDULE 'Q'

NOTES TO ACCOUNTS (Contd.)

10) Auditors’ remuneration

2005 2004
(Rs. in crores) (Rs. in crores)

Fees as auditors including quarterly audits
[including service tax Rs. 0.09 crore] 0.99 0.01

In other capacities :

Tax Audit
[including service tax Rs. 0.02 crore] 0.17 —
Other Services 0.07 —

Reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses 0.05 —

The remuneration disclosed above excludes fees of Rs. 0.60 crore (Previous year: Rs. Nil) for professional services rendered by
a firm of auditors in which the partners of the firm of statutory auditors are partners.

11) Segment reporting

The Company has identified geographic segments as its primary segment and industry segments as its secondary segment.

Geographic segments of the Company are Americas, Europe, India and Others.

Secondary segments of the Company are Banking, Financial Services and Insurance (BFSI), which are considered as single
segment, Manufacturing, Retail and Distribution, Telecom and Others. Others comprise Transportation, Life Sciences and
Healthcare, Energy and Utilities, s-Governance and sale of products.

Revenue and expense directly attributable to segments are reported under each reportable segment. Expenses incurred in
India on behalf of other segments and not directly identifiable to each reportable segment have been allocated to each
segment on the basis of associated revenues of each segment. All other expenses which are not attributable or allocable to
segments have been disclosed as unallocable expenses.

Assets and liabilities that are directly attributable to segments are disclosed under each reportable segment. All other assets
and liabilities are disclosed as unallocable. Fixed assets have not been allocated between segments as these are used
interchangeably between segments.

The Company did not have any operating segment in the year ended March 31, 2004.
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SCHEDULE 'Q'

NOTES TO ACCOUNTS (Contd.)

11) Segment reporting (Contd.)

Year ended March 31, 2005 (Rs. in crores)

Particulars Geographic Segment

Americas Europe India Others Total

Revenue 5047.82 2057.42 582.25 340.09 8027.58

Identified operating expenses 2887.91 1101.84 380.97 181.87 4552.59

Allocated expenses 508.30 232.98 128.55 39.54 909.37

Segment result 1651.61 722.60 72.73 118.68 2565.62

Unallocable expenses 331.97

Operating income 2233.65

Other income 75.00

Profit before taxes 2308.65

Income tax expense 280.76

Exceptional items 196.47

Net profit 1831.42

As at March 31, 2005

Segment Assets 878.53 621.71 212.40 153.94 1866.58

Unallocable assets 2881.39

Total Assets 4747.97

Segment Liabilities 473.83 243.50 91.54 50.00 858.87

Unallocable liabilities 568.05

Total Liabilities 1426.92

Business Segment

The following business segments individually contribute 10% or more of the Company's revenues and segment assets:

(Rs. in crores)

Revenues Segment Assets
for the year ended as at

March 31, 2005 March 31, 2005

BFSI 3119.48 675.63

Manufacturing 1463.23 238.69

Retail and Distribution 512.73 90.86

Telecom 1281.49 229.93
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SCHEDULE 'Q'

NOTES TO ACCOUNTS (Contd.)

12) Related Party Disclosures
A. Related Parties and their Relationship

I. Holding Company
� Tata Sons Limited

II. (A) Subsidiaries (Direct Holding)
� CMC Limited
� AP Online Limited
� Tata America International Corporation
� TCS Iberoamerica S.A.
� Tata Consultancy Services Belgium S.A.
� Tata Consultancy Services Deutschland GmbH
� Tata Consultancy Services Netherlands B.V.
� Tata Consultancy Services Sverige AB
� Tata Consultancy Services France S.A.
� Tata Consultancy Services Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd.
� Airline Financial Support Services (India) Limited
� Aviation Software Development Consultancy India Ltd.
� WTI Advanced Technology Limited
� TCS Business Transformation Solutions Limited

(B) Subsidiaries (Indirect Holding)
� CMC Americas Inc.
� Tata Information Technology (Shanghai) Company Limited
� TCS Solution Center S.A., Uruguay
� TCS Argentina S.A.
� TCS Brazil S/C Limiteda
� Tata Consultancy Services De Mexico S.A. De C.V.
� TCS Inversiones Chile Limitada
� Tata Consultancy Services De España S.A.
� Tata Consultancy Services Do Brasil S.A.
� Tata Consultancy Services Chile S.A.
� TCS Italia SRL
� Tata Consultancy Services Japan Limited
� Tata Consultancy Services Malaysia SDN. BHD.

III. Fellow Subsidiaries
� Tata Infotech Limited
� Tata AIG General Insurance Company Limited
� TCE Consulting Engineers Limited
� E2E Serwiz Solutions Pvt. Limited
� Space TV Pvt. Limited
� Tata Housing Development Company Limited
� Tata Teleservices Limited
� Tata Teleservices (Maharashtra) Limited
� Tata Internet Services Limited
� Tata Limited

IV. Associate and Joint Ventures
� Conscripti (Pty) Limited
� Intelenet Global Services Limited (part of the year)
� Tata Infomedia Limited (previous year)

V. Key Management Personnel
� Mr. S. Ramadorai (Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director)
� Mr. S. Mahalingam (Chief Financial Officer)
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SCHEDULE 'Q'

NOTES TO ACCOUNTS (Contd.)

B. Transactions with related parties

For the year ended March 31, 2005 (Rs. in crores)

Particulars Holding Subsidiaries Fellow Associate/ Key Management Total
Company Subsidiaries Joint Venture Personnel

Issue of Bonus Shares
(8,19,90,005 shares of Face 8.20 — — — — 8.20
value of Re. 1 each) — — — — — —

Issue of Shares under Employee — 9.14 — — 8.56 17.70
Stock Purchase Scheme — — — — — —

Brand Equity Contribution 18.53 — — — — 18.53
— — — — — —

Deposits received — — — — — —
377.30 — — — — 377.30

Purchase of fixed assets — 27.20 0.87 0.13 — 28.20
— — 0.11 — — 0.11

Loans and advances 0.04 12.65 0.67 10.00 — 23.36
— — — — — —

Purchase of investment — 3.92 — — — 3.92
379.89 — — 14.65 — 394.54

Consideration for transfer of 2300.00 — — — — 2300.00
the TCS Division — — — — — —

Sale of investment — — — — — —
9.75 — — — — 9.75

Revenues — 4655.44 73.81 31.56 — 4760.81
— — — — — —

Interest income — 0.35 — — — 0.35
— — — — — —

Dividend income — 4.26 — 6.51 — 10.77
— — — 1.74 — 1.74

Rent income — 0.21 1.30 — — 1.51
2.05 — — — — 2.05

Other income — 0.12 — — — 0.12
— — — — — —

Purchase of Goods, Services 3.96 235.99 38.23 7.54 — 285.72
and Facilities — — — — — —

Bad debts written off — 0.04 — — — 0.04
— — — — — —

Provision for doubtful debts/ — 3.12 1.74 0.21 — 5.07
advances — — — — — —

Dividend paid 255.60 — — — 0.05 255.65
— — — — — —

Other expenses — — — — — —
0.20 — — — — 0.20

Guarantee — 47.67 — — — 47.67
— — — — — —

Remuneration — — — — 1.36 1.36
— — — — — —
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SCHEDULE 'Q'

NOTES TO ACCOUNTS (Contd.)

C. Balances with related parties (Rs. in crores)

Particulars Holding Subsidiaries Fellow Associate/ Key Management Total
Company Subsidiaries Joint Venture Personnel

As at March 31, 2005

Debtors, Loans and Advances 1.10 748.39 1.04 12.55 0.04 763.12
0.25 — — — — 0.25

Inter-corporate deposit — — — — — —
375.00 — — — — 375.00

Creditors, Advances 18.53 169.70 3.30 3.38 — 194.91
from Customers 226.80 — — — — 226.80

* Previous year figures are in italics

D. Disclosure in respect of material transactions with related parties

Particulars 2005 2004
(Rs. in crores) (Rs. in crores)

Purchase of Fixed Assets
CMC Limited 27.13 —

Revenues
Tata America International Corporation 4334.43 —

Purchase of Goods, Services and Facilities
CMC Limited 65.18 —
Tata America International Corporation 60.53 —

Debtors, Loans and Advances
Tata America International Corporation 555.70 —

Sundry Creditors, Advance from Customers
Tata America International Corporation 69.23 —
CMC Limited 35.76 —

13) Contingent Liabilities

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
(Rs. in crores) (Rs. in crores)

Claims against the Company not
acknowledged as debt (See note below) 104.71 —

Guarantees given by the Company on behalf of subsidiaries 47.67 —

Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debt includes :

a) Rs. 72.04 crores in respect of claims made by lessors for properties leased under tenancy agreements. These claims are
being contested in the courts by the Company. The management does not expect these claims to succeed. An amount
of Rs. 9.34 crores has been accrued under other liabilities.

b) Rs. 40.90 crores in respect of a claim for damages made by a customer. No provision has been made in these financial
statements as management considers the probability of the claim succeeding to be remote.

14) Commitments

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for Rs. 255.38 crores
(Previous year:  Rs. 0.33 crore).

The Company has undertaken to provide continued financial support to its subsidiaries, TCS Iberoamerica S.A. and APOnline
Limited.
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SCHEDULE 'Q'

NOTES TO ACCOUNTS (Contd.)

2005 2004
(Rs. in crores) (Rs. in crores)

15) Income in Foreign Currency

(a) Consultancy Services (including exchange loss) 7471.88 —
(b) Software Licences 5.09 —
(c) Interest Income 0.52 —
(d) Dividend 6.51 —
(e) Other Income 1.25 —

16) Expenditure in Foreign Currency (subject to deduction of tax where applicable)

(a) Royalty 0.36 —
(b) Professional Fees 43.47 —
(c) Interest 8.33 —
(d) Business Associate Expenses 263.35 —
(e) Communication Expenses 53.41 —
(f) Foreign Taxes 230.17 —
(g) Overseas Business Expenses 2185.27 —
(h) Travelling & Conveyance 24.92 —
(i) Software Expenses 96.48 —
(j) Others 173.32 —

17) Disclosure required by Clause 32 of the Listing Agreement

Amount of loans and advances in nature of loans outstanding from subsidiaries in the year ended March 31, 2005

Subsidiary Outstanding as at Maximum amount Investment Investment in
Company March 31, 2005 outstanding in shares of shares of

during the year the Company subsidiaries of
the Company

(No. of (No. of
(Rs. in crores) (Rs. in crores) shares) shares)

(i) TCS Iberoamerica S.A. 16.62 16.62 — 88,75,206*

(ii) Tata Consultancy
Services De España S.A. 1.02 1.17 — —

* Name of the Subsidiary (No. of shares)

TCS Brazil S/C Limiteda 9,18,800

Tata Consultancy Services De Mexico S.A. De C.V. 26,64,406

TCS Inversiones Chile Limitada 10,000

Tata Consultancy Services De España S.A. 15,000

Tata Consultancy Services Chile S.A. 2,55,000

TCS Argentina S.A. 12,000

TCS Solution Center S.A., Uruguay 50,00,000
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Balance Sheet Abstract and Company's General Business Profile

I. Registration Details

Registration No. 84781 State Code 11

Balance Sheet Date 31st March, 2005

II. Capital Raised during the year (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Public Issue* Rights Issue

24615 Nil

Bonus Issue Private Placement

91100 Nil

* Including 18,39,780 shares of Re. 1 each allotted under Employee Share Purchase Scheme

III. Position of Mobilisation and Deployment of Funds (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Total Liabilities Total Assets

35061070 35061070

Sources of Funds Paid-up Capital Reserves and Surplus

480115 32730375

Secured Loans Unsecured Loans

1110109 97300

Other Liabilities

643171

Application of Funds Net Fixed Assets Investment

10284360 14044099

Net Current Assets Misc. Expenditure

10732611 —

IV. Performance of the Company (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Income Total Expenditure

81025755 57939225

Exceptional Items Profit/(Loss) Before Tax

1964767 23086530*

Earnings per Share in Rs.
Profit/(Loss) After Tax (Weighted Average)

18314187 38.93

Dividend Rate %

1150%#

*excluding exceptional items
#including interim dividend of 650% paid during the year.

V. Generic Names of Principal Products/Services of Company (as per monetary terms)

Item Code No. (ITC Code) 85249009

Product Description Computer Software
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TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
TATA CONSULTANCY SERVICES LIMITED

1. We have audited the attached consolidated balance sheet of Tata Consultancy Services Limited (‘the Company’), and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred as ‘the TCS Group’) as at March 31, 2005 and also the consolidated profit and loss account
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended on that date annexed thereto. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management and have been prepared by the management on the basis of separate
financial statements and other financial information regarding components. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in India. Those Standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

3. We did not audit the financial statements of certain subsidiaries, whose financial statements reflect total assets of Rs. 1284.68
crores as at March 31, 2005, the total revenue of Rs. 5679.76 crores and net cash inflows amounting to Rs. 14.85 crores for the
year then ended. These financial statements and other financial information have been audited by other auditors whose
reports have been furnished to us, and our opinion is based solely on the report of other auditors.

4. We report that the consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Company’s management in accordance with
the requirements of the Accounting Standards (AS) 21, Consolidated Financial Statements, Accounting Standards (AS) 23,
Accounting for Investments in Associates in Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting Standard (AS) 27, Financial
Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

5. Based on our audit and on consideration of the reports of other auditors on separate financial statements and on the other
financial information of the components, and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us,
we are of the opinion that the attached consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view in conformity with the
accounting principles generally accepted in India:

(i) in the case of the consolidated balance sheet, of the state of affairs of the TCS Group as at March 31, 2005;

(ii) in the case of consolidated profit and loss account, of the profit for the year ended on that date; and

(iii) in the case of consolidated cash flow statement, of the cash flows for the year ended on that date.

For S. B. BILLIMORIA & CO.
Chartered Accountants

N. VENKATRAM
Partner

Membership No. 71387
Mumbai, April 19, 2005

Auditors' Report on Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2005

As per our report attached For and on behalf of the Board
For S. B. BILLIMORIA & CO.
Chartered Accountants Ratan N. Tata

Chairman

N. Venkatram S. Ramadorai
Partner CEO and Managing Director

S. Mahalingam Aman Mehta
Chief Financial Officer Director

S.H. Rajadhyaksha Naresh Chandra
Company Secretary Director

Mumbai, April 19, 2005 Mumbai, April 19, 2005

Schedule Page As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)

SOURCES OF FUNDS :

1. SHAREHOLDERS’ FUND
(a) Share Capital A 48.01 36.44
(b) Reserves and Surplus B 3429.53 10.64

3477.54 47.08
2. MINORITY INTEREST 89.74 80.07
3. LOAN FUNDS

(a) Secured Loans C 127.80 17.42
(b) Unsecured Loans D 75.21 423.76

203.01 441.18
4. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY (NET) E 66.00 7.78

5. TOTAL FUNDS EMPLOYED 3836.29 576.11

APPLICATION OF FUNDS :

6. FIXED ASSETS F
(a) Gross Block 1170.65 281.99
(b) Less : Accumulated Depreciation (155.93) (0.95)

(c) Net Block 1014.72 281.04
(d) Capital Work-in-Progress 124.05 2.07

1138.77 283.11
7. GOODWILL (ON CONSOLIDATION) 478.89 296.15
8. INVESTMENTS G 422.07 37.50
9. CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS AND ADVANCES

(a) Inventory H 32.00 18.48
(b) Unbilled Revenues 219.84 114.14
(c) Sundry Debtors I 2055.96 186.49
(d) Cash and Bank Balances J 274.69 27.77
(e) Loans and Advances K 667.61 33.49

3250.10 380.37
10. CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

(a) Current Liabilities L 905.19 403.44
(b) Provisions M 548.35 17.58

1453.54 421.02

11. NET CURRENT ASSETS [ (9) less (10) ] 1796.56 (40.65)

12. TOTAL ASSETS (NET) 3836.29 576.11

13. NOTES TO ACCOUNTS R
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2005

As per our report attached to the Balance Sheet For and on behalf of the Board
For S. B. BILLIMORIA & CO.
Chartered Accountants Ratan N. Tata

Chairman

N. Venkatram S. Ramadorai
Partner CEO and Managing Director

S. Mahalingam Aman Mehta
Chief Financial Officer Director

S.H. Rajadhyaksha Naresh Chandra
Company Secretary Director

Mumbai, April 19, 2005 Mumbai, April 19, 2005

INCOME
1. Consultancy services N 9550.60 —
2. Software licences 197.87 —
3. Other income O 75.89 4.30

9824.36 4.30
EXPENDITURE

4. Employee costs P 2282.83 —
5. Operation and Other expenses Q 4631.57 0.03

6914.40 0.03
PROFIT BEFORE ADDITIONAL INCENTIVE, INTEREST,
DEPRECIATION, TAXES AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS 2909.96 4.27

6. Additional Performance Incentive 102.00 —
7. Interest 15.45 0.20
8. Depreciation F 158.82 0.84

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS 2633.69 3.23
9. PROVISION FOR TAXES

(a) Current tax (358.57) (1.11)
(b) Deferred tax (38.42) (0.38)
PROFIT BEFORE EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS 2236.70 1.74

10. Loss on sale of investment in associate — (1.06)
11. Tax on transfer of overseas subsidiaries and branches (65.02) —
12. Charge on account of Employee Stock Purchase Scheme (186.65) —

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE MINORITY INTEREST
AND SHARE OF PROFIT OF ASSOCIATE 1985.03 0.68

13. Minority Interest (9.12) —
14. Share of profit of associate 0.99 6.00

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1976.90 6.68
15. Balance brought forward from previous year 0.64 8.90

AMOUNT AVAILABLE FOR APPROPRIATIONS 1977.54 15.58
16. APPROPRIATIONS

(a) Interim dividend 312.07 —
(b) Proposed final dividend 240.06 4.38
(c) Tax on dividend 75.42 0.56
(d) General Reserve 202.67 10.00
(e) Capital Redemption Reserve 0.36 —
(f) Balance carried to Balance Sheet 1146.96 0.64

1977.54 15.58

17. Earnings per share - Basic and diluted (Rs.)
- excluding exceptional items 47.37 0.17
- including exceptional items 42.02 0.15

Weighted average number of shares 47,04,61,111 45,55,00,029
18. NOTES TO ACCOUNTS R

Schedule Page 2005 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)



Annual Report 2004-05

90

Particulars 2005 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)
1. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net profit before tax and exceptional items 2633.69 3.22
Adjustment for :
Depreciation 158.82 0.84
Provision for doubtful debts and advances 38.83 —
Diminution in value of long-term investments 6.30 0.02
Interest expense 15.45 0.20
Loss on sale of fixed assets (net) 0.14 —
Unrealised exchange gain (16.19) —
Dividend income (4.25) (2.19)
Interest income (10.71) —
Profit on sales of investments (net) (0.57) (0.06)

Operating profit before working capital changes 2821.51 2.03
Inventories (13.52) —
Unbilled revenues 240.47 —
Sundry Debtors (225.70) —
Loans and Advances 71.72 0.08
Current Liabilities and Provisions (446.68) —
Cash generated from Operations 2,447.80 2.11
Income taxes paid (355.75) (1.47)

Net cash provided by operating activities 2092.05 0.64

2. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of fixed assets (367.76) (3.99)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 4.65 —
Purchase of trade and other investments (428.14) (66.36)
Proceeds from sale of investments 63.88 43.93
Deposit received from Tata Sons (net) — 2.30
Dividends received 4.25 2.19
Dividend received from associate 6.51 —
Interest received 9.23 —
Consideration for transfer of the TCS Division and its subsidiaries and associate
(net of cash acquired of Rs. 152.25 crores) (2147.75) —
Acquisition of subsidiaries and purchase of business (45.10) (354.37)
Sale of interest in joint venture (net of cash of Rs. 4.51 crores) 156.49 —
Share repurchased by a subsidiary (0.36) —
Investment in associate — (13.25)
Advance towards investments in mutual funds — (9.00)

(2744.10) (398.55)
Exceptional item :
Tax on transfer of overseas subsidiaries and branches (65.02) —
Sale of long-term investments — 51.08
Expenses incurred on sale of long-term investments — (1.51)

Net cash used in investing activities (2809.12) (348.98)

3. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issue of equity shares (net of issue expenses) 1882.49 —
Borrowings repaid (net) (542.13) —
Dividend including dividend tax paid (362.19) —
Interest paid (17.15) (0.02)
Inter corporate deposits received from Tata Sons (net) — 375.00
Proceeds from issue of shares by subsidiary 2.23 —

Net cash provided by financing activities 963.25 374.98

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year 246.18 26.64
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 27.77 1.13
Effect of exchange on cash and cash equivalents 0.74 —

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 274.69 27.77

Note :
1. Cash and cash equivalents as at March 31, 2005 includes equity share application money of Rs. 4.30 crores and restricted cash of Rs. 4.81 crores.

Statement of Consolidated Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2005

As per our report attached to the Balance Sheet For and on behalf of the Board
For S. B. BILLIMORIA & CO.
Chartered Accountants Ratan N. Tata

Chairman

N. Venkatram S. Ramadorai
Partner CEO and Managing Director

S. Mahalingam Aman Mehta
Chief Financial Officer Director

S.H. Rajadhyaksha Naresh Chandra
Company Secretary Director

Mumbai, April 19, 2005 Mumbai, April 19, 2005
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SCHEDULE  ‘A’

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised
60,00,00,000 equity shares of Re.1 each 60.00 40.00
(March 31, 2004 : 4,00,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs.10 each)

Issued, Subscribed and Paid up
48,01,14,809 equity shares of Re.1 each 48.01 36.44
(March 31, 2004 : 3,64,40,002 Equity Shares of Rs.10 each)

Notes :

a) On August 19, 2004, the Company issued 2,27,75,000 equity shares of
Re. 1 each under an Initial Public Offer.

b) During the year, the Company issued 18,39,780 equity shares of Re.1
each under an Employee Share Purchase Scheme.

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Balance Sheet
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Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)

SCHEDULE  ‘B’

RESERVE AND SURPLUS

(a) Securities Premium Account
(i) Premium on issue of equity shares 2120.25 —
(ii) Share issue expenses (53.57) —

2066.68 —
(b) General Reserve

(i) Opening Balance 10.00 —
(ii) Bonus shares issued (9.11) —
(iii) Transferred from Profit and Loss Account 202.67 10.00

203.56 10.00

(c) Capital Redemption Reserve 0.36 —

(d) Capital Reserve (on consolidation) 13.63 —

(e) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (1.66) —

(f) Balance in Profit & Loss Account 1146.96 0.64

3429.53 10.64
Note :

Premium on issue of Equity Shares represents premium of Rs. 849 and
Rs. 1,014.55 per share on issue of 2,27,75,000 equity shares under an Initial
Public Offer and 18,39,780 equity shares under Employee Share Purchase
Scheme, respectively.

SCHEDULE  ‘C’

LOANS - SECURED

From Banks
(i) Shipment Loans 66.01 —
(ii) Overdrafts 61.72 17.42

From Others
(i) Obligations under finance lease 0.07 —

127.80 17.42

Notes :

1. Shipment loans are secured by pari-passu hypothecation of foreign
book debts.

2. Banks overdrafts are secured by domestic book debts, hypothecation
of inventories and other current assets.

3. Obligations under finance lease are secured against fixed assets
obtained under finance lease agreement.

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)



93

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Balance Sheet

SCHEDULE ‘D’

LOANS - UNSECURED

From Banks
(i) Short-term loans from banks 35.00 10.00
(ii) Interest accrued and due — 2.02

From Others
(i) Inter-Corporate deposits from Tata Sons Limited — 375.00
(ii) Commercial Papers 30.00 20.00
(iii) From Others 10.21 16.74

75.21 423.76

Notes :
1. Loans repayable within one year Rs. 65.78 crores

(March 31, 2004 : Rs. 423.76 crores).
2. Loans from Government of India (included under 'From Others')

include interest free loans of Rs. Nil (March 31, 2004 : Rs. 5.49 crores)

SCHEDULE  ‘E’

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY, (Net)

a) Deferred Tax Liabilities
(i) Foreign branch profit tax 62.76 —
(ii) Difference in depreciation for

accounting and tax purposes 15.72 —
(iii) Others 2.31 7.78

80.79 7.78
b) Less : Deferred Tax Assets

(i) Retirement Benefits 3.70 —
(ii) Provision for doubtful debts 4.44 —
(iii) Others 6.65 —

14.79 —

66.00 7.78

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)
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As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Balance Sheet

SCHEDULE  ‘G’

LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS (at cost)

(i) Fully Paid Equity Shares (Quoted)
1,00,0(a) Niku Corp. 2.18 —

(ii) Fully Paid Equity Shares (Unquoted)
(a) Associates

250 ZAR (i) Conscripti (Pty) Limited# 2.55 —
3,60,000 (ii) WTI Advanced Technology Limited — 13.25

(b) Others
5,00,000 (i) Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corporation 3.92 —

(iii) Fully Paid Preference Shares (Unquoted)
33,37,(a) eAF Pte Ltd.# 6.27 —

OTHER INVESTMENTS (at cost)
(i) Investment in Mutual Funds (Unquoted) 413.45 24.25

428.37 37.50
Less : Provision for diminution in value of investments (6.30) —

422.07 37.50

# Investments of TCS Division transferred with effect
from April 1, 2004 (Refer Note 2)

Notes : (1) Market value of quoted investment 0.79 —
Book value of quoted investment 2.18 —
Book value of unquoted investments (net of provisions) 419.89 37.50

(2) 2,75,00,000 shares of Intelenet Global Services acquired on
transfer of the TCS Division were sold for Rs. 161 crores;
Investments were acquired at its fair value of Rs. 161 crores

Particulars of investment in associate company as at March 31, 2005

Rs. in crores
Name of Associate Company Conscripti (Pty) Ltd.

% of Voting Power 20%

Cost of Acquisition 8.71

Dividend Received (6.51)

Share of Post Acquisition Reserves and Surplus* 0.35

Carrying Value 2.55

* includes exchange translation loss of Rs.  0.01 crore.
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Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)
SCHEDULE  ‘H’

INVENTORIES

(i) Equipment for resale 27.32 13.44
(ii) Components and spares for maintenance and resale 4.00 4.41
(iii) Education and training material 0.59 0.58
(iv) Work-in-progress 0.09 0.05

32.00 18.48

SCHEDULE  ‘I’

SUNDRY DEBTORS

(a) Over six months (unsecured)
(i) Considered good 150.90 30.05
(ii) Considered doubtful 31.35 —

(b) Others (unsecured)
(i) Considered good 1903.48 156.01
(ii) Considered doubtful 1.77 —

2087.50 186.06
Less : Provision for doubtful debts (net of bad debts of

Rs. 2.97 crores written-off ) (33.12) —

2054.38 186.06
(c) Future finance lease receivables 5.32 0.46

Less : Unearned finance income (3.74) (0.03)

1.58 0.43

2055.96 186.49

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)

SCHEDULE  ‘J’

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

(a) Cash on hand 5.92 0.24
(b) Remittances in transit 6.09 —
(c) Bank Balances

(i) with Scheduled Banks
(1) In Current Account 83.89 21.98

[including cheques on hand of Rs. 15.37 crores (March 31, 2004 :
Rs. 7.54 crores)]

(2) In Cash Credit Account 3.84 3.65
(3) In Deposit Account 38.54 1.90

(ii) with Foreign banks
(1) In Current Account 131.24 —
(2) In Deposit Account 5.17 —

274.69 27.77

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)
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SCHEDULE  ‘K’

LOANS AND ADVANCES (Unsecured)

(a) Considered good
(i) Employee loans 146.26 —
(ii) Loans to Directors/Officers 0.12 —
(iii) Advances recoverable in cash or kind or for value to be received 479.40 33.49
(iv) Advance tax (including refunds receivable) 41.83 —

667.61 33.49
(b) Considered doubtful

(i) Employee loans 0.08 —
(ii) Advances recoverable in cash or kind or for value to be received 2.66 —

2.74 —
Less : Provision for Doubtful Advances (2.74) —

667.61 33.49

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Balance Sheet

SCHEDULE  ‘L’

CURRENT LIABILITIES

(a) Sundry Creditors 662.62 335.37
(b) Advances from customers 74.92 —
(c) Advance billings and deferred revenues 94.01 —
(d) Unclaimed Dividend 0.75 —
(e) Equity share application monies refundable 4.30 —
(f) Other liabilities 68.59 68.07

905.19 403.44

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)

SCHEDULE  ‘M’

PROVISIONS

(a) Current income taxes 106.31 1.14
(b) Contingencies 49.45 —
(c) Employee retirement benefits 117.91 11.50
(d) Proposed Dividend 240.06 4.38
(e) Tax on Dividend 34.62 0.56

548.35 17.58

As at March 31, 2005 As at March 31, 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)
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Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Profit and Loss account

2005 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)

SCHEDULE  ‘N’

REVENUE - CONSULTANCY SERVICES

(a) Services Rendered 9009.81 —
(b) Sale of Equipment 455.96 —
(c) Other revenues (includes finance lease income Rs. 0.15 crore) 110.36 —
(d) Exchange loss (25.53) —

9550.60 —

SCHEDULE  ‘O’

OTHER INCOME

(a) Interest [Tax deducted at source Rs. 0.99 crore (March 31, 2004 : Rs. Nil crores)] 10.71 —
(b) Dividend income 4.25 2.19
(c) Profit on sale of investments (net) 0.57 0.06
(d) Rent 3.82 2.05
(e) Exchange gain (net) 33.61 —
(f) Miscellaneous income 22.93 —

75.89 4.30

Note : Dividend income includes
Dividend from long-term investments 0.24 1.74
Dividend from other investments 4.01 0.45

2005 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)

SCHEDULE  ‘P’

EMPLOYEE COSTS

(a) Salaries, Wages and Bonus 1934.30 —
(b) Contribution to —

(i) Provident Fund 93.29 —
(ii) Superannuation Scheme 62.99 —
(iii) Employees State Insurance Scheme 8.24 —
(iv) Gratuity 47.32 —

(c) Staff welfare expenses 136.69 —

2282.83 —

2005 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)
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Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Profit and Loss account

2005 2004
Rs. in crores Rs. in crores

(Refer Note 1)

SCHEDULE  'Q’

OPERATION AND OTHER EXPENSES

(a) Overseas business expenses 2403.05 —

(b) Services rendered by business associates and others 390.46 —

(c) Software expenses 267.42 —

(d) Product expenses 512.70 —

(e) Communication 144.55 —

(f) Travel expenses 149.45 —

(g) Rent 126.08 —

(h) Legal and professional 113.70 —

(i) Repairs and maintenance 61.65 —

(j) Electricity 52.93 —

(k) Bad debts and advances 13.36 —

(l) Recruitment and training 42.39 —

(m) Diminution in value of long-term investments 6.30 —

(n) Commission and brokerage 18.03 —

(o) Motor car expenses 29.06 —

(p) Provision for doubtful debts 36.09 —

(q) Printing and stationery 18.98 —

(r) Insurance 39.56 —

(s) Rates and taxes 18.97 —

(t) Provision for doubtful advances 2.74 —

(u) Entertainment 6.23 —

(v) Loss on sale of fixed assets (net) 0.14 —

(w) Other expenses 177.73 0.03

4631.57 0.03
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SCHEDULE 'R'- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

1. Significant Accounting Policies

a) Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Tata Consultancy Services Limited, its subsidiaries, associate and joint venture
(“the Group”) are prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with the accounting standards issued
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

On March 29, 2004, Tata Consultancy Services Limited acquired CMC Limited and accordingly, the consolidated profit and
loss account for the year ended March 31, 2004 does not include the results of CMC Limited.

Comparative figures exclude the TCS Division and its subsidiaries, joint venture and associate, which were acquired on
April 1, 2004. Consequently, the comparative figures are not comparable with the figures for the year ended and as at
March 31, 2005.

b) Principles of consolidation

The financial statements of the subsidiary companies used in the consolidation are drawn up to the same reporting
date as of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the following basis :

i. The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary companies have been combined on a line-by-line
basis by adding together like items of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Inter company balances and transactions
and unrealised profits or losses have been fully eliminated.

ii. The consolidated financial statements include the share of profit/loss of the associate company, which has been
accounted as per the ‘Equity method’ as per which the share of profit of the associate company has been added to
the cost of investment. An associate is an enterprise in which the investor has significant influence and which is
neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture.

iii. The excess of cost to the Company of its investments in the subsidiary companies over its share of the equity of
the subsidiary companies at the dates on which the investments in the subsidiary companies are made, is recognised
as ‘goodwill’ being an asset in the consolidated financial statements. Alternatively, where the share of equity in the
subsidiary companies as on the date of investment, is in excess of cost of investment of the Company, it is
recognised as ‘capital reserve’ and shown under the head ‘Reserves and Surplus’, in the consolidated financial
statements.

iv. Minority interest in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries consists of the amount of equity attributable to the
minority shareholders at the dates on which investments are made by the Company in the subsidiary companies
and further movements in their share in the equity, subsequent to the dates of investments.

c) Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires the management of the Company to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported balances of assets and liabilities and disclosures relating to the contingent liabilities as at the
date of the financial statements and reported amounts of income and expenses during the period. Example of such
estimates include provisions for doubtful debts, employee retirement benefit plans, provision for income taxes, accounting
for contract costs expected to be incurred to complete software development and the useful lives of fixed assets.

d) Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Costs include all expenses incurred to bring the assets to
its present location and condition. Exchange differences on translation of foreign currency loans obtained to purchase
fixed assets from countries outside India are included in the cost of such assets.

Fixed assets excluding computers and individually costing Rs. 50,000 or less are not capitalised except when they are
part of a larger capital investment programme.

e) Finance lease

Assets given under finance leases are recognised as receivables at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease
and the finance income is based on a constant rate of return on the outstanding net investment.
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Assets acquired under leases where the Company has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Such leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at lower of the fair value or the present value
of the minimum lease payments and a liability is created for an equivalent amount. Each lease rental paid is allocated
between the liability and the interest cost so as to obtain a constant periodic rate of interest on the outstanding liability
for each period.

f ) Depreciation

Depreciation other than on freehold land and capital work-in-progress, is charged so as to write-off the cost of the
assets on the following bases :

Leasehold land and building Straight Line Lease period
Freehold building Written down value 5%
Leasehold improvements Straight line Lease period
Computer equipment Straight line 16% - 50%
Motor cars Written down value 25% - 40%
Office equipment Straight line 4% - 35%

Written down value 13.91%
Electrical installations Written down value 13% - 15%
Furniture and fixtures Written down value 15% - 100%

Office Equipment is depreciated on a written down value basis by certain subsidiaries. In respect of these equipment,
depreciation expense, gross block and accumulated depreciation for the year ended and as at March 31, 2005 includes
Rs. 3.49 crores, Rs. 13.68 crores and Rs. 3.36 crores respectively.

g) Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the carrying amounts of fixed assets are reviewed by the management to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of impairment loss. Recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected from
the continuing use of the asset and from its disposal are discounted to their present value using a pre-discount rate that
reflects the current market assessments of time value of money and risks specific to the asset.

Reversal of impairment loss is recognised immediately as income in the profit and loss account.

h) Investments

Long-term investments are stated at cost less provision for other than temporary diminution in value. Current investments
comprising mutual funds are stated at the lower of cost and fair value, determined on a portfolio basis.

i) Inventories

i. Equipments for resale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined under specific
identification method.

ii. Components and spares are stated at cost, less provision for obsolescence. Cost is determined on weighted
average basis.

iii. Education and Training materials are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on
first-in-first-out basis.

iv. Work-in-progress comprises cost of infrastructural facilities in the process of installation at customers’ sites. These
are valued at cost paid/payable to sub-contractors.

j) Retirement benefits

Contributions to Provident and Superannuation Funds are recognised as expense when incurred. Liability for gratuity
and encashable leave are actuarially determined at the balance sheet date.

k) Revenue recognition

Revenues from contracts priced on a time and materials basis are recognised when services are rendered and related
costs are incurred.
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Revenues from turnkey contracts, which are generally time bound fixed price contracts, are recognised over the life of
the contract using the proportionate completion method, with contract costs determining the degree of completion.
Foreseeable losses on such contracts are recognised when probable.

Revenues from the sale of computer equipment are recognised upon delivery, which is when title passes to the
customer.

Revenues from maintenance contracts are recognised pro-rata over the period of the contract.

Revenues from other services, such as business process outsourcing, are recognised in the period when such services are
rendered and are disclosed as other revenues.

Dividends are recorded when declared. Interest income is recognised on time proportion basis.

l) Research and Development

Research and Development expenditure is recognised in the profit and loss account when incurred. Fixed assets utilised
for research and development are capitalised and depreciated in accordance with the depreciation rates set out in
paragraph 1(f ).

m) Taxation

Current income tax expense comprises taxes on income from operations in India and foreign tax jurisdictions. Income
tax payable in India is determined in accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961. Tax expense relating
to overseas operations is determined in accordance with tax laws applicable in countries where such operations are
domiciled.

Deferred tax expense or benefit is recognised on timing differences being the difference between taxable income and
accounting income that originate in one period and are capable of reversal in one or more subsequent periods.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets in respect of unabsorbed depreciation and carry forward of losses are recognised only to the extent
that there is virtual certainty that sufficient taxable income will be available to realise these assets. All other deferred tax
assets are recognised only to the extent that there is reasonable certainty that sufficient future taxable income will be
available to realise these assets.

Advances taxes and provisions for current income taxes are presented in the balance sheet after off-setting advance
taxes paid and income tax provisions arising in the same tax jurisdiction and enterprise.

n) Foreign currency transactions

Income and expenses in foreign currencies are converted at exchange rates prevailing on the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet
date. Premium or discount on forward exchange contracts are amortised and recognised in the profit and loss account
over the period of the contract. Forward exchange contracts outstanding at the balance sheet date are stated at fair
values and any gains or losses are recognised in the profit and loss account.

Exchange differences, other than on foreign currency loans to acquire fixed assets from countries outside India are
recognised in the profit and loss account.

o) Operating lease

Lease arrangements where the risk and rewards incident to ownership of an asset substantially vests with the lessor, are
recognised as operating leases. Lease rentals under operating leases are recognised in the profit and loss account on a
straight-line basis.

p) Employee Share Purchase Scheme

In accordance with the Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme Guidelines, 1999 issued by the
Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”), the excess of market price one day prior to the date of issue of the shares
over the price at which they are issued is recognised as employee compensation cost.
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2. Transfer of the TCS Division of Tata Sons Limited (“the TCS Division”)

a) In accodance with the terms of the Scheme of Arrangement as sanctioned by the High Court of Judicature at Bombay,
the TCS Division has been transferred (“the Transfer”) to and vested in the Company as a going concern with effect from
April 1, 2004, which is the Appointed Date under the Scheme. The Scheme was effective on August 9, 2004 upon the
execution of the underwriting agreement for the Initial Public Offer. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the TCS
Division as at August 9, 2004 have been transferred to the Company for a cash consideration of Rs. 2300 crores. Transfer
consideration paid for fixed assets and investments in subsidiaries and associate has been allocated on the basis of
their respective fair values as determined by independent valuers.

b) From the Appointed Date up to the date on which the Scheme is effective, Tata Sons Limited held the TCS Division in
trust for and on account of the Company. Accordingly, the results for the year ended March 31, 2005 include the results
of the erstwhile TCS Division for the period April 1, 2004 to August 9, 2004.

3. On August 19, 2004, consequent to an Initial Public Offer, the Company issued and allotted 2,27,75,000 equity shares of Re.1
each at a premium of Rs. 849 per share. The issued share capital increased by Rs. 2.28 crores and a premium of Rs.1933.60 crores
has been credited to the Securities Premium Account.

4. During the year, the Company issued and allotted 17,49,810 shares to its employees and directors and 89,970 shares to employees and
directors of its subsidiaries under the Employee Share Purchase Scheme. The issued share capital increased by Rs. 0.18 crore
and Rs. 186.65 crores has been credited to Securities Premium Account. The one time employee compensation charge
amounting to Rs. 186.65 crores has been disclosed as an exceptional item in the profit and loss account.

5. Particulars of subsidiaries, associate and joint venture

Name of the Company Country of Percentage of
Incorporation voting power

as at
March 31, 2005

Subsidiaries (held directly)

CMC Limited India 51.12

APOnline Limited* India 89.00

Tata America International Corporation* USA 100.00

TCS Iberoamerica S.A.* Uruguay 100.00

Tata Consultancy Services Belgium S.A.* Belgium 100.00

Tata Consultancy Services Deutschland GmbH * Germany 100.00

Tata Consultancy Services Netherlands B.V.* Netherlands 100.00

Tata Consultancy Services Sverige AB* Sweden 100.00

Tata Consultancy Services France S.A.* France 100.00

Tata Consultancy Services Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. * Singapore 100.00

Airline Financial Support Services (India) Limited* India 100.00

Aviation Software Development Consultancy India Ltd. * India 100.00

WTI Advanced Technology Limited India 96.31

TCS Business Transformation Solutions Limited India 100.00

Subsidiaries (held indirectly)

CMC Americas Inc. USA 100.00

Tata Information Technology (Shanghai) Company Limited* China 100.00
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Name of the Company Country of Percentage of
Incorporation voting power

as at
March 31, 2005

TCS Solutions Center S.A., Uruguay* Uruguay 100.00

TCS Argentina S.A.* Argentina 99.00

TCS Brazil S/C Ltda* Brazil 99.99

Tata Consultancy Services De Mexico S.A. De. C.V* Mexico 99.00

TCS Inversiones Chile Limitada* Chile 99.99

Tata Consultancy Services De España S.A.* Spain 99.00

Tata Consultancy Services Do Brasil S.A.* Brazil 51.00

Tata Consultancy Services Chile S.A.* Chile 51.00

TCS Italia SRL* Italy 100.00

Tata Consultancy Services Japan Limited* Japan 100.00

Tata Consultancy Services Malaysia SDN BHD.* Malaysia 100.00

Associate
Conscripti (Pty) Limited* South Africa 20.00

Joint Venture
Intelenet Global Services Limited* India 50.00
(Sold on July 22, 2004)

* acquired on April 1, 2004 on transfer of the TCS division

The TCS Division and the subsidiaries acquired contributed income of Rs. 9010.15 crores and net profit after tax and exceptional
items of Rs. 1960.23 crores from the dates of transfer/acquisition. As at March 31, 2005, the consolidated balance sheet includes
net assets of Rs. 3576.07 crores in respect of the TCS Division and the acquired subsidiaries.

6. Provision for contingencies

(Rs. in crores)

Provident Fund Other Claims Total

Provision assumed on transfer of the TCS Division 27.57 14.01 41.58

Provision made during the year 7.87 – 7.87

Balance as at March 31, 2005 35.44 14.01 49.45

a) Provident Fund

On November 24, 1998 the Regional Provident Fund Commissioner of Mumbai (RPFC) issued an order stating that the
erstwhile TCS Division was rendering “expert services” in accordance with a notification issued by Central Government
of India under the Provident Funds Act, 1952 (the PF Act), in which the RPFC sought to cover the erstwhile TCS Division
under the PF Act and claimed administrative charges. The erstwhile TCS Division filed a legal case against the order in the
High Court of Mumbai.

Pending resolution of the matter, a provision of Rs. 35.44 crores has been made based on the management’s estimate of
the claim for administrative charges. Interest and penalty, if any, has not been determined.

The management intends to continue legal action against the claim and to defend its position and believes, based on
counsel’s advice, that the probability of the RPFC prevailing is low.
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b) Others

Includes claims made for reimbursement of cost of investment made in an overseas entity.

7. Research and development expenditure aggregating Rs. 31.99 crores (Previous year Rs. Nil) was incurred during the year.

8. Under the EVA based incentive scheme (“the Scheme”) followed by the erstwhile TCS Division, employees were eligible for
incentive based on TCS Division’s performance in the immediately preceding year. During the year ended March 31, 2005, the
Company has revised the Scheme, under which employees are now eligible for incentive based on the performance of TCS
Limited in the current year. Consequently liability for additional performance incentive of Rs.102 crores has been recognised
in the year ended March 31, 2005.

9. Finance Lease

a) Assets given under finance lease

As at March As at March
Particulars 31, 2005 31, 2004

(Rs. in crores) (Rs. in crores)

a. Total gross investment 5.32 0.46

b. Present value of Minimum Lease Payments receivable 1.58 0.43

c. Total gross investment for the period 5.32 –

� Not later than one year 0.78 0.46

� Later than one year but not later than five years 3.89 –

� Later than five years 0.65 –

d. Present value of Minimum Lease Payments receivable 1.58 –

� Not later than one year 0.04 0.43

� Later than one year but not later than five years 1.01 –

� Later than five years 0.53 –

e. Unearned Finance Income 3.74 0.03

b) Assets acquired under finance lease

As at March As at March
Particulars 31, 2005 31, 2004

(Rs. in crores) (Rs. in crores)

Minimum Lease payments :

Less than one year 0.05 –

One to five years 0.02 –

Present Value of minimum lease payments 0.07 –

Of the above :

Less than one year 0.05 –

One to five years 0.02 –

The finance lease arrangement is renewable at the option of the lessee.
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10. Obligation under non-cancellable operating lease :

As at March As at March
Particulars 31, 2005 31, 2004

(Rs. in crores) (Rs. in crores)

Not later than one year 67.43 3.97

Later than one year but not later than five years 161.49 5.51

Later than five years 48.39 2.32

Total 277.31 11.80

Rental expense of Rs. 55.69 crores (Previous year : Nil) under operating lease obligation have been recognised in the profit and
loss account.

11. Segment Reporting

The Company has identified geographic segments as its primary segment and industry segments as its secondary segment.

Geographic segments of the Company are Americas, Europe, India and Others.

Secondary segments of the Company are Banking, Financial Services and Insurance (BFSI), which are considered as single
segment, Manufacturing, Retail and Distribution, Telecom and Others. Others include segments such as Transportation, Life
Sciences and Healthcare, Energy and Utilities, s-Governance and sale of products, etc.

Revenue and expense directly attributable to segments are reported under each reportable segment. Expenses incurred in
India on behalf of other segments and not directly identifiable to each reportable segment have been allocated to each
segment on the basis of associated revenues of each segment. All other expenses which are not attributable or allocable to
segments have been disclosed as unallocable expenses.

Assets and liabilities that are directly attributable to segments are disclosed under each reportable segment. All other assets
and liabilities are disclosed as unallocable. Fixed assets have not been allocated between segments as these are used
interchangeably between segments.

The Company did not have any operating segment in the year ended March 31, 2004.

Year ended March 31, 2005

Particulars Geographic Segment (Rs. in crores)

Americas Europe India Others Total

Revenue 5771.41 2250.17 1187.57 539.32 9748.47

Identified operating expenses 3178.33 1231.02 947.58 290.00 5646.93

Allocated expenses 606.76 266.44 133.99 78.77 1085.96

Segment result 1986.32 752.71 106.00 170.55 3015.58

Unallocable expenses 457.78

Operating income 2557.80

Other income 75.89

Profit before taxes and exceptional items 2633.69

Income Taxes (396.99)

Exceptional items (251.67)

Net Profit before Minority Interest and

share of profit of associate 1985.03

Minority Interest (9.12)

Share of profit of associate 0.99

Net profit 1976.90
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As of March 31, 2005

Particulars Geographic Segment (Rs. in crores)

Americas Europe India Others Total

Segment Assets 1432.03 706.81 502.43 207.67 2848.94

Unallocable Assets 2440.89

Total Assets 5289.83

Segment Liabilities 474.74 257.66 164.32 63.48 960.20

Unallocable Liabilities 762.35

Total Liabilities 1722.55

Business Segment

The following business segments individually contribute 10% or more of the consolidated revenues and segment assets:
(Rs. in crores)

Revenues Segment Assets
for the year ended as at

March 31, 2005 March 31, 2005

BFSI 3396.11 801.01
Manufacturing 1656.36 339.46
Retail and Distribution 563.85 117.79
Telecom 1424.30 330.47

12. Related Party Disclosures

A. Related Parties and their Relationship

I. Holding Company

Tata Sons Limited

II. Fellow Subsidiaries

� Tata Infotech Limited

� Tata AIG General Insurance Company Limited

� Tata AIG Life Insurance Company Limited

� TCE Consulting Engineers Limited

� E2E Serwiz Solutions Pvt. Limited

·� Space TV Pvt. Limited

� Tata Housing Development Company Limited

� Tata Teleservices Limited

� Tata Teleservices (Maharashtra) Limited

� Tata Internet Services Limited

� Tata Limited

� Tata Consultancy Services Deutschland GmbH (Previous year)

� Tata America International Corporation (Previous year)

III. Associate

� Conscripti (Pty) Limited

� Tata Infomedia Limited (Previous year)

IV. Key Management Personnel

� Mr. S. Ramadorai (Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director)

� Mr. S. Mahalingam (Chief Financial Officer)
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B. Transactions with related parties

For the year ended March 31, 2005
(Rs. in crores)

Particulars Holding Fellow Associate Key Total
Company Subsidiaries Management

Personnel

Issue of Bonus Shares 8.20 – – – 8.20
(8,19,90,005 shares of Face – – – – –
value of Re.1 each)

Issue of shares under Employee – – – 8.56 8.56
Stock Purchase Scheme – – – – –

Brand Equity Contribution 18.53 – – – 18.53
– – – – –

Deposits Received – – – – –
377.30 – – – 377.30

Purchase of fixed assets – 0.87 0.13 – 1.00
– 0.11 – – 0.11

Loans and advances 0.04 0.67 – – 0.71
– – – – –

Purchase of investment – – – – –
379.89 – 14.65 – 394.54

Consideration for transfer of the 2300.00 – – – 2300.00
TCS Division – – – – –

Sale of investment – – – – –
9.75 – – – 9.75

Revenues
Tata Teleservices Limited – 71.68 – – 71.68
Others – 23.80 31.56 – 55.36

– – – – –

Dividend income – – 6.51 – 6.51
– – 1.74 – 1.74

Rent income – 1.30 – – 1.30
2.05 – – – 2.05

Purchase of Goods, Services
and Facilities

Tata Infotech Limited – 23.37 – – 23.37
Others 4.23 15.28 5.16 – 24.67

– – – – –

Provision for doubtful – 1.75 0.17 – 1.92
debts/advances – – – – –

Dividend paid 255.60 – – 0.05 255.65
– – – – –

Other Expenses – – – – –
0.20 – – – 0.20

Remuneration – – – 1.36 1.36
– – – – –
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C. Balances with related parties

As at March 31, 2005

(Rs. in crores)

Particulars Holding Fellow Associate Key Total
Company Subsidiaries Management

Personnel

Debtors, Loans and Advances
Tata Infotech Limited – 10.41 – – 10.41
Others 1.10 0.24 12.19 0.04 13.57

21.67 – – – 21.67

Inter-corporate deposit – – – – –
375.00 – – – 375.00

Creditors, Advances from Customers 18.53 3.30 2.33 – 24.16
228.65 0.03 – – 228.68

*Previous year figures are in italics

13. Commitments

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on Capital Account and not provided for Rs.259.23 crores
(March 31, 2004 : Rs. 7.28 crores).

14. Contingent Liabilities

As at As at
Particulars March 31, 2005 March 31, 2004

(Rs. in crores) (Rs. in crores)

(A) Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts

i) Statutory authorities 6.38 3.49

ii) Others 111.19 9.73

(B) Unexpired Letters of Credit 62.26 45.47

(C) Others 2.42 0.51

Notes :

Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debt includes mainly the following :

a) Rs. 72.04 crores in respect of claims made by lessors for properties leased under tenancy agreements. These claims are
being contested in the courts by the Company. The management does not expect these claims to succeed. An amount
of Rs.9.34 crores has been accrued under other liabilities.

b) Rs. 40.90 crores in respect of a claim for damages made by a customer. No provision has been made in these financial
statements as management considers the probability of the claim succeeding to be remote.
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Statement pursuant to exemption received under Section 212(8) of the
Companies Act, 1956 relating to subsidiary companies

Sr. Name of the Subsdiary Company Reporting Exchange Capital Reserves Total Total Investment Turnover Profit Provision Profit Proposed
No. Currency Rate Assets Liabilities Other than Before for after Dividend

Investment Taxation Taxation Taxation
in Subsidary

1. CMC Limited INR 1.00 15.15 160.40 589.20 413.65 — 782.47 32.95 9.89 23.06 6.81

2. APOnline Limited INR 1.00 1.77 (2.38) 2.58 3.19 — 1.33 (0.39) — (0.39) —

3. Airline Financial Support Services

(India) Limited INR 1.00 5.40 36.01 45.66 4.25 7.13 30.08 6.85 1.19 5.66 —

4. Aviation Software Development

Consultancy India Ltd. INR 1.00 4.00 28.90 36.47 3.57 — 29.88 12.77 1.72 11.05 —

5. TCS Business Transformation

Solutions Limited * INR 1.00 12.32 20.89 38.81 5.60 — 51.64 4.35 0.47 3.88 —

6. WTI Advanced Technology Limited INR 1.00 1.09 41.17 43.27 1.02 27.75 13.97 4.84 1.36 3.48 —

7. Tata America International

Corporation USD 43.63 0.87 379.39 877.69 497.43 0.79 4,816.01 228.99 91.18 137.81 —

8. Tata Consultancy Services

Netherlands B.V. EUR 56.35 1.02 20.66 85.54 63.85 — 176.80 5.95 2.24 3.71 —

9. Tata Consultancy Services Belgium S.A. EUR 56.35 1.06 2.03 16.66 13.57 — 33.99 0.99 0.11 0.88 —

10. Tata Consultancy Services Sverige AB SEK 6.17 0.06 14.45 43.67 29.16 — 78.58 0.58 0.17 0.41 —

11. Tata Consultancy Services

Deutschland GmbH EUR 56.35 0.43 3.27 41.29 37.58 — 143.63 0.99 — 0.99 —

12. Tata Consultancy Services France S.A. EUR 56.35 0.64 (0.07) 0.64 0.06 0.53 — (0.11) — (0.11) —

13. TCS Iberoamerica S.A. USD 43.63 8.73 (9.33) 41.91 42.51 — 70.38 (5.73) — (5.73) —

14. TCS Solution Center S.A., Uruguay UYU 1.71 0.86 0.06 14.74 13.82 — 17.82 (3.43) — (3.43) —

15. TCS Brazil S/C Ltda USD 43.63 7.17 (4.66) 2.95 0.44 — — (2.76) — (2.76) —

16. Tata Consultancy Services Do Brasil S.A. USD 43.63 15.02 (12.20) 17.20 14.38 — 34.48 (6.25) — (6.25) —

17. Tata Consultancy Services De España S.A. USD 43.63 0.08 (0.08) 3.08 3.08 — 9.72 0.81 — 0.81 —

18. TCS Argentina S.A. USD 43.63 0.05 (2.07) 0.28 2.30 — 0.35 (0.93) — (0.93) —

19. TCS Inversiones Chile Limitada USD 43.63 — 0.78 1.41 0.63 — — 0.53 0.01 0.52 —

20. Tata Consultancy Services Chile S.A. USD 43.63 1.08 1.65 8.60 5.87 — 14.92 1.27 0.18 1.09 —

21. Tata Consultancy Services

De Mexico S.A. De C.V. USD 43.63 1.01 (0.06) 4.22 3.27 — 7.99 0.46 — 0.46 —

22. Tata Consultancy Services Asia

Pacific Pte. Ltd. USD 43.63 15.27 7.41 54.80 32.12 — 93.35 11.78 2.05 9.73 —

23. CMC Americas Inc. USD 43.63 6.98 (2.33) 29.17 24.53 — 86.75 1.72 0.02 1.70 —

24. TCS Italia SRL EUR 56.35 0.56 (0.10) 16.94 16.48 — 30.94 0.53 0.39 0.14 —

25. Tata Consultancy Services Japan Limited JPY 0.41 2.46 5.76 31.59 23.37 — 77.96 9.87 4.06 5.81 —

26. Tata Consultancy Services Malaysia

SDN. BHD. MYR 11.48 2.30 0.32 3.25 0.63 — 1.70 (0.97) (0.33) (0.64) —

27. Tata Information Technology

(Shanghai) Company Limited CNY 5.27 8.72 0.09 9.74 0.93 — 20.25 2.26 — 2.26 —

Notes :

1. As required under para vi of the Approval letter dated April 8, 2005 issued by the Ministry of Company Affairs, Indian rupee equivalents of the figures given in foreign currencies in the
accounts of the subsidiary companies, have been given based on the exchange rate as on 31.03.2005.

*2. The name of the Company has been changed from Phoenix Global Solutions (India) Limited to TCS Business Transformation Solutions Limited effective December 8, 2004, in terms of Section
21 of the Companies Act, 1956.

Rs. in Crores
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US GAAP ACCOUNTS

The Company has also prepared its financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2005 in

accordance with the requirements of US GAAP.  The US GAAP financial statements, along with the

related discussion of the financials, have been uploaded on the Company’s website (www.tcs.com).

In case any member desires to have a copy of the above financial statements, he / she may request

the Company for a soft copy by sending an email at investor.relations@tcs.com and for a hard

copy by a letter addressed to the Registrar and Share Transfer Agents at the following address:

Tata Share Registry Limited

Unit : Tata Consultancy Services Limited

Army & Navy Building,

148, M.G. Road,

Fort, Mumbai 400 001.

Tel:  91 22 5656 8484

Fax: 91 22 5656 8494

Email: csg-unit@tatashare.com

Upon receiving the request, the said documents will either be emailed or sent by way of a hard

copy as requested.

Copies of the financial statements will also be available at the venue of the Annual General

Meeting for shareholders who desire a copy of the same.






